



# Elisabeth Haich Translated by D.Q. Stephenson

#### First published in Great Britain by George Allen & Unwin 1975 First published by Unwin Paperbacks 1985

This book is copyright under the Berne Convention. No reproduction without permission. All rights reserved.

> UNIVIN® PAPERBACKS no Museum Street, London WC1A 1LU, UK

Unwin Paperbacks Park Lane, Homel Hompstoad, Horts HP1 4TE, UK

George Allen & Unwin Australia Pty Ltd, 8 Napier Street, North Sydney, NSW 2060, Australia

This translation () George Allen & Unwin Ltd 1975, 1985 German edition Tarse originally published by ]. Fink Verlag, Stuttgart, 1969

138N 0 04 133016 1

Set in 13pt Fournier and printed in Great Britain by Hazell Watson and Viney Lad Momber of the BPCC Aylesbury, Bucks

### Foreword

Paeans of acclaim greet this book on tarot.

It is written out of a full awareness of life, with a profound imaginative insight which sees the ver-encenving pattern of immediate experience - a rose, a tree in blossom, a bird - with auch a sense of vitality, such all-embracing penetration, and plumbs the soul to deeply that the experiencing mind catches the esternal in what is transient and grasps within the configurations of space the presence of some moulding force transcending all spatial bounds. And it teaches us how to engage more closely with life in all its plenitude and to confront it squarely in all its tangbile variety. We are shown stage by sage how to exercise our powers of pictorial thinking and ability to interpret symbols until a felicitous disposition of itself.

The spirit speaking to us from these ancient cards is couted in the remote past of Expyptian synycistim. And every soul which brings these cards to life again can catch in the unchanging mirror of human life the faint infinizations of an ancient past stirring in the eternally present. Thus it was once and ever will be - this image of the honds and inlarges between what appears to us to have been, to be now, and still be to come. That which is to infinizative compounded in the depths is separated our in the processes of life. Starting from the beginning ever and again, it is the individual, depending on his own knowledge and his own courage, that must find his way through the labyrind of his desiny woven from his own peculiar intrications of pass, present and future. In these pages he will find the due of Ariadae.

The keyword is integration: to become whole, to become sound, to become one - and that means: to make whole, to make sound, to unite, for only in this way can one become so oneself. Through the symbols recognised and mediated as we contemplate the correspondences between man and his destiny, the tarco pack affords us a profounder experience and a more total interioritation of life, which speaks to us in symbols and demands from us an active response. This is achieved through the agency of the artist's eye which sees here with such clarity and truth, through the communisation of a religious and ethical inspiration, and through the careful pedagogic representation which leads us upwards top by step.

To experience symbols and to be affected by them is one and the same thing. It means to be moved and upplicitled in the depths of one's humanity. Their call causes man to be infused with a power stemming from the highest centres of the human spirit and also from that suppassing spirit which serves every creature and every man although existing above the level of conscious experience. Symbols renew man's creative power if he finds (and this book shows him the way) the right response to them in this inner self. For they are creative centres of energy of the spiritual power that pervades all life but is inherent in man. The man who has no answer to return to the urgent questions of the sphirax within himself falls into the abyss of the subconscious.

With all the bucking of her aristic and creative gifts the author reveals to us with the aid of each of the twenty-two cards the corresponding levels of consciousness in man. The rarot cards, as she intergrets them, are a mirror in wichs seeking man can see himself or someone close to him and can determine his - or their - position on the ladder of development to true man. The wisdom of Ezekid, which is also the vision of Origen, calls for a whole, a strue man, he who is united with the genius of humanity within himself, with his sectnal zelf - as distinct from the merety narungly hom - a site way unless we are good and pious, asys Origen. True man united with external and corporal man forms the 'kommanu' when God's image is remeved or restored in man. It is to this knowledge and integration that the taxot pack leads us when properly understocal. The language of our arrot interpretation is simple and has the dynamic *intele* of the subtor's Hunggrain mother torgous in which the illustrations are of such primal purity and naturalness that people of all ages and dgrees of manuity, beginners as well as the more experienced, can be helped along their path. Wherever the individual may have halted on the path to unification with his allowing these symbols no elicit their effect during quiet contemplation, and then following their strating in his inner self until the soul brings forth from its silent depths its own words all marges – this, be will find, releases virial forces.

The soul thinks in images. The soul lives in images. The soul nourishes itself on the flux of images. The soul and its images are fed from the very beginning with the experiences of mankind. Conceptual thought cannot seize hold of the images now rising from the profundity of the soul with their deeply moving and gladdening effects. Intuition experiences and recognises in the bright pictures of allegory what has been experienced by the inner light. Thus in these pages the reader traverses the many fields of life. The symbolism of the sounds. rhythms, colours and forms of life is disclosed to us, the realm of the elements, the realm of the rocks, plants, and animals is revealed, the realm of man and his situation is made apparent. Thus the ancient soul of humanity speaks through the mouth of the modern spirit and shows itself to be eternally youthful, ever standing on the threshold of new miracles, always living again in the inexhaustibility of its warmth in which all creatures are lapped.

The soul of humanity, like the soul of the individual, lives only through love. Inspirited life is never immobilised in the barren monotony of mechanism. Ever and again it brings fresh animation, winged by some spirit on whose pinions it bears a kindred and loving life to all it meets.

And so this book also touches hidden depths of the soul and

#### FOREWORD

wakes in them life which would otherwise sleep on, lost in the unconscisus. It opens space which us and elements of the soul flow in upon us which in previous generations were accessible only to a few individual. Through the pictures we can thus break through into a region of being which draws us into itself and nourishes and charger us with its forces. For by concentrating on an object the subject becomes pervious to the energies of the object, the subject comes into sympathetic vibration with the object and hus with the region from which the object comes.

In all ages there have been torch-besters who through their own creasive power have embodied in themselves the truth of old human wisdoms. Thus in a time of spiritual instition dominand by the intellect the target pack has been made available to us again. Languages have changed but the pictures profound and yet readily understandable interpretation. Elastech Häch has produced a materity work of initiation into the secrets of hic. Dut of a deep understandable interpretation, and has produced a materity work of initiation into the secrets of hic. Dut of a deep understanding of being the has illustrated the process by which man become mon by his insight into the pictures of the twenty-two rungs of the ladder of divine secret, on which each rung is an experience for the next rung in accordance with the individual's plan of life.

May this work find its way into the world and bring light and help to many.

Dr Ewalt Kliemke

### Contents

Foreword	page 7
Introduction	13
What is 'Tarot'?	15
The Magician	27
The High Priestess	34
The Queen	40
The King	46
The High Priest	52
The Parting of the Ways	57
The Chariot	63
Justice	71
The Hermit	76
The Wheel of Fortune	84
Power	90
The Hanged Man	95
Death	102
Balance	109
The Devil	115
The Lightning-Struck Tower	124
The Stars	131
The Moon	136
The Sun	144
Judgement	150
The Fool	156
The World	163
Conclusion	169

### Introduction

With the ever-increasing demand for the psychological interpretation of these cards. I felt impelled to publish in book form the interpretation of the Greater Arcana of the tarot pack, in the hope that this marvellous instrument will help men in the immense task of acquiring self-knowledge. I therefore had to select from the numerous tarot cards those which best served to illustrate my explanations. Unfortunately, the tarot cards have been frequently redesigned by people who were totally unaware of their inner symbolic significance. Naturally, such ignorance has led to complete falsification of this inner meaning. Although these corrupt cards may be adequate for the purpose of fortune-telling, they do not serve to represent the various spiritual states of man. The only tarot which undoubtedly descends from a genuine initiate, and which serves our purpose perfectly, is the one designed and coloured by Oswald Wirth at the dictation of the young initiate, Stanislas de Guaita, departed before his time. These cards combine in equal measure artistic beauty with correct symbolic depiction of their deeper meaning. We are going to interpret these tarot cards from a psychological angle. The cards depict the levels of human consciousness from the first dawn of consciousness, the first awakening, up to divine ALL-CONSCIOUSNESS, to UNION WITH GOD.

At this point may I extend my warmest thanks to some of my friends who have given valuable assistance with the linguistic revision of the text.

### WHAT IS 'TAROT'?

Man is like a mosaic.

The mosaic consists of a large number of small, variously coloured stones which have been arranged according to a certain pattern resulting in a beautiful, coherent pitture. In the same way, man is made up of many different qualities, abilities and talents, arranged according to a specific inner pattern resulting in a coherent picture, an individual personality.

Just as the artist, using the same stones in an infinite variety of patterns, can compose all kinds of pictures in countless variations, so men also are created from the same qualities. abilities and talents, according to an infinite number and variety of inner patterns in countless variations, i.e. an infinite variety of individuals. What kind of picture emerges from an artist's hand depends entirely upon the pattern selected; that is to say, the way in which he relates the given stones to one another. Thus he can create the most varied pictures according to whom the picture is for, where it will be hung, what effects it should achieve and what type of person it should please. He can employ the same stones to create religious pictures intended to stir up feelings of devotion, for use in churches, cemeteries or other sacred places, or he can design allegorical-symbolic pictures for academic institutions such as schools, universities or libraries. Again, the artist can produce humorous, cheerful pictures for places of entertainment such as theatres or ballrooms, or he can even create titillating and obscene pictures for the haunts of the demi-monde and of spiritually inferior people.

And all this with the same coloured stones!

It is exactly the same with man. Out of the same qualities, abilities and talents emerge the most varied individuals. But whether the result is an ignorant, undisciplined, inferior person, or, at the other end of the scale, a sublime, superior creature of possibly very high intelligence, depends upon the pattern which forms the basis of the person's make-up, that is to say, the way in which his qualities are related to one another.

While the arist, however, consinuely creates a variety of pictures from his stones, man is completely unsaver of the inner pattern or image which has formed his narze. In the case of a picture it is obvious how the stones are interrelated and therefore we clearly use what the picture represents, where it bolongs, where it will ultimately be and what type of person it will please or displease. By the same token the whole distiny' of the picture can easily be forsteen. And, however, can neither see his own image nor predict his fate. He does not see or know the pattern which is the basis of his character. Even less does he know that this inner pattern 18 IMENET He know this pattern which his is, the lad set, stressourzong, he could also clearly see before him his whole fate and advance long the path of life surely and confidently. The average person, however, knows neither himself nor his destiny and he gropes about in life like a child in the dark.

Yet already in prehistoric times there were, and there still are today, some initiates who knew and depicted in various pictures the 'coloured stones' which form the human image, that is to asy, the opinitual elements and the abilities, qualities and talenus developed therefrom, which in turn form the basis of a person's character according to his inner pattern. These pictures are so apt and created with such penetrating psychological insight tast they depic not only the spinitual factor in question, but at the same time also his future and effect. They abilities and characteristics factures of man, but also their source and the responses they elicit in the world at large. In short, they show man's entire destiny.

These ancient prehistoric representations from which the complete picture of the most diverse kinds of people can be assembled and made accessible to our recognition are the tarot cards. This concept can be referred to as tarot. The tarot comprises seventy-eight tarot cards. Of these, fifty-six cards are known as the Lesser Arcana and twenty-two cards as the Greater Arcana.

In order to understand the Lesser Arcana, we must remember that ill the spiritual elements constituting a person spring from a single primal source in which everything still rests in unity. From this source all manifestations proceed step by step to the complete uncloking. We may compare this to the growth of a plant from a seed, through various stages of development, from the cotyletedon, bud and flower, to its superent achievement, the fruit. The initiates have depicted these stages in the growth of man in fourcene related pictures.

The first card carries the number ONE from which all further manifestations arise. From it derive the numbers up to TEN, which is again the number ONE, linked to the circle representing the universe, the cipher. These rising numbers show how man, from the beginning of his development, continues to grow in his abilities and in value until he detaches himself from the mob as an individual. Thus in the representations the ten numbered cards are followed by four court cards of ascending importance: the Page, Cavalier and Queen, and lastly the card dominating all others, the King. This shows the development of man from a weak personality to an everstronger one. Yet nonetheless, it is the first card, the number ONE, which has the highest value: in card games it is known as the Ace. The number ONE, the Ace, outranks all other cards for this is the only begetter of all the ensuing revelations. From it all other levels have proceeded. The ten numbered and the four court cards together make fourteen cards.

These fourteen levels of development manifest themselves through the four elements known in modern science as 'satest of matter'. In the old terminology these are: fine, air (gaseous), water (liquid) and earth (solid). These elements are depicted on the ards by four different symbols: Rods, Swords, Coins and Cups. Under each of these symbols the fourteen levels of development are represented in fourteen cards; thus we arrive at four times fourteen, that is, fifty-six cards. These fifty-six cards are the 'Lesser Arcana' of the tarot deck.

The 'Greater Arcana' cards represent the principle which governs the qualities of man depicted by the fifty-six cards. This principle is the consciousness of man. For how and to what purpose he uses his abilities and talents, whether rightly or wrongly, to good ends or bad, depends upon the level of his consciousness. In order to preserve the analogy, we must remember that a mosaic is lifeless, consists of dead matter and is pieced together by an artist who exists outside his work. Man, however, is himself the artist who assembles his own personal image in accordance with the inner pattern, but from within, and it is he himself who reveals his inner image, his character, through his physical being. At the beginning of his development he is completely unaware of his position. He constructs his image unconsciously in accordance with natural laws. Since he lacks self-knowledge he lives within his own image like a prisoner in a cell which he has built himself, and instead of being its master he is its slave. Consequently he is also the slave of his own fate. While he is in this unconscious state, fate tosses him about like a rudderless ship in a tempest. In his despair man seeks and expects help from outside, never suspecting that real help, liberation from this blind groping, from this bondage, can be found in himself and himself alone.

Yet it is precisely through these strokes of fate brought upon himself in his ignorance that he awakes one day, He comes to his senses and grows conscious within himself. He notices that he is *Arre*, that even exists I Form this farst awakening, however, from this initial flickening of self-awareness to the ultimate goal—divise and perfect universal connciousness – a long path of development lise before him. When he has reached his goal, and not before, man courses to be encumbered with an unconscious at work under his consciousness. He has attained complete freedom. He has attained mastery over all the powers which have gone into his making and which work within him. What is more, the whole universe was formed by the same creative powers as man himself. Thus man is capable of controlling these powers in other people also and in the whole universe when he has made them conscious within him and learned to control them. In this state of consciouness he is master of all the abilities, qualities and talents which have formed his image in the world of matter. At the same time, however, he is master of his fate, for in this state he is no longer the unconscious pattern of his image, but has become the conscious creator of his own individuality and of his own world.

The initiates of prehistoric times who created the tarot cards were familiar with all these different levels and states of development of the human consciousness. They depicted these levels of consciousness from the first awakening to divine all-consciousness in twenty-two pictures. These are the "Greater Arean" of the tarot pack.

However far we may peer back into the dark recesses of hittory, it is impossible to find a period when these images, the Greater Arcana of the tarot cards, were not known. Already in ancient times we find tarces of these cards, indeed they are the forerunners of all other playing cards. In the Baylonian, Egyptian, Judick, Mexican, Indian and Chinese excavations, as well as those of even older cultures, evidence was found of the existence of these cards. Sometimes they were found as murals, sometimes as sculpurus heven in stone or as terracort anables. These finds are always and unmistabably representations of the tarot cards. Wherever they have been discovered, their terembance is so suffigue as optimisevidably to a common provenance. What this original source is, however, we do not know.

Yet these finds are usually no more than fragments of the whole sequence. We should not posses complete packs of tarot cards had it not been for one naion which estermed its religious traditions and holy scriptores so highly that it has preserved these unaltered over thousands of years to the present day. I am referring to the Jews. The Jews received their scared texts from Moses, who had been initiated in Egypt: He passed on to his people the deepest mysteries of the whole Creation and of human nature, the entire score throwledge which he had learned from the Egyptian high priests in the temple. The Jewish high priests, the great initiated Rabbis, have preserved the Books of Moses unaltered to the present day. Not a single letter is ever allowed to be changed. The reason for this is very important: Moses wrote his books in Egyptian-Hebrew writing without vowels. Depending on which vowels we now inserce herewen the consonants the text takes on a different meaning. For this reason is most important than to letter be changed. Moses supplied his writings with a secret key that indicates how the vobels

The various parts of the Books of Moses together form the Tora.

The secret texts which also contain the key to the vowel insertion are: SEFER YTESTRAH (the Book of Creation), ZOHAR (light), to which belong also the TAROT and the CLAVICUL SALAMONIS (the key, the seal of Solomon). Together these form the Cabbala. Thus we see that the tarot is an important part of the Jewish scriptures. Cabbala means oral radition.

The Cabbala is the science of core, of the nature of man, and of all the relations which exits between these. It reaches and proves that ALL IS IN YORE and YORE IN THE STATE AND THE Degins, all further numbers are integrated, the Logos, the UNTYMER rests in the divine yore, in core. When creation begins, all further numbers are integrated by the core intermediate the science of the science of the science text. For the fast manifestation of the Logos, the first, very highest divine frequency which streaks through infinite space like the Horots third stretting the rough infinite space the vertex wells the vibrations of the trong, from the entire Creation according to mathematical law, divine ideas and houghts. They are as an animating energy in every creature, be that a universe, sun, planet, crystallising stone, plan, animal or man. The great initiates know the basic elements of the Creation and the link between the creative vibrations of the letters and numbers which act as mathematical laws in the Creation and realise creative ideas at the level of matter. From these basic elements and their relations they created pictures each representing a creative idea, thus a concept, a *letter* and a *unider*. These pictures are the Creater Arcana to the atroit deck. Together they form the twenty-two letters of the primitive Helsever alphabet.

Hebrew script, like all divine scripts, is written and read from right to left. Everything that is experienced in a divine state of being is exactly the reverse of that experienced, seen, that is to asy, written or read, in a state of being which has fallen away from the divine state. For instance: the letter E as it stands here on the page is seen by everyone as facing from left to right. If, however, I am the E in a state of being, it is the other way round. Let us imagine that the E is drawn on our own chert, in which case everyone else will see it facing from left to right. If upself, however, will experience it from within towards the outside, from right to left, since I am rise F. To experience the E is to & the E. Once we have understood that it will be clear to us why these divine scripts must all be written and read from right to left.

The meaning of the word tarot becomes clear when it is written in the shape of a circle so that one T is superfluous

O A R

If we read in an anti-clockwise direction we obtain the word TORA, which in Hebrew means LAW. If we read from below, again in the Hebrew manner, clockwise, we obtain the word ROTA, which alludes to the eternal rotation of the universe. Since each letter in the Hebrew alphabet is also a number, we simultaneously obtain a row of numbers when we form as word. If we add these up the result is a total sum of the digits. Therefore every word, every name, has a total sum. The Bible is written in such a way that the total sum of each word and name is much more significant than we ar first supper. Just one example: each time the name of the Messih and that of his opponent, Stant, occur, the total sums of these two names are always the exact reflections of each other! And this rule, this interrelation between numbers and letters, prevails throughout the entire Bible. We can only wonder at the awe-inspiring knowledge with which the Bible was written!

In Europe there was another race besides the Jews who spread the fame of taroot: the Copysies, who still use the tarot cards today for the purpose of forcetiling the future. Although the pictures on their cards are to a gene extent degenerate, in particular those of the Greater Anotan cards, heye are immediately recognisable as tarot cards. With their primitive pictures they are known as Gypsy cards?. That the Gypsies received these cards from the Jews is very doubrild. The Jews jealoudly guard their secrets, their religious traditions, from the inquisitive eyes of the stranger, and it is not likely that they handed over these cards which form part of their saced scriptures to the Gypsies. It seems much more probable that the Gypsies took over the tarot from the Egyptinas or even older races.<sup>4</sup>

If what we have said has been correctly understood, it is clear that the tarot cards can be used like mosaic stones as it were, to represent man's exact spiritual image as well as his fate.

Yet how can the ignorant man spread out the exact picture of his soul like a mosaic if he does not know the inner pattern which controlled his own creation? Which pattern should he

<sup>\*</sup>The English word "Gypp" access to indicate that the Gyppics are taken to be Egyptism. Research has, however, shown that the Gyppics are of Indian origin. The Gyppy Inaquage and the names of the numbers are identical with those of the Hindus. But is it is not much has had mean, but Access Egypticans and the Indian, originate from the same native coursey, from Adamat? There is much evidence to support this, particularly the emarks of Pythogenes on the anilesc.

choose when spreading out the mosaic stones, the tarot cards, in order to obtain a true picture?

There is a simple way of doing this and it can even be proven mathematically accurate by the theory of probabilities. No living creature, and therefore no man, can manifest anything other than what he himself it lifts every remark, thought, word and deed reveal only what he himself is. Hits handwriting, his gait, the smallest of his genues are the reault of the forces at work in him. Nothing is chance, everything is the direct mainfestation of the consolutios or the unconscious Solf. Hence, the sing the term of the consolution solf. Hence, the work mainfestation of the consequence solf with the single covered these facts already in ancient times or they learned them from initiates! That is why the art of spreading cads for the purpose of exploring a man's inner image and his future prospers is a sol das mankind.

Thus we assume that in picking up the cards, shuffling, cutting and spreading them, we use the best method based on the experience of thousands of years, and that therefore we have spread out the image of our spiritual image before us, but we do not understand it Understanding is only possible when we know the inner symbolic meaning of every single card, when we have penetrated it completely and grasped how the cards are related as they lie next to and on top of each other on the table, i.e. the effect which they exercise upon each other.

In order to understand our own image, it is therefore of the greatest importance that we know the meaning and inner sense of the individual cards. For the time being we merely look at the cards like an illiterate man at letters. For him letters are no more than black shapes on paper. That these are letters, how they are pronounced and what they are called; is a complete mystery to him. He understands neither the letters nor the words made from them, and soll lies the sentence constructed. from the words. He does not suspect that these black shapes with the strange forms could mean something. In caschly the same way the uninitiated looks at the taroct cards. He understands neither the individual cards more the meaning of their sequence. He does not even understand the letters and the numbers of the pictures, however well he can read and count. For on the taroc cards, these letters and numbers have a much deeper mystical meaning in the cababilistic sense than ordinary letters and numbers. On these cards noting is accidental, there is no line or colour without significance; they belong to the intrinsite meaning of the cards.

Yet for the person who understands them, these cards are a wonderful means of acquiring self-knowledge. For let us only think of this: when an ignorant man regards himself in the mirror he sees his reflection just as he has seen the cards spread before him. But just as he fails to understand the cards - he only looks at them - so also does he fail to understand his own reflected image. He only looks at, but not into, his image. Yet each line, shape and colour on his face and body has a deep inner significance. His outward image also conceals within itself the image of his invisible inner being, conscious as well as unconscious. Man has no idea that behind his ourward image there is a very large part of his being hidden away in his unconscious, and that it is the great goal of our earthly existence to make this same unconscious attain consciousness within us. In this great task of awakening the unconscious and raising it to consciousness, thereby attaining perfect selfknowledge, the tarot cards are of unique assistance. The nature of these cards is such that they can produce a strong awakening effect on man's unconscious. He need only examine them one by one and, in order to understand them better, read the relevant description. When he reaches the card corresponding to his inner state, his interest will suddenly be roused and the knowledge that he finds himself at the level of consciousness of that particular card will hit him like an electric shock. This card he will understand completely, find full of life and meaning, and in the depths of his being he will feel a strong response. With the remaining cards he experimences the opposites. He will find these lifeless, uninteresting and dead, they convey nobling to him, and even if he comprehends them *institutenally* there is no echo in his soul. If he studies the cards one by one, a highlight high will luminate his soul by which he will see where he still has to work on himself and how he must change himself in order to achieve contentment.

That these cards help us to awaken our unconscious to consciousness so that we acquire self-knowledge - a thorough understanding of ourselves - can be testified by anyone who has picked them up and examined them one by one. They are like a spiritual mirror in which we can not only recognise but also thoroughly examine and study ourselves. We realise that in a strange way certain cards correspond exactly to our inner state, and at the same time also to our state in relation to the world. We suddenly understand ourselves and our destiny. We understand why fate always leads us back into the same predicament and why we have to solve the same problems again and again. We understand that the reasons for our fate lie within ourselves. Therefore we must change ourselves in order that our fate may also change. And our fate changes by the mere fact that we will begin to react differently to everything that happens to us.

These cards enable us to see clearly and to understand not only our present state but also our past and in a carrain sense we will also be able to predict our future. Fare is the sum of the reactions to our actions. If we know which cards are representative of our inner state, then we will also be able to deduce from the cards what it was that medu us cat in a particular way. We will know too why we must bear the consequences of our deducts as fare'. And if was enot perfectly content and assified with our lives - and only rarely can we say that of ourselves the cards will also enable us to discover what can help us out of our present situation and difficulties. Of course the inner tates are an inderent part of us even when we do not pick up the cards. But they enable us to gain clear insight into our life and to solve our problems more easily and speedily.

Thus the spiritual powers of these strange cards begin to take effect in man and this effect is enhanced in proportion to his improved understanding of the cards. The stronger their effect on him, the greater his awareness of his Self and the more the will understand that these cards symbolise the fabric of his srul. Thus the tarot brings man ever closer to his great goal, which is to know himself, abe *kinsuelf*.

Some of the French titles on the twenty-two cards are misleading, but for technical reasons they could not be changed. The correct titles appear in the chapter headings.

### Tarot Card 1

## THE MAGICIAN

### Number: 1

#### Letter: N ALEPH

In this picture we see a strong young man, a magician, whose posture assumes the shape of the letter ALEPH. He leans slightly towards the right, pointing downwards with his right hand and upwards with his left. At the same time, this posture suggests the ancient truth which the great Chaldean initiate Hermes Trismegistos teaches in his TABULA SMARAGDIAN HEIMENTS: 'A dowe, os doku'

The young man is dressed in garb of a curious colour. He is wearing a har which, on careful camination, turns out not to be a hat at all. The crown of the supposed hat is the man's own head, a closed red circle symboling his stemal spirit, his higher Self. Part of the circle is covered by the brim of the has to that we do not see all of his head. This denotes that he deal in his unconscious, in the inpirit, that there is still a great ed all nis unconscious, in the invisible part of hismelf. The colour red indicates that the spirit, positive-giving, is a divine far. It is in a cloud circle because it can never show itself in the external world of matter. The spirit belongs to contour world. In the world of matter, it is invisible and cannot be perceived by any sense-organ. That is why it requires an instrument of manifestation through which it can ever all used directly as idea, thought or knowledge. This instrument is the state of the sign used by mathematicians to denote "infinity", as 8 in a horizonal position: a. The edge of the brim is yellow, the colour of reason, and the inside of the brim is yellow, the colour of reason, and the inside of the brim specen, the symbol of sympaphy, goodwill and annity. The young magician thus manifests his invisible, fercy, eternal spirit – which has never been boom and therefore will never die – through the boundless infinity of thought and knowledge, but also through sympathy, goodwill and annity.

On his torso we see a red, tight-fitting unic with a blue collar and a blue stripe down the from. The runic is tight for the simple reason that it is not a runic at all, but his own body, Red symbolies his spiritual being, which, like his head, is positive giving. The blue of the collar and centre stripe edged in white symbolies his pure, selfless love of mankind. He bears this selflets love of which do has path through this world. This is shown by his legs which bear him along his earthy path and are clad in hibs earching his colcings.

His arms symbolise the two great 'polar principles of creation, the sciwe-masculine, positive-going pole, and the passive-feminine, negative-receiving pole. His arms are clothed in several coloured layers. This means that the magician uses symbolised by yellow, and with good intentions and goodwill towards his feldow-men, as indicated by green, while under these two layers he wears a blue, tight-fitting, knitted garment, which, like the blue stripe on his torso, shows his own true being. The red cuffs denote that he continues to radius expirately and work by his selfiess love of mankind and by his humanity.

On the blue centre panel of his tunic we see five buttons. These are his five sense-organs through which he links himself, his inner world, with the external world! Only three legs of the table in front of him are visible, the fourth jues out into the invisible spiritual world. The magician's activity rests for the most part on a material basis. His person lives in the visible world of matter, and so it is here that he must fulfil his task. Yet part of his actions, the fourth leg of the table, rests on invisible, spiritual foundations.

On the table lie three symbols of tarca, as yet unused but ready for use: the cup, the sword and the coin. He holds the most important symbol, the wand or batcon, in his left hand. At each end of the wand is a coloured ball. These signin symbolise the two polar principles, the red ball sanding for the positive pole, the blue one for the negative and. The majcian holds the wand is a other the positive end points upwards and the negative end downwards to coards the coard. The wand symbolises the letters µx, which is the picture of the first divine mainfestation, a single fame, from which proceed all subcentive power of the magician which is created. This is the relative that the the holds which her relatives the will of his higher Self in the visible world. With it he can effect

The ouside of the cup is blue, thus feminine-negative, receptive, but it contains the spirit, the maxuline-positive, feery principle represented by the red liquid inside the cup. The latters stands on a beagoand base. It is formed by the two intervoven triangles which stand for the spiritual and the material worlds. The cup points to the magicain's spiritual principles and signifies hit receptivity to all that is good, to the divine higher runds of the spirit.

The sword also lies open, as yet unused, on the table. It symbolises the magician's courage with which – like Siegfried and the 'Nothung' against the dragon – he is prepared to fight against the shadows of the underworld, against the unconscious, in order to a train the divine light of consciousness.

Lastly, there is a gold coin lying on the table. The circular shape always stands for the spirit; but the cross drawn on the coin shows that in this case it is a very powerful and special spirit, which with its vast concentrating power creates matter and controls it thus unifying the two opposing elements. That is the coin. money. For the content of this concept 'money' is purely symbolical. How could anyone think of 'money' as matter? Has anyone ever seen 'money' or held it in his hand? No one! At most we have seen or held a piece of paper or metal marked with a certain value. Therefore both are valuable only when they bear an inscription specifying that they represent a certain monetary value in which we have to believe. If, however, on the same note or coin there are no inscriptions denoting the particular value, then it is no longer 'money'. The moment we cease to believe in it, the note will become a worthless piece of paper and the coin will have no more value than the metal it is made of. But this, too, fluctuates according to demand. Remember that for a man dying of thirst in the desert any piece of metal, whether gold or silver, is utterly worthless. On the other hand, a glass of water would save his life. 'Money' is therefore a purely abstract notion rather than visible or tangible matter. It is the spirit of absolute matter, precisely because as a concept it cannot be identified with any kind of matter. And yet, we can acquire all the material treasures of the world with this nameless matter: real estate. jewels, furniture, clothes or whatever. Money is therefore the spirit of absolute nameless matter.

Nor does the coin in this picture of the magician suggest visible "money" with an exchange value. It suggests much more, namely, man's inner spiritual power which allows him to control all the values of the material world, if he knows this secret! Our magician knows it for, of course, he already has power over the secret of "money".

Berween his legs, just behind him, we see a flower which has grown out of the earth, and hence out of matter. It has three green leaves and a bud. The green leaves stand for the three great principles of spirit, power and matter. The closed flower, the bud, is red and thus denotes the spirit. This symbolies that the magician's spirit, like the bud, does not yet manifest itself completely. Like the flower, his spirit is already present, but in many respects still unconscious. Just as the flower does not yet show the perfection of his spirit, of his higher 50EH. His very highest, divine treasures are still latern in his unconscious. That is also the reason why the flower is *behind* him, just as his unconscious is *behind* his consciounness. It is, however, only a question of time until the flower pens to reveal its glory and the magician manifests his innermost perfect being.

This picture, THE MAGICLAN, shows a man who has just awakends, subdenly become conscious in himself and perceives for the first time thas he actually is  $ker_{-}$  that he is  $ker_{-}$ own. Thus he experiences for the first time the absolute present in the state of self-awareness. His Self is boundless and infinite in the unconscious, just as his has those infinity, but the first fickering of self-awareness is still limited and its light is only heing. How the self is a boundless and its hole divine theing. How the state is a still be a state of the self is the self is built to the child is the beginning out of which he grows to a solublood. In the same way, the number over is first in the sequence of numbers and the letter algeb is the beginning of the alphabet.

"The magician' represents a male or female being. That the state of awakening is depicted in this case as a man does not mean that only a man could experience this state. In the first state of self-awareness there is no set. The human being, male of female, experiences a positive spiritual state; this state is represented by the picture of a man. A living creature at this level of consciouses is already in possession of all the drivine gifts which continue to help him along the great path to selfknowledge.

The magician holds the 'magic wand' which he can use to open all the closed doors in his unconscious. His soul is like a cup from which he can already sip the divine nectar of the spint. The sword, too, is already at his disposal so that be can vanquish the shadows of the underworld, of the unconscious, and win the divine light of the Self, of all-consciousness. And finally, he already possesses the gold coin, the spiritual power over all that is matter. He already knows the inner, divine value of all things, so that he will never again lose his way in the forest of the false material values of this world.

Although he possesses all these treasures, he is not yet an active 'magician'. Indeed he possesses these divine gifts, but he does not yet make use of them. He does not know that he already has all the attributes at his finger-tips for becoming a genuine white magician in the garende of God. He stands there still motionless, but ready to set out on the long path to selfknowledge.

The pricume of the magician carries the number 1 and the letter adort. The number 1 is the divine number which exists even before other numbers are born out of it. It is the full of all other numbers, it is indivisible and esternal. It is the only number which we can use as a multiplier without changing the value of the multiplied numbers. The Vishnu-Yanzana asys: "There was neither day nor night, neither heaven nor earth, neither darkness nor light, nor any other thing, nothing but the ows." And Ramakrishna, the great Indian illuminane, states similarly: "Know the One and you will know all! The ciphers become hundreds of thousands if we place them behind the one. I, however, the one is extinguished, nothing remains. The many is only of value in relation to the One. First, the One and then the many. First: God and then the world and the creatures.

This card with the letter *aleph* corresponds to the first name of God as He named himself when Moses asked: 'If I come to the people of Israel... and they ask me, "What is his name?" what shall I say to them?'

God said to Moses, 'I AM WHO I AM.' (Exodus 2: 13-14)

In the Cabbala this card corresponds to the first choirs of angels which are called *Seraphim*. Until the time of the prophet Isaiah SERAPH signified a sacred serpent with three pairs of wings. Isaiah then took over thin name for the angels. Since that time Scrapk has been the name of an angelic being with three pairs of wings. surranors is a whole host of such angels. In the Cabbah there are ten such creative arginos?. Softwal iterally means BLANATON (radiation). In modern scientific terminology the arginos' would be known as 'emanating energy fields'. Each argina's is host a number and a letter and has its *Corresponding any minibue*. That of the first arginal is *Kahler Dynamical and the start and the start and the start and the start Dynamical and the start and the start and the start of a crown on his head, so conscients of the lower by byings of a crown on his head, so conscients of the Staff yere him the power to become ruler over all the powers of the universes. The self-wareness is the crown of this being.* 

In the Hebrew alphaber three letters are called "mothers". These three modeness are: LAZW, user and surs. All three mean a birth and for that reason are known as "mother". All oph is the first birth, the birth of the divine child, of SELF-AWARDENESS. Maris purified soul gave birth to the divine child, the first fickering of self-awareness. Man is still like a child, only beginning to look about hinself and not yet abb to use his divine attributes, his God given allens. In the course of imm his activity will develop and only then will be become an adult. The letter *aloph* has thus given birth to the first awakening of consciourses in man.

The number 1 and the letter ALEFS are both the *beginning* of a divelopment, just as the divine number 1 gives rise to all subsequent numbers of *infanium*, so the letter ALEFM marks the beginning of the alphabel. Just as the bud is the beginning which leads to the full blostom, so the present consciounces of man with the magic instruments at in disposal is the beginning of the great, long and uneven path to the supreme goal, to perfect, divine ALL-consciounces.

### Tarot Card 2

## THE HIGH PRIESTESS

#### Number: 2

Letter : 🗅 BETH

In this picture we see a female figure cluid in a priestly robe and seared on a strange throne, immobile, cluin, inscrutable, mysterious and majestic. She is the high priestess of the temple and guardian of its screters. She wars a tara ringed by two gold bands, with a creacent moon on top. This creacent moon signifies that this figure represents a passive, female-receptive state in which man directs his whole interest and receptivity simultaneously to two planes: to this world and the other. These two planes, these two worlds, are also symbolised by the two gold bands on the tiars.

The face of the high prieress is pardy covered with a white well. This shows that the reveals have no mensal of the nature. She wears a long, tight-fitting, blue dress. Blue denotes that in her innermost being the is filled with pure faith in God, selfeanses and love of mankind. Over this dress she wears a red robe edged with yellow. Red shows the spirituality which so outwardly manifests in the world of matter. In so doing, she hides from inquisitive eyes her loving, innermost being symbolised by the colour blue. The yellow border signifies her reason, which she manifests through language and writing, The robe is fastened to her body by two broad straps on which there are several small crosses. These again signify the priestess's close relations both to the realm of the spirit and the realm of matter.

In her right hand he holds a half-closed book which contains, but as yet does not yield, the mysteries of this world and the other. On the cover of the book is the Chinese symbol of the deiry reasing in itself, Yang and Yin, in which the two poles still rest in one unity in God. Only in their manifestations are these two worlds, the external material world, and beyond this hinner spinitul one, ossensibly separated from each other. In the inner reality they always belong together, they cannot possibly exist without each other. For it is on the tension existing between them in the world of matter that the whole of Creation is based.

In her left hand she holds two keys. These are the keys to this world and the next. She has access to both worlds, she can lock or unlock the gates, enter or leave as she please. But she does not divulge the mysteries of these worlds to the immature.

She is seated on a throne. On either side of the back of the throne are two tall pillars. Simply the colours above reveal that the right-hand pillar is fiery, masculine-spiritual, and the left-hand one moist, feminine-feral. These are the two pillars of King Solomon, Jachin and Boaz, on which he built his temple. They are also the two legs of Logos in Revelation. One foot stands on the land, the other on the sea. These two pillars sustain the tension between the two creative poles, the positive and negative one, on which, as the Bible says, the creative principle. Logos, rests as it creates the universe. There is a curtain between the pillars. It corresponds to the veil of the Egyptian goddess Isis. In the Hindu philosophy of religion this curtain is the veil of maya. It screens the mysterious absolute reality resting in man's unconscious, but which the immature man cannot and is not permitted to see. The secrets of the unconscious are still hidden from his eyes, but he already suspects the titanic powers at work below the level of his consciounes. He believes that the phenomena he perceives do not arise from his own unconscious but from ouside. Thus he begins to concern himself with the phenomena of occultism. He attends spiritualist meetings where, as he believes, the 'spirits' of the departed manifest their presence and transmit messages from the hereafter. He also goes to other circles and societies which pursue all kinds of 'sciences of the occult'. Thus he become a 'zeket'.

The floor on which the high priestess is in made up of two kinds of coloured itels, back and white stores equares laid out like the squares of a chess-board. The white tiles symbolize the spiratal, invisible world, and the black tiles the material, visible world. Just as these various squares are combined on the floor, so, in the soul of the seeking man, the two worlds are combined, but not yet united. He already begins to grow prirtual, but is still estentially in the bondage of matter.

One arm-rest of the throne represents a black sphinx and the other a white one. Only the black sphinx is, however, visible; the white sphinx is still hidden from view under the high priesters's robe.

The sphinx is a very important stage on the path to selfknowledge. In Greek mythology we read that people asked Oedipus, loudly lamenting, to save them from the monster, the terrible sphinx, who sat on the clifftop looking down to the plain and poisoning the pure air with her breath. If help did not come at once all the people of Cadmus would perish and die. Every day she uttered her incomprehensible words and devoured each man who failed to solve her riddle. Oedipus asked what this riddle was. The wailing people replied : 'The sphinx says no more than this: "What is it that has one voice and yet becomes four-footed and two-footed and threefooted?"' And Oedipus went to the sphinx and when she posed the same question he answered; 'Man, who crawls on all fours in infancy, walks on two feet when grown and leans on a staff in old age.' And with a terrible roar the sphinx leaped down from her cliff and ran away.

The riddle of the sphinx is thus the great riddle of man. And in this picture, as the arm-rest of the throne, this sphinx is also the great riddle of man – self-knowledge.

The high priestess's left arm rests on the visible black sphinx, and her right arm on the as yer invisible white sphinx. The whole picture of the high priestess shows the state of the newly awakened human being, who, for the very first time, has experienced the stirrings of self-awareness. He has learned that an 'other world' exists besides this earthly material one. His interest turns to this 'other world' which is to be found beyond his consciousness. He begins to wonder about the hereafter and wanders from one so-called 'spiritual society' to another. He goes wherever he senses a possibility of solving the great riddle of BEING. He already suspects that he is not in this world for the sole purpose of fulfilling earthly duties. These duties are also 'his' duties, for the additional and very good reason that these and only these can help him to reach the great goal of his life, the attainment of self-knowledge, What this great goal is, he does not yet know, but he feels that this life still owes him something, that it must bring him something wonderful which he has waited for all his days. This must be fulfilment, redemption. He does not yet clearly recognise that this goal consists in nothing other than the sweeping aside of the veil of the maya, the veil of illusions, renouncing all errors, discovering his own true Self and raising it to full consciousness. He knows only the worldly, conscious side of his own being, his apparent Self which he is not, while his own spiritual being still rests in his unconscious. Since he does not even know where to start seeking it, he seeks the hereafter and what happens after death. He wishes to know where the departed go, because he knows that he too will go there. But the high priestess who guards all these secrets does not yet take the great key and unlock the gate to the hereafter for him. Nevertheless he feels that behind this curtain he will find the solution to the riddle, the whole truth. And so he pursues his search. He goes on to learn philosophy and psychology, studies the philosophies of religion of all countries, and pursues all the Arts. It is only a question of degree whether the becomes an earnest seeker or a charitaan. For behind the serious research of the scholar, as behind the various childish amusements of the charitaan, lies the same desperate search by man for the great divine mysteries of eternal BEINC1

The picture of the high priestess carries the number 2 and the letter aETH. The number 2 embodies the idea of division. There is no unity in existence which could contain the number 2. If, however, this number nevertheless lodges itself in a unity, this signifies a schism, disintegration of the unity concerned, and, in the case of a human soul, death. This state is expressed by the number 2 in every language of the world." In this picture the number 2 denotes the two worlds, here and beyond, which the seeking man bears within him and which bring about an inner conflict. This torments him and he seeks release, 'redemption' from it. On the one hand he still belongs here in the temporal world with its earthly joys and sorrows, on the other hand he is already interested in what lies behind it, what purpose it all serves if in the end we have to leave everything here, and what the values are that we can finally take with us. And if we succeed in taking something with us, where shall we go with it? This whither is what interests him. for he has already realised that this world is only the effect, but not the cause. This world is not an absolute reality, it is only a world of appearance. Yet where is the absolute reality, the eternal, immortal cause? He knows that where there is an effect there must also be a cause. And the cause of this world is what man seeks to find.

The high priestess, however, does not raise the curtain before the sacred shrine, but lets the immature man continue to seek the truth by himself. If she were to reveal the nature of this truth to man, he would not gain anything by it. On the other hand, if he himself seeks this truth, he will find it in

<sup>\*</sup> The author here draws attention to the German word "Verywiflung' containing the number two - two.

reality - HE WILL BE THIS TRUTH MINERAL<sup>1</sup> - To understand through reason is all very well, but that which has been understood is still outside and not inside man. Reason is merely an instrument which helps us to understand. Yet this understanding is still very far from realistion. We do noteek words, but the meaning of words, the reality, which we can never sceneince through reason but can only ke aurelyter.

In hieroglyphic writing, the letter BETH symbolizes the human mouth. The high priestess as yet keeps her lips closed. She bertys nothing of her secrets and yet implies that they exist, so that man does not merely stand there, but is lured into seeking them himself. He will find them 1

The letter BETH designates the second host of angels. It is the second sefirah and corresponds to Hokhmah, theoretical reason.

### Tarot Card 3

## THE QUEEN

### Number: 3

### Letter : ] GINEL

Again we see a young woman, this time without a veil. Her beautiful face freely reveals her nature. She faces us, she looks into our eyes, she does not wish to hide anything from us.

She wears a triple-pointed crown on her head. This denotes that she is queen of the three aspects of life: birth, life and death. It also means that she reigns over space, over the three dimensions. She is ruler of the whole cosmos, the whole universe. She is the queen of heaven, that aspect of God which is procreative and feminitie: XATURE.

She sits perfectly motionless on her throne, just as her laws also are infectible and unchangeable. She basis in her nature the great sected, hen mystery whereby the spirit unites with matter and the divine becomes the human. This is its the mystery of *procreasion*. She heredif, however, is the great chaste virgin who brings forth mynids of fliving creasures without having been touched by man. The two worlds, this world and the other, which in the case of the high prisetss were still separated, are united in the queen of hasven. She holds sway over to join them together or to keep them paper. It rens with her and her laws whether a spirit embodies itself in hit world and is born, or whether such an embodied spirit frees itself from the material world and its body dies.

Her head is framed by a white circle symbolising the immaculate purity which her ardiates. In the circle we see twelve stars, three of which are hidden behind her head. These revelve stars are the signs of the zodiac, the twelve spheres of heaven as it were, by which her dominion over the universe is symbolised.

She has a pair of large, light blue wings, which, when spread out, enable her to hover above infinite space and to fly.

Her tight-fitting dress is red, suggesting that in her innermost being she is completely spiritual, positive. The yellow edging shows her superior reason, which she manifests through the brains of men.

Across her lap and right arm is draped an azure blue robe covering her legs as it falls to the ground. The robe and its brilliant blue colour symbolise the infinite firmament which is her kingdom; they are also a symbol of her immaculate putity. The green inner side of the blue robe signifies her goodwill and sympathy to all living things, to all her children.

The magic wand of the magician has in her hand become a long sceptre crowned with the symbol of the earth, an imperial orb. This symbol consists of a ball surmounted by a cross. It signifies that here on earth the law of matter prevails and that the spirit must bow to this law. The sceptre shows the immense and overwhelming power of Nature over the three worlds : heaven, earth and hell. The laws of Nature are immutable. The queen holds the scentre in her left hand thus indicating that she rules with the irresistible power of the eternalfeminine and of the mother. She holds a shield bearing the great symbol of the alchemists, the white eagle on a red background. The white eagle symbolises the purity and chastity of the queen of heaven, the transformed sexual energy which she herself uses in its spiritual form only, as creative power. The eagle turns his head to the left, which again suggests the negative-feminine power of the queen. The red background shows that this power is based on the positive powers of the spirit.

The queen's right foot is completely hidden. She rests here left foot on a creatent moon pointing downward. A creatent moon in the reverse position, pointing upwards, denotes receptivity to the high spirinal powers. The downward opation denotes receptivity to maceulae posery. The queen of haven does not allow herself to be fertilised by the material earthy procreasive power, she is chaste and remains so, but she does allow the expertsed soczet to remain in their material form in her realm, in Naure. She allows the feminine, the spiritual and material worlds in a new living creature. The queen of haven, Naure, makes possible the embodiment of the spiritu in and warderial worlds in a new living creature.

Next to be queen a white lify blossoms on the throne. It is also a symbol of her purity and chastry, but especially of her *kaclik*. Nature: strives uncennittingly to keep her children, myrids of living creatures, healthy, to instil into them the instinctive urge always to do what is best for their health. And if in spite of this they do become till, she helps to restore their health. The lify has a very strong healing power: it is rightly the symbol of health and purity.

We find this beautiful figure of a divine woman in all great religions as the feminine supect of God. She is Naure, the great moher who gives birth to myriads of living creatures and has command over life and death. Her name alone varies from one race to another. The Ancient Expythius kaves her as the heavenly goddes tats, in the Hindu religion she is the worhipped great moher RAL, and in the Christian religion she is the MADONNA. In the Revelation of St John she is described soflows: 'An there appared a great worder in heaven, a woman clothed with the sun, and the moon under her feet, and upon her head a crown of revelve stars' (her.:: 1)

42
The man who is at this level of the tarot becomes acquainted with the great queen of heaven, NATURE. He is a 'seeker' and now he begins to explore the secrets of Nature. He no longer tries to act against Nature by leading a foolish life, but rather now adapts himself to her in order to live with and not against her. He experiences the inner command: GOOD HEALTH IS A pury! He tries to let the powers of Nature work in his body to make it healthy and preserve it in that state. He begins to experiment with various cures and diets, he eliminates meat from his diet as well as artificially produced drinks which rouse and stimulate his low impulses. Thus he grows familiar with the inner desires of Nature which were always latent in him as animal instincts but to which he had never paid heed. Thus he becomes reconciled with Nature, against whom he has so often sinned. He recognizes her as the dominating force in the visible world and in his body. As a result of these endeavours, however, he observes that each physical phenomenon has an emotional cause, that each illness can therefore be traced to an emotional disturbance

Thus we discover that if we look after our souls, achieve an inner harmony and spiritual health, our bolies also will become healthy. This truth leads us to the fresh discovery that there exists something, beyond the dominion of Nature. What is more, this something can rule over Nature. This is our own pairi, our own higher Self. We discover that we are able to make courselves master of Nature, so control and work with the forces of Nature; if our Self has become master in our soul and in our body. But only if fast of all we recognise the laws of Nature! For if we do this, then we shall be able to let these instartent world. The miller can only have his corn ground by the current of the water become here cognises the laws of Nature; of vater, and builds his mill with the mill-whele to Nature; of vater, and builds his mill with the mill-whele to nature the struth of the struct become and grinds his corn.

Thus the 'seeker' tries to recognise the laws of Nature, but nevertheless to let them act within him in accordance with his own will. He removes all the obstacles which his foolish way of life had placed in the path of Nature. He begins to practise self-control and mental concentration.

In this way he unites in himself the two worlds, this one and the other, which, while still as the level of the 'high priestest', he wanted to know separately. He lets his spirit, his Self, which always has been and will be in the non-marinal, other world, rule in his physical being; he ceases to be a slave of his physical desires and tries to use has body as a worderful instrument. Yet he does not on this account neglect his body ; indeed, he gives it cardful attention, for otherwise it could not manifest his spirit completely and perfectly. He does not forger that his distant manifestation in the body. He does not forger that his distant manifestation of his own spirit. He takes a big stop forward, for he percives that there is only owe all embracing, boundless universe, that the whole Creation is a single, indivisible univ.

The picture of the queen carries the number 1 and the letter GIMEL. The number 3 stands for absolute harmony and balance. The three corners of the equilateral triangle are equidistant from one another so that their connection does not result in insoluble tensions, as is for instance the case with the square and all other geometric figures. The number 3 also signifies the Holy Trinity and the three aspects of God, the creative, the preserving and the destroying aspect. All creative factors have three aspects. They are the three dimensions of space: length, breadth and height; the three aspects of time: past, present and future; the three aspects of earthly life: birth, life and death : and the three worlds under the rule of the oueen of heaven; heaven, earth and hell. All these aspects are the three manifestations of a single unity. At the level of the 'queen of heaven' man consciously unites all these aspects in one being, in himself. He lives in the three dimensions, in space, he lives in time, he is aware that his body was born and that it will die, therefore he manifests all three aspects of life, even

while realising that all these superse concern only his mortal being. His true Self, his divus heing, does not know all these aspects. It knows neither time nor space, hirth nor death, past nor future, it knows noily eternity and estral life. It knows only the absolute present, 'the eternal Now'. And man now understand also that heaven, early that had hell are three states of consciousness, and that according to whichever level he idenfies himself with he is happy or undappy. If he identifies with himself, with his spirst, and seeks spinitual joys, he is happy, therefore in haven. During his life on earth he has experienced joys and sorrows, but these are both transient. Add if he identifies with his impulses and becomes a slave of his body, he loses himself, despairs and in so doing plunges into hell.

At this level of consciousness man has understood Nature, the queen, and tries to put the truths which he understands well in theory, into practice, into realization.

The letter GIMEL means the human throat, where all the words born in the brain are formed. This letter is the symbol of the material manifestation of intellectual ideas. In the Cabbala it is the third sefirah and corresponds to *Binah*, practical reason.

### Tarot Card 4

# THE KING

#### Number: 4

### Letter : 7 DALETH

This is the picture of a strong man with all the attributes of a ruler. He is seated upon a cube as upon a throne. He is ruler of the world of matter. The Romans called him Jupiter. His seated position on the cube also represents the sign of Jupiter: 4. The line curving upwards rests on the symbolic sign of matter, the cross.

The king wears a yellow helmet adorned with red and shaped into six points at the top like a crown. These points allude to the six-pointed stars, formed by two intervoven triangles. When these are projected into the third dimension, two intervoven tetrahedrons are formed, which are concealed inside the cube.

The yellow colour of the helmest shows that the king manifeast shis high spiritual powers and wisdom in though, speech and writing. The red contours of his helmet again point to his spirituality and wisdom. The dark colour of his hair and beard is a symbol of his concern with the material world. In Roman mythology he is Jupiter, in Greek mythology, Zeus, the god of windom and the heavenly ruler of earch.

The garment next to his body is red, again symbolising the spirituality of his innermost being. It is visible only on his legs, knees and arms. The remaining part of it is covered by other articles of clohing. On his chest and shoulders he wars a light blue coat of mail. On the right side we see the sun, on he left, the moon. The coat of mail shows his imperviounness and power of resistance against foes and external attacks. The sun and moon show that he unities in himself the two great energies, the positive-masculine energy of the sun and the negative-fimitine energy of the moon, that he controls both of them and works with them in the universe. Round his neck he wears a thick golden chain, a symbol of his strong reason.

The coat of mail is decraized with a red fringe in a geometric partern trimmed with yellow and parity covering his blue uniform and blue sleeves. He therefore manifests spiriruality, goodwill and knindes. His feet are clad in blue stockings; this meas that his steps are always guided by pure love and humanity. In his right hand he holds a mighty scepter which ends in three large leaves forming a *flaw* de *ys*. By holding the sceptre in his right hand the king shows that he works with positive-masculine forces.

In his left hand he holds a green imperial orb. This signifies that he has power over the earthly world. This power, however, is not sheer force, but the irresistible power of universal love. That is why the imperial orb is so large and green.

The king is seared upon a large yellow cube bearing the picture of a brown eagle. The cube is the simplest crystallisation form of matter, the crystal form of salt. That the king sits upon a cube suggests that although he stands above matter with his spiritually, he nevertheless needs matter and the matterial world as a stable basis for his activity. He controls matter and in addition uses it to gain spiritual powers from matterial forces by transformation. In order to show this he picken his gas to a to form a cross, the symbol to fmatter.

The cube signifies a very fine type of matter through which he manifests his wisdom. This matter is the human brain. That is why the cube is yellow in colour. It is intelligent matter. Through their brains men manifest the higher truths and the divine ideas of the king of heaven. Without this the king could not express and pass on his wisdom in thought. speech and writing. The dark eagle is the symbol of matter, but he no longer crawls on the ground as a scorpion manifesting base instincts but now serves the intellectual world by manifesting superior thoughts and soars in the air as an eagle. He turns his head to the right thus indicating that the power which the king uses is always of a masculine-positive, giving nature. We shall understand the significance of this cube even better if we think of the Ka'ba, which is the focal point of the religious cult of Islam in Mecca. The Ka'ba is a cube-shaped edifice, and according to tradition, was built in its present form by Abraham himself. Muslims throughout the world orient themselves towards it in prayer. And every Muslim who can makes a pilgrimage once in his life to the Ka'ba. Inside the Ka'aba there are twelve silver lamps suspended between three pillars with a thirteenth lamp in the centre. The three pillars symbolise the Holy Trinity and the twelve lamps stand for the twelve signs of the zodiac round the sun. There are no windows in the Ka'ba and only one door, which is seven feet above the ground and and can be reached by climbing a sevenrunged ladder. The Muslims call the Ka'ba 'The House of God', which simply means man himself. As the symbolism of the Ka'ba is so clear we hardly need to explain that it is the cube, matter, the human body, the dwelling-place of the divine Self, of GOD. The three pillars represent the Holy Trinity which animates the body with the divine powers of Logos, Christ said '... for, behold, the kingdom of God is within you'. (Luke, 17: 21) The same symbol, the cube containing the divine principle depicted here as the Lamb offering itself in sacrifice, occurs in Revelation. John recounts his vision :

'And there came unto me one of the seven angels . . . and talked with me, saying, Come hither, I will shew thee the bride, the Lamb's wife. [Man's consciousness which seeks unity with the divine principle] . . .

And he carried me away in the spirit to a great and high mountain, and shewed me that great city, the holy Jerusalem descending out of heaven from God ...

And he that talked with me had a golden reed to measure the city, and the gates thereof, and the wall thereof . . .

And the city lieth foursquare ... The length and the breadth and the height of it are equal. [Therefore it is cube shaped!]... ... and the city was pure gold ...

... and the street of the city was pure gold, as it were transparent glass ...

And I saw no temple therein : for the Lord God Almighty and the Lamb are the temple of it.

And the city had no need of the sun, neither of the moon, to shine in it: for the glory of God did lighten it, and the Lamb is the light thereof.' (Revelation 21: 9-23)

As we can see, the visionary of the Bible also perceived the body of the illumined and redeemed man as a cube which had become transparent, the crystallised prototype of matter from which shines the light of God, the divine principle offering itself in sacrifice, the Lamb with its celestial light.

In front of the king we see the same flower that we saw behind the magician as a bud. There, the flower implies that man has not yet grown consticuts and that the greatest part of this being still list behind his constituents. The unconsticuts. Here, the flower is in form of the king of heaven and is already beginning to open. It is no longer a bud. At this level man is already considerably more aware than at the level of the 'magician'. He has power over his own body, over his material form. To a certain extent he already possesses self-control, the uses his body as a source of energy and transforms physical energies into spiritual powers, thereby quickening his progress on the long part to the grees rgold. His soul is now no longer a bud; it gradually unfolds and radiates the divine light, love, It dawns on him that our spiritual level does not depend upon how much we know, but upon how much love we have in us. What he has learned and grasped intellectually must be realized. He must not keep his experiences and knowledge for himself. he must pass them on to the uninitiated who come after him, He already has self-control and is master of physical desires, He uses the power thereby gained to help not only himself but also his fellow-men. He sees the great goal and devotes his whole life to the task of growing more spiritual, while leading others also to spirituality. He has read and learned a great deal and heard divine truths from great men who have reached the goal. At the same time, however, he has already gathered a store of individual experience and can thus pass on its treasures to others. More and more people come to him to ask for advice and help and he tries to alleviate human suffering. He gives help where possible and compassion and universal love unfold in his heart just as the flower opens its sepals.

The picture of the king carries the number 4 and the letter DALETH.

The number 4 as a geometric shape, as a square or cross, is found in the cube.



For if we open out a cube, we get a cross. All its sides of a cube are necrographic squares. Throughout the world and in every religion, the square and the cross are symbols of matter. On the two beams of the Cross, on time and space, the spirit of the world, Logos, Chirtis, is crucified. At the point of intersection of the two beams is the absolute present. Here time and space unite. For us, as embodied spirit, this point, the absolute present, is our only possibility of attaining REBEN-TOR, LIBERATOR while still in the body. Otherwise we are 'crucified' in time and space. If we manage to endure in the absolute present with absolute consciousness we are liberated from the 'crucification' in time and space. Then we are resurrected in etermity. The crucified human body is a symbol as old as mankind uself. Such crucifices, thousands of years old, have been found in excavations all over the world, in America and in the Orient.

The number 4 also occurs as a symbol in the four great rivers which rise in the middle of Paradise and flow in the four directions of heaven. Equally so in the four great signs of the zodiac in Ezekiel's vision: lion, bull, angel and eagle; and likewise in the four faces of God in the Hindu philosophy of religion.

The rarot card unto complements the more card quues. The king is the positive-masculine, and the quene the negativefeminire side of a single divine unity. The numbers 3 and 4 together make 7 which is the key number of the earthly world. That is why there are seven rungs on the ladder leading up to the Ka'ba in Meeca. If we add up the number 7 according to the principles of numerology, 1+3+3+4+15+7, we get the number 30 perfection, the fulfilment of creation, the number 7. The cipber has no numerological value because it symbolies space. Thus we are left with the divine number <u>1</u>, as the fnal result. The result is the same if we add up the number 4 according to these principles, 1+2+3+4=10. The final result is again t.

The letter DALETH is the picture of the animating and active principle of the universe. Through it God depicts the images of the body and all the different forms of matter. DALETH corresponds to the fourth *softrak*, *Heted*, which means love and kindness.

### Tarot Card 5

# THE HIGH PRIEST

Number: 5

Letter: 7 HE

In this picture we see a male figure with all the insignia of an important dignitary of the church. He is the high priest. He sits upon a throne of which only two posts are visible. There is no longer a curtain between them, for there is nothing to hide any more. The face of the high priest, too, is without a veil. He shows us his face openally, he also has nothing to hide.

His white hair and beard show that he is a spiritual being which will itself never become earthly even though it is active in the earthly-material world. He always remains spiritual.

The high priest wears a yellow tarm with three golden circlets, ending at the top in the symbolic sign of the material world, a cross. The three circlets symbolise the three worlds over which the high priest has power: heaven, earth and hell. He can open or close these to man: he can lead him into or out of them.

His clothing is similar to that of the high priestess. His innermost being is imbued with universal love. For that reason he wears a blue robe on his body. Over it he wears a flowing red cloak covering his whole figure. Through this cloak he reveals his high spirituality. The yellow border indicates that he manifests his spirituality through thoughs and words. The green inner side of the cloak signifies sympathy, goodwill and friendliness.

He wears white gloves with blue crosses on the back. This means that even though the cornes into contact with the world of matter, his hands always remain clean in spite of all the impurities of this earthly world. In his left hand the holds a septre which ends in a criple cross. Like the golden circlets on his stars, it symbolises the three worlds: heaven, earth and hell.

Two figures kneel before him. Their clothing in itself reveals that they are two complementary opposites. One has a red collar and dark robe, the other a dark collar and a red robe. One has fair, the other dark hair, Together they symbolise the positive and the negative pole, but at the same time also the two sexes, the positive-masculine and the negative-feminine. They listen to the teaching of the high priest. The darkhaired male figure looks up at him and listens reverently. The fair female figure buries her face in her hands and appears to be afraid. The dark-haired man lays his hand encouragingly on her back. They symbolise the inner spiritual state of a man who is at the level of the tarot card 'high priest'. His positivemasculine nature already has the courage to follow his inner conviction, but the earthly-physical part of him is afraid and makes him feel that he might lose something of value. The truth, however, works strongly within him and through each new experience he grows more spiritual. This gives him power to live by his deepest conviction. He senses that we do not have to be of this world, even though we live in this world. He knows that he must come to terms with his impulses and bring them under control. He has made such progress in acquiring self-control that he has triumphed over the instinct of selfpreservation. He no longer needs food and drink as stimulants. In other words, he has conquered his appetites. Now he still has to put his sex life in order and direct it into the right channels. He understands that he is not only a sexual being but, over and above his sexuality, a human being. He realises that his spirit is sectes, and that if a person avakes and grows conscious in his spirit, he will no longer think of himself as "woman' or 'man', but as a 'human being'. He knows that when we reach our goal we become androgynous: Even though his body manifests only one half of the whole, thus one sex, his consciousness is above sexuality. He tries to live according to this insight and to become childlike, even if he does not always succeed.

During this period of work he learns many new truths. He learns from personal experience that his body is not merely an empty shell for his spirit, but that the powers of the spirit pervade the body in the same way as water can saturate every pore of a sponge. And the powers of the body, which flow from the spirit, but already act as physical forces on his consciousness, are just as strong as he is himself because, in the form of matter, these powers ARE HIMSELF. That is why it is so difficult to control these powers in oneself and to remain above them in one's consciousness; because we are confronting ourselves. His higher Self instructs him just as the high priest teaches the two figures. And he sees and understands ever more clearly the close relationships between his spiritual Self and his primitive drives which as yet refuse to release him. The truth, however, is stronger, and he realises that he is able to experience real joys and true, fulfilling love in physical union only if that union is the manifestation of a much deeper spiritual oneness. And he begins to seek in his partner, first and foremost, understanding and friendship, thus an inner relationship and a meeting of the minds. He realises that parallel to his inner life he must also create order and harmony in his outer life in order to solve his problems; and in order to achieve inner satisfaction he must not fail to bring the external and the inner world to a common denominator. Strange to say, fate helps him in this, for as if an invisible power witnessed his inner struggles. Providence brings him fresh possibilities and tasks in his earthly personal life. The mere fact that more and more people come to him to ask his advice and help forces him to

54

abandon his previous way of life. He has got to organise his life in such awy that he can devote more time and energy to his fellow-men. In so doing he himself gest to know life from different angles and learns to occupy himself with the many difficult problems which those seeking help submit to him. And thus he perceives that heaven, earth and hell, do, in fact, exist, not as places but as human states. Just where his good or viel way of life will ake him ultimately dependent upon man himself. It gradually dawns on him hat a suffering man suffersion of the state of the state of the state of the state of the sufficient and has neeched a awe will exist on the state state which had hitherto seemed difficult and oppressive now show themselve to be less serious when seen from an entirely different angle.

Thus man struggles within himself as well as in the outer world. Through this struggle he makes progress, climbs higher, his horizon widens and he grows increasingly conscious in his being.

The fifth tarot card, the 'high priest', carries the number 5 and the letter HE.

Initiaes call the number 5 the number of Christ or the number of Logos. The divine number of fulfilment, of creation, is the number to. Half of this sum is 5. The symmetry in the bodies of living ensures implies that Logos divides the divine number to into two symmetrical sides, and in both parts half of the number to is at work, that is, the number 5. Human beings have 5 fagers on each hand, thus on both hands together to fagers. Likewise we have q to con each of our two feet. We have 32 seeth, the sum of the digits is 5. The upper parks to is test, to all of the digits is 7, the lower parks to full digits again 9. Thus the number of Christ appens again ad again. The number of the sense is also 9: sight, hearing, smell, use and touch. And if we add up the limba, two arms at two less toesther with the hand, when he the scuremidies of the human body, or again the number j. The human body for into the five-pointed star and the vital current circulates in the body in the shape of this star. That is why the right side of the body is animated by positive current, and the left side by negative current. Since the number j is itself half of the number of perfect creation – the number j is uself half of the relationship to the number z which is always remined. For multiplying by the number z mans dividing by z and multiplying the result by 10 (a very simple operation). Dividing a



sum by the number 5 means multiplying the number by 3 and then dividing by it. The numbers 5 and 2 are complementary and together make the key number 7 which, by cababilistic reduction, leads again to the number 1 os as the sum of the digits, 1+3+j+4+1+6+7 = 8, 2+8 = 10. The fact that the number 10 mainfiess itself in Nature 24 sive complementary, symmetrical halves – as twice 5 - as the five fingers on each hand, etc., curiously emerges also when we add the numbers from 1 to 10: 1+3+3+4+5+6+7+8+9+10 = 55, four 1 to 10: 1+3+3+4+5+6+7+8+9+10 = 55, plements aror card 3, the "high priestes", for the same reason. In the Cababia, the letter we correspond to the fifth

In the Cabbala, the letter HE corresponds to the hith s(*riak*, which is called *Gerwack*, meaning fear, judgement and strength. In hieroglyphics it means breath. Life is continuously created and preserved by breath and from this arises the idea of complete spiritualisation.

### Tarot Card 6

## THE PARTING OF THE WAYS

#### Number: 6

#### Letter: 1 VAU

In this picture we again see the 'magician'. This time he does not wear the hat representing his infinite spirit. Therefore what happens to him here does not concern his spirit. His fair hair falls loosely, its flaxen colour reveals his high intelligence. His tunic is red and green. The colours are reversed on the short skirt, green on his right and red on his left. The colours on his legs correspond to those on his chest. The sleeves are yellow. This clothing signifies that his whole being and his every step are guided by spirituality, charity and humanity. Inwardly, too, he is imbued with these principles. His activity, represented by his arms, is guided by his reason. He always considers carefully the rights and wrongs of what he is about to do. His hands are crossed on his breast as if he were shielding himself against an external influence. His eyes are downcast. He avoids suggestive glances which seek to penetrate him. Above his head is a rwelve-pointed star and inside it a circle with an angel who, with drawn bow, is about to shoot an arrow at the magician. The twelve points of the star denote the twelve signs of the zodiac, and hence the creative energies which organise the visible world.

The young man stands at the parting of the ways with a frame forgue on either side of the fock. On his right we recognize the queen of heaven with the crown on her fair curled hair and her red and blue derss. On his lisft we see a woman with dark hair: she wears a yellow dress under a green cloak. We sleady know that yellow is the colour of reason, but in this case, yellow, the narrow red neckland, the red belt and the eff flower in her hair as symbolic only of her comming and built. The colour blue is mixing. The green cloak symbolize that the puts on a nourward blow of finediness and sympathy in order to delude her vicins. Both figures touch her oung "magician", they lune kinn to follow them.

<sup>6</sup> Both women symbolise the inner struggle of man at the parting of the ways. At some point in our lifetime face brings us all to this parting. We must choose whether we wish to go right to theft. The right side leads us by way of difficult struggles which nevertheless affords us a large measure of the pure joy of *rac low*. The left side lenge us to easy success without a struggle, to a licentious and profligate life, where we find shortived pleasures in the gratification of our physical desire and urges. Such pleasures, however, inevitably leave a bitter aftertaste and drag our consciousness irresistibly down to a lower level. The end of such a life is inner chaos and the destruction of the soul.

The two paths are symbolised by the two female figures. This does not mean, however, that a mean at this parting of the ways must necessarily choose between new womes. It can, of course, happen, but it would be only one instance among the many where a person, man or woman, stands before this fork. How often does it happen that for instance a doctor, a scientist, an arist or a businessman must choose between easy success, for which, however, he must sell himmelf and give up his inner conviction, and a hard life, which, while allowing him to are according to his conviction, denies him worldfly success and

58

material comfort. A Dr Hahnemann gave up his practice because he could not agree with the methods of treatment in use at that time. He preferred to let himself and his entire family go without food and to earn a meagre livelihood as a translator, rather than sell himself and his deepest conviction. Then he founded homeopathy and became world-famous! Yet what misery he and his family had to endure until that time! Or there is the case of a man like Böcklin to whom an art dealer promised a large sum of money if he would sentimentalise a straight-necked swan in one of his paintings by bending its neck in a rather mawkish manner. Böcklin thought of his starving family, hesitated for a moment, but then replied : 'NoI I cannot do that. In this painting the swan holds himself erectl' And although the Böcklin family continued to live very frugally, Böcklin did not sell his conviction, his Self. Further examples worthy of mention are : Luther, who rejected the high ecclesiastical office offered him by the Pope as hushmoney, preferring to let himself become the victim of religious persecution rather than betray his belief. Rembrandt suffered abject poverty and near starvation in order to explore the secrets of light and shade, instead of portraving rich burghers' wives as beautiful women, which would have made him wealthy in no time.

Many people have experienced this parting of the ways in themselves and know what it means to sell oncelf to the devil', Jesus of Nazareth also experienced it in the wilderness with the tempting of the devil. He was promised the kingdoms of the world if he would renounce his faith, follow the devil and do all that he commanded. How many people have stood at that same parting of the ways and had to drive away the devil with the drivine words 'Apage Satanat' - 'Get thee behind me, Stanat'

Of course it does happen that a man at this level of consciousness actually must choose between two women - or a woman between two men. Or perhaps they must choose only between two ways of life. The emphasis here is on the question whether, on account of material profi, a man betrays his inner conviction, his inner divine voice, hus selling his divines Self, or whether he staunchly obeys his inner voice and follows his conviction. This means that he *dues the will of Godl* And the greatest happingss of all is where man is satisfied in and with himself, for it means nothing other than that GOD is satisfied with hims!

In the picture the angel is about to shoot an arrow into the magician's heart. He knows very well that the magician can and will necessarily choose only the right path. For whatever path he chooses, he will choose the right one for himself, because both paths will lead him to the same goal, to GOD. It is only a question of time, for the left one is slightly longer than the right one. For GOD, time does not exist. If the man is inexperienced, he will and must choose the left side, in order to make up for his lack of experience. On this left path he will realise that he makes himself unhappy, that he plunges into chaos and destruction of the soul. He loses himself on this path and falls out of unity, out of his divine SELF. And that is the greatest misfortune, that is hell. Thus he must turn back, 'become converted', and find the way out of this hell. He must strike the right path; now he has a rich store of experience. Then there will be no danger of his falling again. When Buddha suddenly realised after a night spent in his palace what a useless life he was leading, and how low it could drag him down, he went into seclusion to find GOD, to become BUDDUA

Or another instance here in Europe: amidst a drunken rabble Francis of Assisi came to an understanding of himself and realised what he was actually doing. He rose and left never to return, to become the great saint, Francis.

Thus on the left path man must sooner or later awaken so that he will never again stray on to it believing that happiness is to be found there. He must find the right path and advance along it in order to reach the great goal. Each one of us must have this experience on the left path behind him, if he does not

60

with to stumble on the right path. For if the chooses the right side directly, without the accussory experience, he will be unable to resist the devil whenever he temps him in the guise of some everyday trial. He lacks the power of experience and falls. Therefore he must go back to the left path to gather experience. If, however, someone brings this separience from previous lives, he can, and will choose, with separience from previous experience he will choose, with *a deviasion* to the left, the right path – if he is experienced, he will choose the right path without deviation.

The angel who plays the part of the sun, shoots the arrow – a ray of light – into the magician's heart. Thereupon he selects that path, which, in the light of his experience, will lead him to the goal, to coop.

The tarot card THE PARTING OF THE WAYS carries the number 6 and the letter VAU.



The number of results from the two triangles joined to form a whole: one triangle lies with its point facing upwards, the other with its point doirs works. The former symbolies to Heldy Trinity, the latter, the resistance, the material world. If we unite the centres of the two triangles in one point, we get a six-pointed star which symbolies the human heart. In the heart into which the angel shoots his arrow, the two worlds, the spiritual and the earthly, meet. Man must realise both of them. In the spirit, the heavenly world, and in the body, the earthly one.

Tarot card 6, THE PARTING OF THE WAYS, finds its complement in tarot card 1, the MAGICIAN. Together they add up to the number 7, which again, as with the previous cards, leads to the number 10 by numerological reduction.

The letter VAU means the eye, therefore everything that

refers to light and brightness. The eye forms a bridge between man and the external world, for through the eye light and the outer world are revealed to him. The latter corresponds to the sixth *sefirals*, *Tiferels*, which means the sun and radiance, therefore everything that we see with our eyes.

### Tarot Card 7

# THE CHARIOT

Number: 7

Letter: † ZAIN

In this picture we again meet the "magician". This time, however, he is no longer in a dilement as on more card 6, nor does he need to shield himself against alien influences as at the "parting of the ways". Now he stands self-assured and resolute, not on foot, but in a cube-shaped charior which hastens his progress to the goal. At the turning-point of his life, at the parting, he chose the right side – as we have shown, he could choose only the right path – and he became concurror.

He now wears a crown with three large shining stars. A sur noticate light and, as a symbol of light, it invariably stands for consciousness. The three stars denote in this case the three temporal phases of consciousness: past, present and future. For these three phases of time exist only in mark conscious mind. The conqueror has now reached the stage where he can consciously build his future from the treasures of the past.

He wears a coat of mail. Its colour shows that he has a spiritual outlook and deep belief in God. He wears a short skirt on which we see three large yellow circles. The three points of the skirt where the circles are placed are trimmed with yellow. The three large circles symbolise the three worlds, heaven, earth and hell, which he has already perceived to be states of consciousness. The yellow border again denotes that he manifests his spirituality through his brilliant intellect.

On his chest we see a broad blue band on which are sewn the five buttons he already had as a 'magician'. These are again the five senso-organs linking him with the external world. In his right hand he holds his magic wand which, since he is now a conqueror, has become a mighty sceptre. He has become a ruler in his world.

On his shoulders we see the two celestial bodies, sun and moon, which we have already seen on the chest of the king of heaven. Man, as conqueror, is also in possession of the two great forces, the positive power of the sun and the negative power of the moon, and he quite consciously works with both of these creative energies.

The cubs-shaped charior reminds us of the throne of the ruler of basens. There, however, it was not a chariot but a simple cube. Now the conqueror uses this cube as a charior for his triumphal procession. At each of the four corners of the charior is a pole supporting a blue canopy above the head of the conqueror. The four poles symbolise the four clements: free, air, water and earth. The conqueror stands between these poles at the point of intersection of the diagonals, thus uniting these four elements in himself and controlling them. The canopy consists of four large blue semi-circles. Each of these bears three stars, thus allogether three are revelve. These stand for the twelve signs of the zodiac as in the picture of the queen of heaven.

Some curious shapes are depicted on the front of the charico. In the centre we recognise the two human sexual organs united. They rest within each other like the positive and the negative pole at the seventh day God ended his work which he had made; and he rested on the seventh "day" from all his work which he had made: (Cenesis 12: -13) In the Bible 'day' means consciousness and 'night' the unconscious. And the number 9 is the number of this card. The search philosophy of China

64

represents this divine, neutral state of the two poles 'resting within themselves' by Yang and Yin.



This representation of the sexual organs in the picture is framed by a narrow oval vellow band. We understand from this that the conqueror who chose the right path on the sixth tarot card already knows intuitively as well as intellectually that the two sexes are in fact but one. They are the two halves of the divine WHOLE, Man, as a spiritual being, should therefore unite the two halves in himself at a high level of consciousness if he wants to be the 'whole'. In the body he can belong to the positive or the negative pole; in the spirit he contains both these poles and is androgynous. What is in his head, however what he understands - is still far from realisation. Yet realisation has to begin with understanding. Then that which has been understood filters out of the intellect into the being. John says: 'And the Word was made flesh'; thus we gradually become that which previously we had merely understood. The person at this level of consciousness understands the unity of the two halves, but he is still only one half and not the WHOLE. He does not yet experience the WHOLE in a state of being.

Above this figure we recognise the Egyptian symbol of Logos, of the creative principle, which races through the universe creating and animating all things. It is the simplified shape of the Houra falcon, a red circle with large wings on citcher side. Therefore the spirit stands above separations: it is spicitual level is also a unity in his constiousness. In his spirit estable we have a set to hear hear hear hear hear hear We are familiar with the black sphina from zurot card a. There here was seared next to the high pricess's throne. The white sphiro was then still invisible. At the level of consciousness of the high prisenses may hear own of the and and the laws of that world. Now he already knows both sides, the right and the left, the spiritual and the material world. They are no longer mysterise to him. If we examine the two sphitness, we realise that they are not two spinituses at all, but one sphints image to the spinitual-divine world. What I are and what I an are always diametrically opposed. If we stand opposite somone, we see his right hand on the side of our left hand and at the same time his left hand on the side of our right hand. Therfore, what I are, I cannot 6, and what I an I cannot zee. No artists can paint his self-portrait, for he can never see himself. He can see and pain only his reference linger, that is not himself it is not how he is in reality. His right side is on the left, and his left side is on the right side of the reflection!

This is true of everything, but for the moment we shall confne our attention to the example of writing only. When I look at the letter E it stands from left to right. If, however, I reverse hostion, from right to left. If however, I reverse position, from right to left. In our modern Western culture, after the fall from Paradise, we read and write from left to right. Yet there are still peoples who have preserved their style of writing from primeval times, from a state of being, and who read and vrite from right to left. The Jews are such a nation. They transmit the state of being to the paper and read and write from right to left.

The white splinx symbolises the state of being and the black splinx the state of the fall from Paradise. They try to go in opposite directions, but in so doing achieve only the onward movement of the chariot as the resultant of the opposed energies.

The conqueror understands this truth and he sees and is the two sphinxes. He already knows the difference between the fallen state and the divine state of being, even if he is not yet always able to hold out in that state. He still falls, he projects himself again and again outwardly. Human frailip will draws him out of it; he has not yet been able to conquer it entirely. Nevertheless, he is on the homeward path, Jurt as the conqueror stands self-assured and self-confident in hit chariot, so at this level man also acquires these characteristics. He begins to know hits own powers, but he has already reached the stage where he knows, and does not forget, that all these powers are not his but belong to God. He now knows that without corp he is nothing, that he receives all his abilities and talents from the single primal source of all powers. Everything that lives merely receives vial energy, abilities and ratens. Michelangelo, Besthoven and other titans did not derive these powers from themselves: they all received them from God.

Man does not possess his own vital energy, abilities and talents. He obtains everything from God. Once he realises that, he loses his previous arrogance and egocentric perspective which could only grow from his ignorance, and he becomes modest. He knows that he is only the person, only a loudspeaker of God. In antiquity, 'persona' was the name given to the mask worn by players to let their voices 'come through'. Man lets God's voice come through himself. At the same time, however, he begins to feel that GOD loves and guides him, because GOD still has plans for him. For that very reason GOD bestows upon him abilities and talents, because HE intends to use him as a chosen instrument of manifestation. Man feels then that he is a child of God and always tries to do His will. He already knows that self-confidence is confidence in God! He knows that what is good in himself is GOD, and that what is imperfect in him is so because now and then he manifests his person and not GOD. He therefore tries to develop still further in order to become an even more effective loudspeaker of God. The greater his awareness of the futility of his person, the greater his self-confidence, because he feels that he is only the persona', the 'mask' of God, and that God speaks, instructs and loves all men through him. Thus he becomes an ever more efficient bearer of the divine powers. He notices that his words and deeds acquire a suggestive power over his fellow-men. He uses this power to help others. People notice his superiority. Whatever he desires in his higher Self, he is able to carry out. He becomes a conqueror everywhere.

This time is a triumphal procession for man. He has won the great struggle at the parting of the ways. Now there are no more struggles and he cannot imagine that more and much harder struggles might be in store for him in the future. At this stage he rests on his laurels and believes that from now on the path will always lead upwards without great exertions on his part. He is satisfied with himself and with the world. He sees everything in an optimistic light and his fortune, too, brings him wide recognition and honour. Those people who do not yet know the vital sources from which he draws his energy admire him. They become his friends and want to learn from him. The difference between him and average men is not yet so great that they cannot understand him. Thus he is successful with his teachings and, in addition to his professional work, he takes time to occupy himself with his fellow-men. Everywhere he reaps recognition, love and honour

Thus at this level man ends the first cycle of his development which is represented by the first seven tarot cards. At the same time, however, this level is also the beginning of a new cycle which starts with card 7 and ends with card 13. At this level of consciousness, therefore, man is at the end of the past and at the beginning of the future cycle of his development.

The tarot card 7 carries the number 7 and the letter ZAIN.

The number 7 is the most important number at our earthyl level. Everything that is a unity here on earth breaks up into seven components. The Bible says that the seven souls of Go animate the world and that the Creation consists of seven spheres of creation. In the Revelation of \$ John we read that the Lamb, the creative principle, Logos, has seven horns, which symbolise the seven creative powers. In the Cabbia and in the Indian Vedana philosophy we find the same assertions and the seven levels are listed in the same manner: the material-physical, the vegenative, the animal, the menual, the causal, the divine-spiritual and the divine-creative. One of the greatest initiates of the West, Pancelsus, asserted the same truth. The highest product of creation on earth - man - consists of seven levels. Countryfold have a saying: 'Man has seven skins.' The Bible lists many more instances: the seven fac cows and the seven lean cows' denote the seven fac years and the seven lean own denote the seven fac years and the seven lean years. And in heaven Ged gave a sign of his coverant with Noal: the rainbow made up of seven colours. The hammen seven is the grafter to be seven, back or the seven hild on which Rome was built and the seven heads of the dragon in fairy-tailes are all evidence of the graft ruth that the key number of the material words is 7.

Geometry also reveals the importance of the number 7. Every circle contains 7 smaller circles whose diameter measures exactly one third of the diameter of the large circle:



And in the three dimensions the number  $r_1$  is most significant: if the non-dimensional point moves from the unmanifested into manifestation, becoming a line in the first dimension, it contains three factors - the point of origin, the terminal point and the interval between the two. If the line continues to manifest itself with the same energy and apped in the second dimension, the area is created - the square with five factors. It has four sides and, as the fifth factor, the interval area continues to manifest itself in the third dimension, the area continues to manifest itself in the third dimension, the seventh factor, the volume. The number  $r_3$  is therefore the key number of the three-dimensional world, John, too, speaks in Revelation of the new holy resulter, which is the Lamb's wife 'And the civy lieth foursquare, and the length is as large as the breadth: and he measured the city with the reed, twelve thousand furlongs. The length and the breadth and the height of it are equal.' (Rev. 21: 16) Thus we see that the new Jerusalem is a cude!



The number  $\gamma$  also has a special relationship to the letters of the alphabet. If we mark the circumference of a circle with seven equidistant points, and join these up without retracing a line, we obtain eacedly treenty-one links with the centre, therefore reventy-two factors. And our alphabet comprise exactly reventy-we factors. And our alphabet comprise exactly reventy-two factors. And ou



The letter ZAIN means: 'victory in all worlds'. It corresponds to the seventh sefirah, Netsah, which means endurance.

### Tarot Card 8

# JUSTICE

Number: 8

#### Letter: IT CHETH

Here again we see the queen of heaven in new attire and with different articulars. She still wares the crown but under it is a red cap. This shows that she now has to work very hard with her spirit. She penetrates everything with the dot in the centre is the symbol of self-confidence. Now the queen of heaven has no wings. She does not need them; she no longer files in boundless heaven but has climbed down to earth – into the world of activity – in order to dispats.

She is seated upon a mighty throne which provides her with a stable basis. On the back of the throne there are eight yellow buttons - four to the right and four to the left - on a red background. They symbolise the number 8, the number of this tarot card. The number is also formed by placing one of the round scales on top of the other.

Her attire is rich in colours. The upper part of her bodice is red with a white border, the lower part is blue, which is also the colour of the lower half of her sleeves. She wears a red skirt, and over it an azure cloak with a green lining draped on her kness. As we know, red is invariably the symbol of spirituality, and blue the symbol of pure faith. The white border stands for the manifestation of the spirit through purity, the green lining for sympathy and benevolence to all living creatures. The upper half of her sleeves is made of yellow and green stripes revealing that she acts with benevolent intentions and wisdom.

In her right hand alse holds a long sword, developed from the earlier scopers. She rules no longer with her scoptre but with the sword of strife. She needs a weapon with which to enforce her decisions and judgement intresistibly and immunably. She often has to dispose of weighty problems with her sword as Alexander the Great had done with the Grödien knot. At the same time this sword is the queer's power of discrimination enabling her to expanse in the sheep from the goass. The sword is the discerminent with which justice, having weighed every hought, word and doing the imguinter him from the from hand the queen of heaven holds a pir of scales which the uses to weigh everything that ences the sphere. The great question is whether the finds a thing too heavy or too light, accordingly keeping it or letting it fail.

Having attained self-confidence at the level of the conqueror, man must finally, at the level of justice, establish order in his inner being. Until now he has directed his attention outwards and cast the impressions of life, without examining whether they were right or wrong, partly into his inner being, partly into his unconscious, as if into a large vessel. Now he has reached the stage where he must create order in himself. He fetches up memories from his unconscious to his conscious mind, and weighs the smallest impressions to find out whether they deserve to be absorbed or whether they must first be digested. He must create a balance for everything he bears within in order to find the absolute equilibrium in himself. If he discovers painful memories which still hurt him, he must find an explanation to balance out these memories so that he now sees them only as instructive experiences. He can even be pleased about them, because these painful experiences

#### JUSTICE

helped him to make great progress. He raises the image of all his friends and foes to his consciousness and tries to find out why he feels friendly towards one and hostile towards another. This kind of inner work can yield strange results. It was often precisely through his enemies rather than through his friends who were perhaps not his real friends at all - that he learned and experienced and became more shrewd, prudent and wise. His enemies did not spare him, they often told him the objective truth to his face. His friends, on the other hand, did not want to hurt him and, purely out of false consideration and love. passed over his obvious mistakes in silence. Yet he will also find that he has had some real, true friends in his life, who also told him his mistakes or errors to his face, but nevertheless always stood by him. He now appreciates these true friends more than ever and will henceforth cherish them in his heart, in his grateful soul.

In the course of this work on himself in his inner being, something strange happens to him in the outer world. Previously, at the level of consciousness of tarot card 7, he was generally admired ; many people came to him to ask his advice. Many came to question him about inner, spiritual matters, Many wanted to learn from him. Thus at that time he was like a magnet surrounded by seekers. Now that he has become uncompromising with himself as well as with others, the number of those who ask his advice, who want to hear his truths and learn from him, has significantly decreased. At the seventh level he had not vet learned discretion, nor did he know that one must not freely impart each and every truth to immature men. Thus many people found him hard, devoid of understanding and unfeeling. Instead of prudently keeping silence, he grew less forbearing and stated his views unsparingly. This uncompromising frankness caused a certain estrangement between himself and those who could not fully understand him and the motives for his actions. The more skilled he grew at distinguishing the right from the wrong, the fewer were those who admired him and who were always in agreement with him. Of his once large circle there remained but a few like-mided friends. In addition to this, he had weighed up everything in himself, recognised and realised his previously unobserved mistakes. That is why he grew more modest and felt less superior to others. Many had misunderstood this: his new modesty, growing out of his objectivity, the very sign of his inner greatness, they exploited in order to criticise and belieu him. Now, however, in his present sate of consciounness, recognition by others is no longer as important to him as it used to be. His vanity had dwindled to such acknowledgement and praise of the circle around him. Thus he continues along the chosen path and goes on working *in* and on *kinnelf.* 

Man therefore creases a general order within himself, tries to weigh up everything correctly and to perceive the true value of his experiences. He proceeds systematically and with method, and out of the chaos which formerly prevailed in him he establishes a divine order. He registers all his experiences up to the present time and allous to each of them its proper place according to its true weight in his inner being. All that he has ever done or fell undone he subjects to a merciless rectioning. And he realizes that he should have done many things he did do. He continues to weigh things up: 'That was the right thing to do, but I should not have done that.' He makes an irrevocable decision :'Next time I shall do everything much, much bettert May Cod grant me the opportunity or do so!'

Tarot card 8 carries the number 8 and the letter CHETH.

The number 8 is the self-reflecting and thereby self-duplicating divine circle, the symbol of the eternal spirit. If we place the circle on a mirror, we see the number 8. The spirit, the only absolute reality, is reflected in the material world of visions. It manifests itself in the material, subjectively real, and therefore transient, world. In Creation this process is without beginning or end, it is endless, and for thar reason mathematicans have chosen this signs as the symbol of infinity. They draw it in a horizonal position so that we know it is not an ordinary 8. Just as the 8 runs on in itself from one circle over into another and in the same direction into infinity, so man circles out of his unconscious mit oconsciousness, bringing out of the former into the latter long-since-forgorten and possibly represented experiences. He weighs up the rentieved experiences, registers and judges them, until, out of the chase, has a created order in his inner being. He learns that everything he aparently experiences in the external world, thus his rentife fare, does not come from outside but exists within himself. If he does not like his fare, then he must change himself. Fare will then this mexperience to be time, the will like.

In Greek mythology we are told the beautiful story of Narcissus. He caught night of himself in the reflecting water and since he did not know that he himself was this beautiful image, he returned time and again to the water to look at the handoom stranger. Thus it is with man and his fast in the external world. He does not know that it is only a reflection of his Salf, of his spirit. Therefore: the number is the reflection of the eternal spirit in the world of visions, in the imaginary world, in the material world.

In the Cabbala, the letter CHETH corresponds to the eighth sefirah: Hod means praise and splendour.

### Tarot Card 9

# THE HERMIT

Number: 9

#### Letter : D TETH

Having created inner order out of the choss and arranged all the real and false values in his inner being in their proper order, man withdraws from the 'fars morggan' of this world and becomes a recluss. However, this does not indicate by any means that at this level of consciousness he actually withdraws to a londy cave. The picture is merely a symbolic representtion of his inner state, but not of his ourward appearance in the world of visions. He continues to fulfih his duites at work and in everyday life, to wear conventional clothes and to behave as his fellow-men behave.

In the picture we see a man who, with his white beard and moustache, shows that he has finished with all outward appearances and above all has completely renounced vanity.

To those who behold him only from the outside, the hermit shows his dark grey cloak which, when he uses the hood, covers even his head. This cloak, however, is lined in a beautiful aure blue. This reveals that underneach the colourless manifestation and his drab outward appearance, he has a very deep, true belief in God. Under the cloak he wars an orangecoloured robe. Orange results from mixing red and yellow, pairituality and Intelligence, which together constitute divine wisdom. In his inmost being there no longer exists any earthly quality; he has grown wise and all feelings of sympathy or antipathy, love or aversion, are dominated by his divine wisdom.

In his left hand he holds a stick; it is not a magic wand with which he could work miracles, nor is it a sceptre, symbol of rulership, nor a sword, symbol of courage and the power of discrimination; it is a simple walking-stick which helps him to make progress.

In his right hand he holds aloft a simple lantern. It is nothing other than the light of his intellect with with he lumines his path in the darkness in order not to lose his way. He holds the lantern in such a manner that he alone sees its light. He hides the small lamp from the eyes of others with his loose clock. Formerly, he passed on all the free hinsingits and truths he had found himself to other seekers. He slowly began to realize, however, that few people understood him and that it was best if he kept his newly discovered truths for himself. Therefore he no longer freely shows the hight of his intellect and knowledge to other people, only to his intimate friends. He has learned to keep ulace!

Before him, on the ground, we see a strange creature, a small monster. It is red in colour and thus denotes a spiritual manifestation. It symbolises man's healthy instincts which act from his unconscious and with the help of his reason lead him unerringly to the right path. These instincts cause the strange 'coincidences' in his life which invariably indicate exactly the direction he should take, the people he should trust or distrust and with whom he should associate only with the greatest caution, if he must associate with shady characters at all. This small monster, his healthy instincts, will always put into his hands just the right books where he may find the truths to guide him to maturity; it will also enable him to hear the voice of God through the tongues of man. This small monster saves him a great deal of unnecessary wandering about and unerringly leads him ever closer to the great goal. One day he also recognises himself in this creature, in his own instincts.

When man has reached this level of consciousness, he suddenly fest the unge to leve everything and to go away. He has perceived that the value of the affairs of this world lise only in what he may learn from them. Yet conce he knows the goal we have ultimately to attain, why should he then still continue to participate in the affairs of this world? His professional work no longer offers him satisfaction, indeed it suddenly appears to him fuile and useless. Why then go on? He already knows that family relationships and ties of friendship are transient and lass roly as long as he remains in this world.

When the time comes for him to leave earthly things behind. he takes with him only that which is eternal. All things pass, only one thing remains: true spiritual togetherness and love. But that, too, he can take with him even if, while still in this life, he leaves everything behind and goes away. He finds everything here a burden, he does not want to waste any more time, he would like to live only for the essence of life and to work only in and on himself, in order to experience unity with GOD. In other words he would like to go away! - Yes! But where? - To Tibet - or now that Tibet is out of the question for this purpose, to India, or Athos, the legendary Greek monastery? Deep down inside he is seized by an irresistible longing to be free, free from all that ties and enslaves him. And he already begins secretly to make plans. He tries to imagine what it will be like if he goes away - leaves here and arrives but where? - It is so easy to imagine leaving, but that implies at the same time that one must also arrive somewhere! And where will that be, where will he arrive and how? A monastery? - Will he be able to be free there? - No! There he will really have to obey blindly, even more than before, and what is more, he may have one or more superiors who belong to another world, who are total strangers to him and completely unable to understand him. He has to keep company with people he does not like and who may have highly unpleasant habits. And he must keep quiet and obey, whether he likes it 07 001
-

If he does not enter a monastery, but behaves like the Indians who lead a nomadic existence or retreat to a cave, what then? - What will he eat, for eat he must. Will he go begging? No. definitely not! He could, however, work somewhere, make himself useful, perhaps with lepers? He certainly could, and indeed many try it, but many more know in advance what he already knows too, namely, that out there in Asia he will be even more enslaved than before. He would have still less chance of living for what he would like to live for, than if he were simply to stay at home where the milkman comes every day and his home exudes the warmth of central heating. And if furthermore he has a family, yet still goes away, he will have such a guilty conscience about these loved ones that he will never be able to forgive himself. How then could he feel free? Therefore, the very best thing will be if he stays at home and, instead of tending lepers, adopts the same attitude of selfsacrifice which would have been necessary for that task, continuing to fulfil his own duties at work with full concentration and devotion. And thus man arrives at the truth that this 'going away' which he sought, should take place not in the external world, but in himself. He wants to and must escape from himself, from his own inner perspective and inner enslavement. He is not enslaved by other people, but by himself. For if he feels enslaved here, he will take this feeling wherever he may go. If, however, he feels free in the midst of his family and at work, then he will take this freedom wherever he may go. What is the point then in going away? He knows that there have been many people who actually did 'go away', who really lived in a Tibetan or Indian monastery or with a great master. Yet they found exactly the same truths in those places as they can find here, in their present surroundings, if only they are ready for them. God leads men on different paths, but on each of these individual paths we all attain exactly the same great goal : GOD!

We see, therefore, that it is the destiny of such a man, as yet, not to walk away from everything. Thus he remains where he is and tries inwardly to break away from his surroundings and his personal world and to obtain inner liberation.

And his dress? — Oh! How he has longed to be free of fabion, from vario outward appearances! For he realises that what we wear is of no importance. One can be a hermit and yet wear the same clobles as other people. In a monastery, too, one has to wear the regulation clothes like the other monstaherefore also conform to 'fashino'! And what about the Indians who do not live in a monastery? — We can be free of all these things, whether wearing European dress or wandering down a main road in India clad in rags, if we are inwardly free from them. For instance, if a young woman is a zwe nun in her being, she can even attend balls in a low-necked evening dress a man end ress fashionably, join in the laughter of others and yet be a true reclus, because she is *os in herdfl*. And likewise a man end ress fashionably, join in the laughter of others and yet be a true menk is *himsdfl*.

At this level of consciousness man therefore withdraws into himself, continuest to work on himself and tries to break away and find release from everything. He renounces the importance of his person, he renonnecs ambition and no longer seeks to draw attention to himself in the external world or to get abead in itself. As man or woman he tries to perform his tasks as here to be a set of the himself has information of the set ion. Now he does not work for himself, has infor the adder of work. In the course of this he experiences unsuppered and unloped-for new joys. Work begins to become ender to to make a lot of money, but in order to achieve perfection.

Meanwhile, he completely forgets himself and all his troubles; in concentrating on his work he forgets all the disappointments of his life and all that has hurt him in the past. He discovers that he has become free through nothing ohter than work alone, and he experiences great self-massending joys. Now he understands why Asian as well as European monks and naus have to work in their communities. In the garden, in the kitchen or in the library, they have to work for the sake of work, in order to become free through work. But we can do that at home, too; we do not need to leave our family and friends for that.

The ninth tarot card carries the number 9 and the letter TETH.

In numerology the meaning of the number 9 is absolute passivity. Thus the hermit is also completely passive within himself. He has become totally detached and does not participate in worldly activities. If he performs his everyday duties at this level of consciousness, his motives are uterly unselfsh.

The number p has several strange qualities. For instance, if we add it to another number, whether high of tow, this will not change the sum of the digits. Let us take as our first scample the low number 17. The sum of the digits is 8. If we add 9 to 17 the result is 36. Again, the sum of the digits is is 13, by numerological reduction, y. If we now add 9 to 43; the result is 44. The sum of the digits is again 12 and 37 expectively. If we add any number to the number 9, the sum of the digits always remains constant. The number 9 shows another strange characteristic if we conduct the following experiment: make a vertical list of the numbers from to 19, how list the same sequence of numbers in reverse and put the two rows together:

0	9	<b>o</b> 9
1	8 7	18
1	7	27
3	6	36
4	5	45
5	4	54
4 5 6 7 8 9	4 3 2 1	27 36 45 54 63 72 81
7	2	72
8	1	
9	0	90

What have we obtained? The result of the multiplication of the number 9 from one to ten. And if we add these numbers together the sum of the digits is invariably the number 9:

```
Thus: 1 \times 9 = 9 = 9

2 \times 9 = 18 = 9

3 \times 9 = 17 = 9

4 \times 9 = 36 = 9

5 \times 9 = 45 = 9

6 \times 9 = 54 = 9

7 \times 9 = 63 = 9

8 \times 9 = 72 = 9

9 \times 9 = 18 = 9

10 \times 9 = 90 = 9
```

And yet another highly interesting quality of this number: make a vertical list of numbers starting each time with 1 and add the next number in each consecutive row. If we multiply these numbers by 9 and add the numbers from 1 to 10 to each sequence, we obtain the following strange results:

I could mention further very interesting characteristics of the number 9, but that would lead us away from our subject. I merely wished to show that the number 9 is an unusually interesting and significant number. It destroys itself, yet

82

continues to exist. With such qualities this number corresponds exactly to the level of consciousness of the 'hermit', because it invariably remains itself. If anyone takes these remarkable characteristics of the number 9 as a matter of course, he is advised to try these experiments with another numbers. He will then see the great difference between the numbers.

In hieroglyphics the letter TETH represents the idea of protection and safety. TETH denotes the guardian angels who guide men from their birth onwards. It corresponds to the ninth sefrah, Yesod, which means foundation, wisdom.

### Tarot Card 10

# THE WHEEL OF FORTUNE

Number: 10

Letter: Yop

In this picture we see a strange wheel in a small boat affoat on the waves. The boat consists of two half-moons, not is positivered, the other negative-green. A sturdy grey pole stands in the boat and round its base coil two serpenns, one positive-red, the other negative-green. A large wheel is attached to the top of the pole. At the point where the wheel is fixed to the pole, thus on the axis of the wheel, there is a handle. From this we see that the wheel is being turned. The wheel consists of two circles: the outer, larger one is red, the inner, smaller one, blue. The red one signifies spiritually, the blue one, deep faith in God. The spokes of the wheel are yellow, therefore the two wheels are sustained by intelligence and intellectual power.

Two strange creatures cling to the wheel. One of them looks like an animal, a dog with a human body. Its head and long mane are yellow, its body is blue. It wears a yellow sash round its belly, the loose part of it fluttering out behind him. In its hand it holds the 'Hermes staft'.

The other creature on the wheel is a devil with a Neptune's trident in his hand. Instead of feet, he has fins like a Triton. This shows that he is connected with the element 'water'. His head is a nondescript dark colour, his body is green. He, too, wears a sash round his belly: its colour matches his head and the loose part flutters out behind him. From this part of the sash we see that the wheel is being turned in an anti-clockwise direction by some invisible agent.

Above the wheel a sphine site on a yellow board. In her, all four elements are represented. Her had is read, her headdress red and white-striped. Therefore her head belongs to the element "fmt". Her wings are blue and thus denote the element "ar'. She has be ody of a lion; he upper part is green and belongs to the element "arth". The ign of her all is red like her head, thus again fiery. The sphirx has lion? paws; in her right front paw he holds a altor sword.

What does this strange picture mean?

It shows the human state of consciousness following upon the ninth level of consciousness, symbolised by the picture 'Hermit', where, in his inmost being, man withdraws from the 'world' and breaks away from all his personal concerns. It is only outwardly that he plays his part in the ups and downs of life, inwardly he is screne and free. Not without a hard struggle he has cut himself off not only from the 'world', but also from his entire destiny. He now knows that he cannot run away from the problems he has to solve because they go with him. He would take the problems with him and acquire new ones in addition, which would always demand the same answer of him. Now he has reached the stage where he sheds all his inescapable problems as a snake sheds its skin. The answer, therefore, to his outward destiny in this world was not to leave his family and work, but rather, to learn and gain experience from these. Thus he had to cope with all the difficulties of life from which he would have liked so much to escape. When he has learned what he had to learn, he will have new and more sophisticated work and more intricate problems to solve, in order to learn yet further truths and gain fresh experience. Now he no longer wants to run away from his present situation, work and duties but to learn as much as possible from them. He consciously looks for what these circumstances can still teach him and what spiritual and intellectual advanage he may derive from them. In the course of this he does not notice that a gradual change is taking place around him because, in the first instance, it does not occur from the outside, but in himself. His *reaction* to everyching that happens to him has changed. In his inner world he is a true *kernit*.

In the external world no one notices anything of this. Things are still the same, his life seems to contoure as before. For the time being, the difference is that he begins to look at everything, his whole life on easih, from above, just as the sphirst looks down on everything. He continues to free himself inwardly from all that has test ide him in the past at and allows his person to act like an implement without himself being touched by it. He perceives the solutions of his problem only rationally, he does not participate in them heart and soul. He regards all a superior position like the phirin above parts where for tune, who symbolizes his higher Self and looks on imparially at what happens. She holds the veroud in her 'gaw', ready to strike and obtain what she wants if anything should happen against her will.

In this state of consciousness man no longer swims himself in the ocean of this, but esh himself be carried along on the waves in a boat. In the picture this boat consists of two halfmoons. As in the picture of the queen of haven, the moon stands for man's emotions. He has already become spiritual, loving and understanding. This is shown by the red and green of the half-moons. The red and blue circles also denote that be judges things first from an intellectual and only afterwards from an emotional point of view. The yellow spokes stand for the powers of intellect, which dominate in his present state.

The vertical pole supporting the wheel of fortune and the two serpents coiling round it are nothing else but an extended Hermes staff, the symbol of man, going back to the great Chaldean mystic, Hermes Trismegistos. This staff, as depicted in the hand of the creature, has two wings at the top and is surmounted by a small ball. The staff symbolises the human spine, the ball denotes man's reason, and the two wings his spirit hovering up above. Two serpents twine round the staff. They cross at several points and keep each other in check. There is tension between them. The serpents symbolise the two great vital currents in man. In the Indian Vedanta philosophy they are known as the two main channels of lite: Ida and Pingala Nadi. Pingala, the red serpent, passes on the right side, Ida, the green serpent, on the left side of the spine. The central canal in the spine is called Sushumna Nadi. The wheel in the picture signifies man's fate, which he himself has shaped and which revolves around his Self like the planets around the sun. His two great instincts revolve with his earthly-material person. These are the instinct of self-preservation and the instinct of preservation of the species, over which he has not yet attained complete mastery. The instinct of self-preservation is symbolised in the picture by an animal, since it is the 'animal in us', as Paracelsus termed it. This controls our mortal bodies and thus, too, our physical health. That is why the animal creature holds the Hermes staff with the three currents of life. This instinct governs the body from within and endows us with the ability as well as the urge to keep our bodies healthy, to eat, drink and act in the interest of our health. This is true at least in the case of healthy people, if they have not yet destroyed their healthy instincts with various addictions.

The insuinct of preservation of the species is symbolised in the picture by a devil who works with the body-fluids through which life is transmitted. This devil is here the symbol of the unconscious, sexual, purely animal instinct in man, which has nothing to do with love.

These two instincts are active only in the body, in our eardhy person, but not in our spirit, since they are the physical manifestation of the spirit. The same thing cannot be in two places at once. Divine-creative power manifests itself either in the spirit as creative power, or in the body as sexual energy, A this kevel of consciounses man is already spiritually aware, but has not yer been able to convert the two instincts. Nevertheless, he already dominates the with his resson, just as the sphira: in the picture dominates everything and determines from above what should happen in the body, in one's own person. Man already rules in his realm. As the Upanishads so apily put it:

He who, dwelling in the earth, yet is other than the earth, whom the earth does not know, whose body the earth is, who controls the earth from within - He is your Soul, the Inner Controller, the Immortal.

As in the Bible, earth in this context means the body, the person composed of earthly powers. It does not know the spirit, the Self, the Immortal – but the spirit, the Self, the Immortal knows the Mortal, the person – and governs it from within, from the unconscious.

This card carries the number 10 and the letter YOD. (In our alphabet, I.)

The number 10 is the number of fulfilment, the perfection of creation. The boundless circle, the cipher, which at the same time forms the letter O, symbolises the universe, boundless space, the maternal aspect of God. In itself it is the absolute nothingness that is ready, however, to give birth to everything and to take it all back again and absorb it into itself. The cipher becomes a number only when it is preceded by any of the other nine numbers. The number one and the letter yop (our I) are identical. They are the first original manifestation of God. All ensuing numbers and letters originate from this primal festation. It is the fecundity of God, Logos, the creative principle which creates countless worlds and living creatures in the great and boundless cipher, in infinite space. In the number 10 creation reaches perfection and fulfilment. The masculine-positive, creative principle of God has penetrated and fertilised space, the negative, maternal aspect, and has become one with it.

88

The number 10, correctly depicted, is a circle containing the fertilising, positive-creative power of God:



The picture of the wheel of fortune also represents the number 10. The wheel is the cipher and the pole supporting the wheel is the number 1. This number 1 is, however, identical with the letter YOD or I.

In the Hebrew alphabet, as in every other, all the letters derive from the one YOD or L Hebrew letters are letters of fire. Each character is a combination of flames. Yod is the very first flame of the divine fire, of the spirit of God. All other flame formations - the letters - proceed from this first flame. Just as the number one is the first number from which all further numbers spring forth, so the letter yod is the first letter, the first flame from the spirit God, from which all further letters are derived and formed. At the level of consciousness of the wheel of fortune man must penetrate to the depths, the roots of his being, from where, endowed with a new perspective, he must find a new direction and follow a new path. Just as on tarot card 1 the 'Magician' with the number one and the letter aleph was the beginning, so now, at the level of the wheel of fortune, at which the number one is linked with the boundless cipher, he will again be the beginning at a higher level. From now on he will no longer move in single figures, but coupled with the cipher, symbol of the universe, he will advance by ten at a time. Now he is not an isolated, personal being, but begins to become a part of the universe - hence the cipher.

The tenth seftrah is Malkhuth and means kingdom. This tarot card marks the end of the seftrath sequence.

Tarot card 10 complements tarot card 9. Together they make 19, which by cabbalistic reduction again leads to the number 1:10+9 = 19, 1+9 = 10 = 1.

#### Tarot Card 11

## POWER

Numerical Value: 20

Letter : > KAPH

Again we see the queen of heaven with her fair hair and golden crown. Now, however, her crown has five points. These symbolise the creative number of the Logos. Under her crown has wears a har which, like the maggican's hat, is really the sign used to denote infinity. This shows again that the rowns of the bauufild woman is infinite, that it is sustained by infinity. The right side of her hat is richly lined with golden laurel leaves as a sign of victory. The brim of the hat has a red border on the lower right extending all the way along on top. On the inner left side the border is green.

The yellow of the crown and of the inner side of the hat show that she manifersa herself through her intelligence, through her reason. Her forearms are also yellow, therefore she acts with wisdom and not without goodwill an dunder tanding. Her goodwill is shown by the green of the wide upper part of her sleeves and of the cuffs. She wears an azure dress with a red bit gathering it in and over it a full red cloak. The azure dress is the symbol of pure faith and trust in God. But faith and encions are watched over and governed by the spirit. The full red cloak hanging loosely and open from the woman's shoulders symbolises the ever ready and alert spirit. enveloping her whole being so that no one may see and perhaps unnecessarily exploit her gentle and loving inner nature.

Beside her is a mighty lion with huge paws. His mouth is wide open, because the woman's gentle hands open his jaws and hold them gart. The lion has strong teeth, but he cannot bite the woman's hands because she holds his mouth open with insuperable strength. She does not even have to exert herself. She has such great strength that she controls the mighty lion easily and without effort.

What is the power that is so much greater than the strength of the mightiest of beasts?

This power, the strongest in the world, is the all-overwhelming, all-conquering power of LOVE.

The man who, to become superior like the sphinx, has struggled with his destiny at the tenth level of consciousness of the wheel of fortune has learned a great deal in this conflict even things which were not really directly related to his destiny. Yet without these experiences he would never have been able to come to terms with his fate. He had to learn to be totally objective towards his fellow-men, to think and feel objectively, otherwise he would have been unable to solve his daily problems, even those of everyday life. But how could he suddenly have adopted an objective point of view? Only one method, but a very effective one, could lead him to this. He had to learn to imagine himself in the place of his opponent. thereby adopting and accepting the standpoint of the other person. Suddenly the whole matter appeared to him in an entirely different light. As a result he was no longer upset or worried about it. He considered the whole problem calmly and OBJECTIVELY and soon found the answer.

At first, this method of putting oneself in the other person's place was governed by reason. If anything happened to upset him, he consciously took a deep breach and thought something like this: 'Just keep calm, don't get excited! Let me try to put myself in the place of the person whose point of view I cannot at the moment accept, then we shall see where the truth lice; which of us is right.' And then, in his imagination, he really, quite consciously, 'changed places', And behold, the objectivity was there at once, he could see the matter and reason it out from an objective viewpoint and settle the whole affair to everyone's satisfaction. Then, as time went by, he needed this rational approach less and less. He no longer had to take a deep breath to calm his fraved and fretting, ever-excitable nerves, Now they very guickly acquired the calm ordered by his reason. And when again a situation arose where he had to put himself in the other person's place, his method won him immediate success. He did not first have to calm himself and then become objective; he could remain composed from the start and there and then quietly take control of the situation. As a consequence of this, everyone around him admired him for his imperturbable composure and began to emulate it. People again came to seek his advice in all kinds of matters. But he has already learned to keep silent at the level of the 'Hermit'. Therefore he no longer reveals his high inner truths to immuture men. He is also careful not to 'cast his pearls before swine', as it says in the Bible, but rather, in the words of the Apostle Paul, he has learned 'to speak with tongues'. He no longer wishes that people understand him, rather, he begins to understand them. He tries to speak with the tongues of others. And suddenly he notices that people begin to interest him, the way they live, how they shape their destiny. Interest in something, however, leads to affection for it. Yet this has not come about by an act of will. It has happened of its own accord, he has to admit that love is independent of our will. Either we love or we do not love. It does not depend on us. One day, whether he wanted to or not, he came to love his fellow-men. At first he had done so out of an inner urge and acted 'as if' out of love. Gradually, however, as his understanding for people grew, he could stop behaving 'as if' he acted out of love; instead, the love and the interest were really there. The strange thing is that he now recognises himself in each person, even in the most primitive man at the lowest level. He is now fully aware that he, too, was once just as primitive and low. In the surgages of others he has perceived his own initial conflicts and has been overcome by sympathy and understanding for his fallow-men. Through other people he has also gained in self-knowledge. Each person is like himsuff, each one is his own reflected image, often even his cartenture, yet still essentially himself. Low is the inner urge for nombras and he begins to low emerging, show how the robling to do with the low level of low, sexuality. It exists only in the hart and has its source in spiritual concens. This love is the greatest power in the world. Love is life, love is status. And etermal batton is concell.

Anyone who bears rue love in his heart does not need to wera a constant smile on his face. Love is not semimentality, nor a matter of 'feeling good'. Love never needs demonstration. Those of us who possess it will prove it by deeds, but we shall never swart to prove it. Love must simply he mittas as the inner motive for our actions. The sun does not have to will the radiation of light and warmh; it simply radiates light and warmh. Thus the person who has reached the eleventh level of consciousness radiates love and warmth through which he conquers all living creatures, the whole world. Yes, even the king of animals, the mighty lion! We all know this lion form our dreams. As in dreams, the lion depice there symboliess the great powers of the body and the rwo great intaines manifesing themselves through the body.

While the lion in this picture is already dominated, he is not yet fully vanquished. The beautiful woman still has to hold him, she must not let go. But the lion is already governed by the very strongest manifestation and power of the spirit, he is governed by LOVE.

Tarot card 11 carries the total of the digits of the number 11, thus the number 2, and the 0 symbolising boundless space, thus the number 20, and the letter KAPH. Until now we had only one-figure numbers. After the first ten we have double figures which are added together according to the cabbalistic method in order to obtain the sum of the digits. In the case of the number 1 it is a, which can never occur in a unit. Like the number 2, the number 20 is also a duplication because the o does not count in cabbalistic reduction. And so *kaph* is also a double letter in the Hebrew alphabet.

The picture rowran illustrates two factors: the conquered and the conquered. The conquereor is the beautiful woman, symbol of the greatest power, love. Her conquest is the lion, symbol of the two great instincts of the body and of its resistnce against the spirit. We can also call these factors power and viality. Both are equally important, but the power of the spirit, love, must govern the viality of the body.

The letter RAPH corresponds to the name Chabir (the mighty one) and designates the 'first heaven' and the first cause, which sets in motion all that can be moved. The hieroglyphic meaning of the letter RAPH is the human hand as the concept of the firm grasp. Hence all ideas of power correspond to this letter.

94

### Tarot Card 12

# THE HANGED MAN

Numerical Value: 30

Letter: 7 LANED

In this picture our magician appears once more. On the first cardh e stood at the beginning of the path, on the sixth card we saw him at the parting of the ways and on the seventh card as the conqueror who has mastered, and is in control of, hi seven powers. In this picture we see thim as a hanged man. Does this mean that he has lost ground again? Hardly, because he sens to be pleased with his situation. His face has a cheerful and happy expression. Let us therefore examine this picture thorooghly!

To the right and left are two tree-trunks; we again recognise the two pillars of Solomon, Jachim and Boaz. Each trunk had six branches which have been cut off. The stumps are still wishle. The lower parts of the trunks are blue, the remainder green; the stumps are red. At the level where the seventh branch would have been, the two trunks were severed and a yellow plank was laid across them. The young man is suspended from this plank. A havey rope has been tied round his left ankle fasteening him to the plank. He holds his right two costs which the 'king of heaven' forms with his legs on taro card 4. The hanged man weres dark horows those and blue hose. He wears a unic of red and white material arranged so that the upper left side is white, the right side red, and below the yellow belt the colours are reversed. The two pockets shaped like half-moons and the site buttons on the tunic are red in the white part and white in the red part. His sleeves are yellow with red cuffs. He hides this green hands behind his back. Each arm supports a purse filled with money; one is pale blue, the other pale pink. He less coins fall out of each purse: silver coins from the blue purse, gold from the pink one. His faxen thair hangs down toosely.

This picture illustrates a very strange state which, for those who have not yet experienced it, is very difficult to understand. In this state mark's way of seeing and doing things is diametrically opposed to that of the average person. And because he sees and does everything the other way round, he continuously comes into conflict with the world.

How does he come to see and do everything the other way round? Let us try to understand the picture! We shall then see that as soon as man has passed through all the levels previously described, he must inevitably and unavoidably reach this state.

He has climbed up the two trunks which have six levels. Therefore he had to get to know all six levels, the physicalmaterial, the vegetative, the animal, the mental, the causal and the sixth, purely spiritual level. At this sixth level man no longer has his own will, the always performs the will of God. He hears the voice of God cleatry within and knows what God asks of him; thus he has become an instrument of God. Hence it follows that in his higher spiritual state man apeaks face to face with God like Mosse' on the mountain'. That is to say, one stare of being with God. They young nagition has ref foro on this swenth, higher Level. As we see, his foot is still touchgith seventh level, must as at starsa over, ra, is ivere, but *supended* from it. He thus sees everything the other way round. How could it be otherwise when he has acquired true spiritual love at the level of rarot card 11 and looks at everything from the other person's angle, from the divine viewpoint of Lowrs, of ustry? And we know that the divine point of view and the human point of view are always the mirror reflections of each other.

These two tree-trunks reveal something else of great importance. The six branch knots and the seventh one where the trunk was cut off, show the seven spiritual centres of man which have their seat in the body in the most important nerve centres. These spiritual centres are known in the Indian Vedanta philosophy as 'chakras'. Yet we must never confuse these chakras with the nerve centres where they have their seat. A spiritual centre, thus a chakra, has the same relationship to the nerve centre where it rests, as the truck-driver to his truck. He sits inside, he sets it in motion and he steers it, but in no way is the driver his vehicle! Unfortunately, a great number of Western writers on the subject of the chakras do not know this difference between the chakras and the perve centres and believe them to be one and the same thing. That is a great error. These spiritual centres, the chakras, have their seat in the bearer of life, in the spine. The lowest chakra in the spine, in the coccyx. sustains the negative pole. It is called the Muladhara chakra. The next chakra has its seat in the spine, below the region of the navel. It is called the Svadisthana chakra and governs potency. The third chakra sits in the solar plexus and is called the Manipura chakra. In the heart it is the Anahata chakra. The Vishuddha chakra has its seat in the thyroid gland; the Aina chakra sits between the eyebrows; in the uppermost part of the skull is the highest chakra, seat of the positive pole. It serves to manifest the divine spirit and is called the Sahasrara chakra. These are the seven levels which man must reach. And when he has attained the seventh level where he wakens and activates the seventh chakra from its latent condition, he reaches the state where, like Moses, he may speak face to face

with GOD. First, however, he must ascend the six levels, activate the six chakras.

The legs which have helped the young man to climb up are blue, the shoes brown. Wherever his steps may lead him, he will always be guided by true faith in God. He has become an instrument of God. He no longer possesses self-will. Only his shoes are brown, therefore only the lowest part of him, the soles of his feet, come into contact with matter, with the ground. He must stand on the ground as a basis! - His clothing is composed of various colours; white (purity), red (spirituality), yellow (intelligence) and green (goodwill). We already know the significance of this. In his heart he is spiritual and pure, in his activity he allows himself to be guided by his intelligence and reason. The white and red half-moons denote the negative lunar and the positive solar powers; he already has both of them 'in his pocket', that is to say, he is master of both of these powers. The six buttons which he now wears are the five sense organs and the sixth sense which he is now also very much in need of. Under his arms are two purses from which, because of his inverted position, his accumulated treasures can be seen falling to the ground, where they may be picked up by others. His treasures are gold, i.e. of positivemental, and silver, i.e. of negative-spiritual nature. He passes on the fruits of his hard experiences to his fellow-men.

How could anyone with this outlook *fail* to see and do everything in the opposite way to average people who are still completely dominated by egoiam, envy, greed and vaniy? It is also quite nazural that everything the 'hanged man' says or does is misunderstood and misinterpreted by ordinary men. He realises the has attained this level precisely because he is constantly misunderstood and time and again has to explain the reasons for this actions. Nor is this all. It is a surange fact that people who have reached this degree of development aroundly explored the state. Many determ of hanging life bas and attor card and attace. Many determ of hanging life bas and many report that during meditation they suddenly feel lifted by the feet into the air and forced to say in this position with the head hanging down. On opening their eyes they see that they are sitting in a normal position on the chair. This actually happens with practitioners of spiritual Yoga. Therefore it must be realized that the state in which we feel suspended upside down is connected with the expansion of conscioumess. Experience shows that the man in the state of taxot card 12 not only thinks and axis in the spiritual sense in the opposite state into the body, thereby experiencing it as a physical condition.

Here is an example of how a person thinks and acts from such an inverted position. Before leaving the house 'the hanged man' carefully locks his desk and all his cupboards. His servants and family think he does this because he is afraid someone might pry into his drawers during his absence. He locks everything up then, because he apparently suspects those around him. In actual fact, he does so for exactly the opposite reason: to protect those in his household from suspicion, so that if anything was missing from the drawers, or was not quite in order. no one, not even himself, would suspect - for the devil never sleeps - that any of these people had removed it. If he carefully locks everything, no one can possibly entertain such a thought or suspicion. Therefore, instead of suspecting those around him, he shields them from any suspicion. It seems hardly necessary to mention further instances. For the readers who have already reached or even advanced beyond this state of consciousness, will themselves discover, or have already done so, the truth of these statements. There is little point in discussing the matter with those who are still below this level. They will neither understand nor believe that such a thing is possible; they will think about it 'the wrong way round". The 'hanged men' are already accustomed to it.

It is amazing that the great initiates who created these pictures in order to represent the various states of consciousness knew the nature of man so initinately as to realise that this state is experienced on only mentally, but alok, as a projection, physically. Many of those who have set foot upon the path laready know these pictures. Yet they really only grasped their meaning and understood them when they suddenly and unexpectedly experienced these states themsleve. Then the light dawned upon them and they humbly howed before the initiases who had such deep pervice/logical knowledge.

Tarot card 12, THE HANGED MAN, carries the total of the digits of the number 12, thus 3, linked with the 0, symbol of boundless space, thus 30; it also carries the letter LAMED.

The number 12 and all its multiples are the most significant numbers in the entire sequence of numbers. It is remarkable that a comparatively low number such as the number 12 is divisible by six numbers - thus by half of the numbers it contains! If we add these six numbers: 1+2+3+4+6+12, we get the number 28, of which the sum of the digits is once again 10, the number of the perfection and fulfilment of creation. If we multiply the number of the Holy Trinity, 3, by that of the four faces of God. 4, we obtain the number 12, this unique number which is divisible by as many as half of the numbers of its own value. With no other number is this possible, not even with the highest numbers. Mankind has recognised the importance of this number from time immemorial and has also divided the heavens into twelve signs of the zodiac. Formerly, before the introduction of the decimal system, 12 and five times 12, the number 60, were used as the basis of the arithmetical system. The number 60 is divisible by 12 numbers, thus by one fifth of its own value, which is also a very high proportion! - We often find the number 12 in the Bible. The twelve tribes of Israel, the twelve disciples and the twelve baskets with the fragments of the two fishes and the five loaves with which Christ fed the five thousand, are only some instances. Tarot card 12 carries the numerical value 30, the number of the Holy Trinity linked with o. We shall discuss the number further when dealing with tarot card 21 which is

100

the inversion of the number 12 and which also has 3 as the sum of its digits.

In addition, this card carries the letter LAMED corresponding to the human arm, and thus is closely related to everything that lifts and unfolds itself like the arm. Prophetic revelations bring forth a divine expansion in man, out of which arises the idea of the revealed law.

### Tarot Card 13

## DEATH

Numerical Value: 40

Letter: D MEM

In this picture we see a skeleton holding a scythe, the ancient symbol of death. His popure and the position of the scythe in his hand imitate the shape of the letter MMS. The skeleton does not hold the scythe in the normal position for mowing. He holds it the wrong way round so that he cuts from left to right instead of from right to left. This shows that the skeleton has carried over to this level and reained the skeleton has carried over to this level and reained the skeleton has carried on those of ordinary men. In addition, hat there is ab inverted studied. All his thoughts death there comes not death, but sfit This is indicated by the red colour of the scythe and the blue of its black. The skeleton mows down the person with the fire of the spirit and the faith of the soal.

This skeleton is nothing other than man's spirit. When the spirit embodied itself in matter and was born as a human being, it was forced or de in no matter. It could no longer mainter its spiritual qualities, it could no longer & its own spiritual LIFE. It had to bear the qualities of the body and could manifest isself only to a very limited extent through the mortal frame. The spiritual consciousness was repressed and man became a mixture of a great many material and very few spiritual qualities. Thus he perceived the inner effect of his own spirit from the unconscious as the inner voice of an unknown, external being. The spirit struggled in man in order to be able to manifest itself through the body. The qualities of the body and those of the spirit are opposed to one another. The essential characteristics of the body are sloth and indolence ; those of the spirit are fire and activity. From birth the spirit fights against the tyranny of the body. Starting with the most trivial matters right to the greatest human problems, man suffers from this conflict between body and spirit. For instance, the body would like to adopt a bad, lazy posture, because it is sluggish and weighed down by itself. The spirit seeks to triumph over the body in man and compels it to manifest spiritual powers. Every sport is a triumph over the body, in every movement the spirit seeks to manifest itself over the inertia of the body. This struggle begins already the moment we awake. The body would like to stay in bed and continue to sleep. But the spirit compels it, in spite of vawning, to rise, get dressed and go to work or pursue a sport. And so it goes on all day long. Even when faced with great problems, we act as Paul so apriv says in the Bible: '... for what I would, that do I not : but what I hate, that do I'. (Romans 7: 15) Who is the one who wants something, and who is the one who nevertheless does not do it? And who is the one who does not want a thing and who is the one who does it nevertheless?

The spirit and the body are opposed and engaged in conflict; man constantly suffers from this inner struggle. Yet precisely this continuous suffering wakens his spiritual consciounes and compels him to find the way to his own spirit, bore day he awakes and realises that he is not the body, the person, but his own higher Self, his own spirit, which should use the body as an instrument of manifestanto, no no account, however, as an end in itself. This initial awakening is represented by taro card 1. Here, for the first time, man has tasted spiritual freedom. Before experiencing this first spiritual level of consciousness, he was merely a blind slave dictated to by his instincts. Then his spiritual awareness increased step by step; gradually he lost the feeling that his own Self was an alien being outside himself, yet so uncannily well acquainted with him that it could speak to him through his conscience. He became aware that this 'being' above his personal consciousness was his own Self, his own spirit, WAS HE HIMSELF! -An ever greater light began to radiate in him, he experienced various states within himself until, at his present level of consciousness symbolised by tarot card 11, he grows conscious in his own Self, in his own spirit. According to a law of Nature formulated by Pythagoras, 'two things cannot be in the same place at once'. The spirit and the physical being, the person, cannot therefore simultaneously use the body of one person as an instrument of manifestation ; one of them must disappear, be destroyed.

Since the person never possessed an actual individual existence, but meetly borrowed is like from the spirit, the person must now disappear. Man, who has grown wave in the spirit, will henceforth without interference from the person, *sciauly* be himself. His spiritual consciouses more about the possession of its person, *kilita* is. From now on the physical-vegetarive powers will serve the body, but they will not take possession of its spiritual consciouses. In his consciouses the spirit will be master. The man who until now was a mixture of spirit and person becomes completely spiritual, completely *impersoad*. The spirit is the exact reverse, the opposite of the personal. The person stands for isolation and egoism; the spirit, however, detroys isolation, draws man into unity and makes him selfess.

The death of the person was already prepared at the previous levels. Man awakened, learned the meaning of justic, withdrew from the earthly world and gained control of his destiny, his karma. He experienced the tiranic power of the spirit, true Loves, and gladly accepted its domination. In addi-

#### DEATH

tion, he had to learn to be objective and to be able to place himself in the position of his opponent. Through this he saw everything 'the wrong way round' like the 'hanged man'.

What has remained of his person? - Nothing whatever! Yet does this men that man has grown indifferent, apathetic, instruct, listless and lifeles? - By no meand - On the contrary. Since he no longer has any personal problems, he has also no personal troubles, no personal sorrows. He is always at peace, yet he fefs with twice his former empaty for the joys and sorrows of men, animals and plans. He does not interfere in things, but allows them to happen as God decress, because the knows that nothing can happen without the will of God and everything that happens is for the best. We must learn from everything in order to come one sup nearer to God on the long path. Without the will of God nothing could happen.

In the picture we see that only the body, the person, has disappeared: the two heads, the consciousness – the crown denotes spiritual consciousness, the hands and feet signify activity – are still there, they are fully alive. These hands swars that they live and that the feet continue to carry man on his way.

The two heads denote that even after becoming imperonal, man remains ann or a vonasi he still belongs to sex. The male head wears a crown. This means that the positive principle, the spirit, governs in man and that the is conscious in his spirit. Thus he is fully alive in his consciousness. His activity, his consciousnes, lives, only the person with its physical desires has been destroyed. There is an old saying which is a wonderful comment on this:

> Long did I resist, Finally I gave way When the old person turns to dust The new one greets the day.

And Goethe who was familiar with alchemistic transformation says: And while this you cannot say : Die and rise again! You are but a shadow grey On earth's darkling plain.

Tarot card 13 carries the numerical value 40 and the letter MEM.

The numerical value 40 results from the number 13 and the 0, symbol of the universe. Unlike the previous number 14, which was divisible by six numbers, the number 15 cannot be divided at all. Therefore the number 13 is divisible only by 1, 000, and by 17, a by itself; it is a prime number.

Everybody knows that the number 13 is an unlucky number, but very few know why this is so. Those who know the tarot cards regard 13 as an unlucky number because the card 13 stands for death. Yet it was not mere chance that the great initiates, who created the tarot cards, made death identical with the number 11 and the letter MEM. They chose these to represent death because, as we shall see, they contain the ideas of 'disappearance' and 'death'. For just as every circle contains seven smaller circles, whose diameter is one third of that of the large circle, so every sphere, which is the three-dimensional projection of the circle in space, contains thirteen smaller spheres, whose diameter is also exactly one third of the diameter of the large sphere. Once we know that, we also realize that the thirteenth sphere in the centre has 'disappeared', it is invisible to the eves of the external world : it is buried under the twelve spheres surrounding it, thus it is 'dead'. That is why the number 13 on the thirteenth tarot card means 'death'. And because people lack a rational understanding of these inner mathematical laws, yet deep down instinctively feel their existence, they fear that the thirteenth person must die, if that number is seated at table. But only the thirteenth! Not just any one of them, not the first, nor the sixth or eighth, no - it is the thirteenth who dies. Because twelve remain visible, therefore alive, the thirteenth has to become invisible, therefore die, just as with the spheres the thirteenth one in the centre

disappears. It is quite remarkable that fate seems to know this law. For where a great religious or political leader is surrounded by twelve disciples, welve generals or ministers, its validity can be observed. History provides examples enough in Jesus Christ, Julius Cesars, Napoleon and others.

The number 40 is also an allusion to the death of the spirit in matter. In symbolism, the cross and the square invariably stand for matter. As already explained in connection with tarot card 4, the first form of manifestation of creative power on entering the realm of dimensions, is the square and the cube, which is composed of six squares. All other crystal forms emerge from this first original form. The letter MEM is the second mother in the Greek alphabet. MEM lures the spirit into matter and through birth as a human being embodies it in matter. Birth into matter signifies death for the spirit, albeit an apparent death, as we already know. The spirit will rise again like Christ when it has attained self-awareness in matter. Or in other words, if and when man becomes self-conscious in the spirit. Thus man will rise again in his consciousness when he ceases to identify himself with his mortal body, in the knowledge that he used it only as an instrument of manifestation, and is not and never will be himself the body. The Christ figures of mediaeval painters swear to this fact and truth. They are depicted just as they emerge from the coffin holding a small flag of victory and resurrection and raising their right hand to swear: For the spirit, for the Self, which we call 1, there is no death, only eternal life!

MEM also designates all rebirths arising from previous destruction, wars symbolises all uranformations, therefore the birth from the spiritual world into the body; and in death, the birth from the body into the spiritual world. The letter MEM, the NOTHER, was therefore for all men, for each one of us, the door through which we entered from the other world into this world, into the world of matter. We had to die into matter in order to be consciously reborn in the spirit, in order to learn that aw *life is estend*. Tarot card 13 denotes the death of the little apparent ego, of the person, and the victory of the spirit. Therefore the same card is both end and beginning. Here, as in the case of tarot card 7, one period of development has ended and a new phase is embarked upon.

#### Tarot Card 14

# BALANCE

Numerical Value: 50

Letter: 1 NUN

The French tide of this tarot card is wrong. The card shows us a level of development expressed much more adequately by the word mALANCE. The woman on the card weights something, she *measures out* something, and in so doing is by no means 'temperate'. Our tide is therefore: mALANCE.

Here again we see our queen of heaven, now, however, without her crown. Instead, her hair is held in place by a golden disk on her forehead. This shows her superior consciousness linking her to the divine world. She wears the same red dress as on tarot card a. The azure blue robe which she wore as the queen of heaven has become an outer garment, worn open at the front to reveal the red dress. Both these garments have vellow edging: there are even yellow stripes and a yellow belt on the blue dress and a green lining is visible in the neck. We already know that the red dress denotes her high spirituality, the blue garment her staunch faith in God, the yellow edging her intelligence, and the green lining her goodwill and humanity. Now she again wears the two large wings which she had discarded in her roles as TUSTICE and LOVE. She is released from earthly problems, she can once more fly and soar up to heaven. She stands on the ground only with the soles of her feet; to show this, her shoes are brown.

Beside her is the flower which has grown out of the ground and which we saw already on the pictures of the magician and the king. It is half-open and seems as if it expected to receive the water of life from the beautiful woman so that it can open fully.

The queen of heaven holds an urn in each hand. We recognise these as symbols of the two main currents of creation. The golden um symbolises the positive-spiritual energies, the silver urn the negative-physical ones. The tension between the sources of the positive and negative poles is life itself. These energies bestow life on man and on everything that lives in creation. At the top of the head, under the crown, lies a brain centre in which the positive pole has its seat. The negative pole is situated in the coccyx at the base of the spine. The tension between the two poles in the spine constitutes our physical existence. Man, however, has the ability consciously to direct these two creative energies as he pleases. At certain points in his body he can accumulate positive or negative energies and elect to bring about changes in his body with these or to raise, wake and activate hitherto latent abilities from their state of dormancy. Ordinary men are ignorant of this and cannot direct these energies as they please. Those who know this secret, however, can be master of the creative energies and use or transform them at will.

In the picture we see the woman pouring the liquid from the silver urn into the golden one. This signifies that in this way she converts negative energies into positive ones. A chemical process takes place in the golden urn whereby everything it comains is turned into *pairive spiritual* gold.

The woman considers carefully how much energy she can retain in the silver urn and how much she can pour into the golden urn without incurring danger. She gauges the energy. If she takes the correct amount, man makes rapid progress to his great goal. If, however, she measures inaccurately, his nerves crack under the strain.

110

This picture indicates that we can convert our physical energies into spiritual powers thereby wakening and making use of the previously inactive nerve centres in order to attain higher spiritual states. At tarot card 12 we were introduced to these seven spiritual centres. At this fourteenth level of consciousness man has come so far that he can and may wake and activate the latent physical nerve and brain centres where these spiritual centres, the chakras, are situated. He might have activated the chakras sooner, but that would have been dangerous. There are physical exercises designed to wake the chakras. Yet this procedure greatly endangers an immature man, for if his nerve and brain centres are not yet resilient enough, they will be deleteriously affected by the higher vibrations thus directed to them. On the other hand, the man who has already reached the higher level of consciousness and is capable of adequate resistance, may activate his chakras without incurring danger and sustain the inner tensions - so dangerous for those less developed than himself - as a normal condition.

We are not all alike and, according to our level of consciousness, we sustain various tensions in our nerves. If someone at a high level of development touches another person far below him, particularly if he lays his hand on that person's head, the latter will fall into a sleep-like trance. This, however, is not to be confused with hypnosis, for under hypnotic suggestion the subject loses his will-power. This contact does not destroy his consciousness and his will. On the contrary, his awareness and concentration are greatly increased. Yet the superior man must be able to control his powers to the extent that he can administer them in the correct dose required. If there is a very wide gap between the frequencies of his power currents and those of the man at the lower level, these far higher frequencies will cause serious nervous convulsions when directed into the nerves of the less mature man. There is one incident confirmed by many evewitnesses, in which an apothecary in Dakshineswar (India) pestered the then already world-famous Indian saint. Rama Krishna, to transmit his high powers through contact. Eventually Rana Krishna gave in and, touching the man, sen this high frequencies into him. The aporthecary went into such convulsions that he cried out loud and implored Rama Krishna to release him and restore his own normal state. Rama Krishna compiled. We could also mention such cases in the West, but if we have understood these truths then there instances are superflows. Man keeps progressing along the great path and, unknown to himself, his hitherto dormann energies unfold and become active. This interprocedure is greatly accelerated, however, if he conariously performs secrcies involving no risk, which gradually increase the resilience of his nerves to the point where they can sustin higher tensions and their correspondingly higher frequencies.

At the level of the HANGED MAN these higher chakras have been recognised and consciously taken possession of. Tarot card 14 shows that man already knows the various sources of creative power and is not only familiar with the transition from the lower to the higher frequencies, but can also use and transform them. At this level he is able to convert physical energies into spiritual ones and to dose the various powers as he pleases. That is why the woman in the picture pours from the silver urn, symbolising physical energy, into the golden urn, symbolising spiritual energy, where, by an inner chemical process, the physical energy is transformed into spiritual. This art was known to the Rosicrucians and the alchemists and was called the 'royal art'. They passed on this secret to their disciples. The crusading knights brought this secret art, suitable only for mature men, from Asia and handed it on to their close friends in Europe. Thus as time went on, more and more small groups or lodges were formed, of which many great and famous men became members. To mention only a few of the most illustrious: Voltaire, Frederick the Great, Joseph II, Wieland, Lessing, Goethe, Mozart, Albrecht Dürer and many, many more. These mystical secrets were excellently depicted by Goethe in his masterpiece, Faust, by Mozart in his famous opera, The Magic Flute, and by Albrecht Dürer in many of his

paintings. They were familiar with this inner process and also with the method which hastess our progress on the great path to the goal. In Asia and Europe we find traces of this scertck nowledge; the writings of the alchenists and the Rosicrucians are based on the mysteries of the Cabbala. There are so many striking similarities between the picorial language of the Rosierucians and that of the rarot cards that it is obvious the tarot cards depict the same truth as the secter pictures of the Rosierucians and the alchemists. It is probable that they stem from the same source.

Tarot card 14 carries the numerical value 50, composed of the sum of the digits of the number 14 and 0, the symbol of boundless space. It also carries the letter NUN.

The number 44 contains the number 7 twice. In this instance, two issues the number 7 means the twice welfaced life which animates the material body and the spiritual being of man. The sum of the digits is the number 5 which was discussed in connection with zorc and 4. Now, however, the number 10, ten times 5, disrefore a 5 which the 0, of which the sum of the digits is the number of christs, 5, has a much deeper meaning. In discussing the number 5, we saw that the exterior pentagonal shape signified the human form. On this zorc card i timplies the inner vital current, which likewise flows pentagonally in the body:



In Albrecht Direr's painting of the Crucifixion an angel stands on either side of the crucified Christ. Each holds a goblet to catch the blood springing like a fountain from the hands of Christ on the Cross. The painting shows us the current of the creative principle, the Christ-current. After flowing through the whole human body, crucified in time and space, it is emitted from five points: from the two bands, the two feet and from the solar plexus – therefore from the five wounds of Christ. Ditere, who was himself an initiated Rosicoucian and familiar with the ruth about the vital current and the mystery of physical energies converted into spiritual power, frequently depicted this truth in his painings. These initiates were not allowed to space about these things, but they could represent the truth in secret figures or painings. Thus they wished to attract attention in their own way.

The letter NUN alludes to the name Immanuel, which in the Bible is the name of the divine child. Immanuel means: 'God in us', therefore the higher Self animating man, which said of tigef!' is at the territ!' - The name tobaAURL therefore means the life in man. When man becomes conscious in *life isulf*, he is resurrected in DataAURL; in *Christ.* NUN is the Solar energy which endows us with life. suts is the image of begorten and then new one is already here as IDMANUEL; as the *divine child*, not yet grown-up.

114
#### Tarot Card 15

## THE DEVIL

#### Numerical Value: 60

#### Letter: D SAMEKH

The principal figure in this picture is a gigantic devil. Just as the Devil is always depicted with a goar's head and hooved feet but with human hands, here, too, he is a mixture of man and goar. He has two mighty homs between which his line zetends to the top of his head, where the highest nerve centre, the Saharare charks, set of the positive pole, is located. This shows that the Devil has already activated and used this centre. He has a five-optimed sure on his forchead 1

The Devil or Stan carries the symbols of all four elements and of the two seess. The red colour of his head symbolizes the spirit and the element fire. The two beautiful plumed wings two giganic has wings which he uses to fly through boundless pace, thus establishing himself at ruler of the air. The upper part of his body and his arms are light in colour and therefore any boundless the element air. The lower part of his body is symbolise the element air. The lower part of his body is are brown and instead of feet he has the hows of a goar. These symbolise the element air. The upper elements, known to present-day scholars as 'states of matter'. As the universe was formed from the four elements, the whole material world. After the Last Supper, Christ said: 'Rise, let us be going: behold, he is at hand that doth betray me.' (St Matthew 26: 46) His disciples knew that this was SATAN.

In this material world only Satan can be ruler, for he is the law of matter manifesting itself in contraction, cooling and solidification. As long as Satan remains the unconscious law of matter, he is a law of Nature and in his place. If, however, man makes the law of matter conscious in himself, identifying himself with it, it becomes a living spirit in him. This law which has come alive through the human spirit is Satan. In his spiritual aspect he is the exact opposite of the spirit, he is the antagonist, for the laws of the spirit and the laws of matter are the mirror images of each other. Satan as such has no kind of independent existence. He can only live in and become alive through man, for man alone can make a living spirit from the law of matter when he identifies his consciousness with this law. Thus it is man himself who bestows life on Satan. And vet. Satan, this spirit which has come alive only through man, can react by throwing back man's reflection, luring him into ruin, hell and perdition.

The magican's ward and the queen of haven's septrehave become a burning torch which Satan holds in his right hand. He rules over matter, therefore also over the human body; the fame of the torch is the fare, the heat of the body. Far alight by the immanent spirit animates the body, the latter alight by the left of the law of matter, therefore under the rule of Satan. And because Satan dominates the human body he also dominates the fire which animates it and manifests itself in the two great human instincts, those of self-preservation and the preservation of the species.

In animals these two instincts operate without interference from the intellect, precisely because animals have no intellect and live entirely according to the laws and scheme of Nature. If an animal is prevented from keeping rigidly to this scheme, it dies. For instance, if ams cannot feed on what Naure prescribes, they die. If they cannot couple at the exact time decreed by Nature, they die a wretched death. They cannot postpone their union should anything intervene. The higher an animal ranks in the vast cale of Naure, the greater its adaptability, yet this too has its limits. As a general rule animals have to abhere strictly to the laws of Naure.

Without the intellect man too, would have to adhere to the prescribed scheme of Nature in the same unconscious way as animals, Man, however, possesses an excellent intellect which helps him to attain consciousness. It has the function of a mirror in which he recognises himself. The intellect also enables him to disregard the laws of Nature and to adapt himself to changes in his environment. He can survive potential disasters or unimaginable privations without any real harm, even if he cannot eat and drink what Nature prescribes. His sex life, too, may be subjected to the control of his intellect and will-power. On the one hand this adaptability gives him a very great advantage over animals, but at the same time it involves the very great danger that, assisted by his intellect, he strays from the path of Nature and destroys his healthy instincts. His essentially healthy natural needs may be perverted into ends in themselves and thus cause physical and mental disorders. He may even become addicted and thus sell and enslave his soul to the Devil. In this way man delivers himself into Satan's power, into the power of the Serpent on the tree of knowledge of good and evil. . . .

We see that the symbol of reason and intellect, the symbol of Mercurial power, figures in this picture as Sarah's sexual organ. This means that Satan controls man through his reason, ponerates him through his consciousness and in this way brings him under his influence. Without the human intellect Satan could not be 'Satan'. Without man he would remain an unconscious law of Nature.

In his left hand Satan holds the sexual organs in their coital position; the positive-male and the negative-female one. His

right arm bears the inscription SOLVE, which means SEVER. On his left arm is inscribed COAGULA, which means UNITE. - What does he sever and what does he unite? What the Vedanta philosophy already asserted thousands of years ago has now also been established by science, namely, that in the very beginnings of time both sexes were present together in the human body. Man was a bisexual being ; he was androgynous like an angel. This notion of angels as androgynous beings has been handed down to us by every religious tradition whether in Europe or in Asia, among the Indians of America or the Negroes of Africa. Perhaps these traditions, unanimous on this point, represent the truth, although that truth is somewhat less simple than the religions imply. Bisexual creatures have nothing to do with hermaphrodites - the name is composed of Hermes and Aphrodite - who are neither man nor woman. The androgynous being is man and woman in one person. The Bible, too, which gives us one of the oldest stories of the creation and development of mankind, asserts that man was once bisexual. For in the beginning, Adam, who personifies the primitive form of man in one being, carried the two sexes within himself, and Eve appears only when God takes her out of Adam's body. We read in the Bible how God caused a deep sleep to fall upon Adam, took one of his ribs and from it made Woman, Eve. Thus the Bible describes the same development as science affirms today, although in scientific terms it did not happen so simply and quickly but may have taken millions of years, Satan, the law of matter, separated the two sexes so that progeny can be begotten and born, and made of each sex an independent being. He therefore SEVERED the two sexes - SOLVE! But then he reunited them in an outwardly experienced sexual act - COAGULA. During this, however, the sexes are together for only a brief period. After physical union they must fall apart and once again continue their physical existence independently, separated from the other half. In various religions and in science the theory is advanced that the two beings, which were once only one bisexual being and were

separated by the dislocation of the sexes, are still seeking each other even now in their earthly existence. They still have a sense of belonging and years to become one again, to have a *single* EGO. Beethoven, the titanic genius, writes to his unattainable mistress; Therese Brunswick: 'Oh, thou my angel, my all, my "I"...'

Thus, is we see in the picture, Stara, the law of matter, has separated men into the sexes and brought them together again in outward physical union. That is why he holds the sexual organs in coital position in his left hand. But the union is only *physical*.

In the picture we also see the sexes personified as two figures, half-man, half-devil: a small male devil and a small female one. They are tied by heavy rope to the pedestal on which the Devil stands. They are separated from each other indeed, severed, as the inscription says - SOLVE - but at the same time they are also eternally chained together through their inner identity in the spirit which manifests itself as physical-sexual desire and physical-sexual energy. The inscription on the left arm says as much: COAGULA - unite. Thus they cannot live with each other, nor can they live without each other. Yet this has not come about so swiftly that man perceives it clearly and is aware of it. It has been prepared over a long period, particularly at the level of consciousness of tarot card 6, where he had to choose between the right and the wrong path. The development continued at the ninth level where he already withdrew from worldly life and like a hermit acquainted himself with the inner world and the inner life. In addition, he experienced true love, selflessness, at the eleventh level.

At the revelfth level he learned to see things in a way which ordinary men would call 'upside down'. He further experienced systical death and learned to convert negative energies into positive ones. The inevitable consequence now was to be able to transform sexual energy into creative power. In his soul he was ready for this. With the experience of mystical death, memories of his entire life sprang to mind. And he had to admit that sexual energy had really deceived him. He had expected to find happiness in physical union but had never found it. For physical gratification was still a long way off from happiness and the expected fulfilment. In physical union, the whole tension blazed up like a freevork but was at the same time already burned out and extinguished. He could never arrest the ecsary, never hold on to it as an enduring happiness. There remained only an instatible longing for the happiness had never found.

And what remains for him when he is old and no longer able to experience physical love? Again, nothing, nothing whatever! And he went on to ask himself what it was that he was trying to achieve in sexual union, since he had not been truly gratified by what it had offered him. - That was it! All his life he had searched for a human being who was his other half, his complement. Love is the manifestation of a power which forces two complementary halves to reunite. The unconscious drive to unite is in fact called 'love'. Man seeks fulfilment of this urge and believes it possible in physical union. Yet he has to concede that he has never found what he was seeking. He sought a real, lasting unity! He wanted a unity in which he was identical with the loved one, he wanted to become identical with the EGO of his partner. He wanted to destroy the 1-YOU relationship so that he and the loved one could be one single EGO. And this is not possible. - Why? -Because the body stands in the way. Indeed! The law of matter, SATAN, intervenes. The resistance of matter, of the body, does not allow two beings who love each other to become ONE in external, material reality. Man has had to recognise a paradox, an impossibility and a discrepancy: that he wants to experience inner unity with his partner in the body, and that it is the body itself which resists and prevents this oneness.

Why then does he seek this physical union? Why has he longed for it since childhood, since the initial wakening of consciousness? He knew that only complete unity and not merely physical manifestation could gratify him and give him true happiness. And if this is not possible in the body, he does not want it at all. Yet unity must be possible otherwise he could not desire it! It can be achieved only in a certain state in which he is not prevented by the body. Man was once in this state, he is keenly aware of this and longs to recapture it. Somewhere and at some time he was in it, but he has fallen out. This was the fall from Paradise! But he must return there! He must! He has fallen out of this state precisely because he was born into the body. And if that is so, he intends to renounce the substitute, physical union, which is incomplete and can never gratify him. Compromises will not do any more. He has to realise that the body cannot wish for this true union, having itself prevented him from attaining and experiencing it. In the spirit, however, it is possible to experience and realise the urge for unity, true love, and in this way man will find release from bondage.

He did not succeed in coming so far all at once. But at the level of consciousness represented by tarot card it, he frees himself from this enslavement. He transforms the energy tying him to the opposite sex into its primitive form and uses it in its converted, or properly speaking, re-converted form as creative power, as spiritual power of the creative principle, Logos.

And now let us return to the star of Christ on Stars's forehead. If we know that sexual energy is the manifestation of creative power in matter, in the body, then we understand how Stata is involved with it. The same power which as sexual energy chains the two figures together at Stata's podestal, in the chaktras of the lowest nerve centres, is manifested as creative power, as the power of Christ's spirit, in the higher brain centres situated in the head. If we are able to sublimate, if we can re-convert sexual energy into creative power, then we have conquered Stata with his own power. For we can only complete this transformation with the help of the laws of

#### THE WISDOM OF THE TAROT

Nature, with the help of Satan. Then man is set free from the satanic chains.

> From the power that holds all in fee He who overcomes himself is free!

say Goethe. When man experiences rarot card 15 within himself, he reaches this level; he is no longer a creature of instinces, a sexual being. Even if he found the other half of his celerais being, from which Sanah ads evered him, in an earchy form, he would still consciously experience a transcendingly blisticf *aprirtual* ution with this complementary half in the depth of his soul. The animus and the anima are one *ain due spiritu*?

The Devil in the picture carries both seven within himself. He does an read to sever them from each other within himself. He has a red beard, therefore in his head, in the spirit, he is macoline-positive. His breasts are fully developed like those of a nursing mother, therefore feminine-negative. His sexual organ is again made, no longer in the physical, but in the spiritual sense. His sexual organ is the human intellect, his intelligence with which he penetrates man, takes possession of him and entlaves him. At the level of consciousness of torot card s1 yam has liberated himself from this possession.

Tarot card 15 carries the numerical value 60, which consists of the sum of the digits of the number 15, therefore of 6, and the o symbolising boundless space. It carries the letter SAMEKH.

The number g is less by half than the number of creation, to, and the number 1 g is greater by half than the number of creation, to The number 1 is therefore divisible by the divine number g and by the number of Christ, g. The result of the multiplication of these two numbers is 15. The sum of the digits of the number g is  $G_g$  and if we add  $o_s$ , we obtain the number  $G_g$ , the numerical value of this card. The number  $f_g$ is a number  $h_g$  is numerical value of this card. The number is is divisible by 12 numbers, therefore by the *fift* part. There is no number which has more released numbers 1:  $g_1$ ,  $g_2$ ,  $g_3$ ,  $g_4$ ,  $g_5$ .

122

10, 12, 15, 20, 30, 60. It is no mere chance that Satan should carry this number. He has to have a great number of connections! - It is worth while reflecting on this number a little. This will increase our understanding of many things.

The letter sAMERI represents a weapon. At this level of consciousces man has to conquere this weapon and gain possession of it in order to defend and protect himself against any indurator from couside or inside. The spherical shape of this letter is reminiscent of an arch. The closed circle is, however, also the well-known symbol of the sergent bining its own anil samerst also means 'anipole' (of the sexes) and 'Nahash 'the dragon guarding the threshold.

## Tarot Card 16

## THE LIGHTNING-STRUCK TOWER

Numerical Value: 70

Letter: y Ayın

In this picture we see a strongly built tower which has been struck by lighting — not originating from a thunder-cloud, but from the sun. The lighting strikes deep into the thick fabric of the over which is ringed into two parts, the upper part tumbing to the ground. The tower is red, the colour stripes signifying love of humanity and intelligence. The tower has four cenesh. The number four stands for matter. This reveals that the tower symbol has to do with the material aspect of nan.

The tower has one door and three windows. Two of them are on the same level, the third one is placed above the other two so that all three form a triangle. The door symbolies the human solar pletux. This is where we were tied to the body at conception by a magic cord and this is where we shall again leave the body at death. The two windows next to each other are our two eyes through which we look out of our material body and link curstlews with the outside wordt. The upper window is the 'third eye', a nerve centre in which the spiritual curter known in the Vedana philosophy as the 'Ajan chakra' has its seat. Through this centre man is connected to the spiritual world; through this centre he achieves vision.

From the tower heavy bricks fall down on two figures who have themselves fallen from it. Curiously, however, the bricks hit only the man who is not wearing a crown and he falls to the ground lifeless. The other man has kept his crown on his head even during the fall. He is not hit by bricks. They fall beside him and he excapse uningued and alive.

The two figures have multi-coloured cloching. The dead man wears a red unite. He has a blue sleve on his felt arm. The man with the crown wears a blue tunic but his right arm has a red sleve and his left (ag a yellow stocking. The colours of the costumes show that it is of no intrinsic avail for a man to be spiritual; Ji he is not avare of it, he must die when the tower collapses. The other man has endured his deriny with complete faith in God; but because he was fully conscious in undergoing all his trials – the crown denotes consciousnes – the has survived the fall and remained perfectly unharmed.

In the picture we also see sixteen coloured balls which represent the number 16, the number of this tarot card.

This picture shows an event which inevitably occurs once in the life of every man who proceeds on the path to the great goal.

The previous levels of consciounces have been experienced in his inner work. Outside, in the external world, neither his friends nor his closest relatives have noticed anything of this. Now, however, something happens to him which has a profound effect on his outer destiny and calls into question his entire stermal life. How this happens varies from one person to another and depends upon his surroundings, in what family and in which country he lives and works. In countries which are subjected to the avagets of war, many perpole experience means of livelihood, and their whole family may be upcorted and staticted across the world. They lose their material gossitions and their finesh. They are united. They have to stand entirely on their own two feet and turn only to themselves for help, for nothing else is left. They have to build a whole new life. In past and present wars millions of people have experienced what is symbolized by this card. The unconscious ones have fallen spiritually and can never again mis, recover and proceed, even if their bodies survive. As human beings they are destroyed like the dead man in the picture.

Yet some people who have come so far that they are not the person, not the unconscious slave of their instincts, but are conscious in their Self, in their spirit - those who are able to keep the crown on their heads - they will be able to build an entirely new life. Such people have lost nothing, but rather gained.

Even if a person has not experienced a war in his external life, the moment comes once – for those who consciously continue along the great path this is certainly true – in which something happens to threasen his faith, to rob him of his inner security, and to destroy him. Then he has to make every effort to concentrate all his inner powers so that he does not fall, so that he stays on his feet. This can take many forms. If can an happen that someone loses the being most dearly belived by him, the one with whom he had grown together in the soul, and year that the source of the source of the paircose to wait until time has run out on the cosmic clock and the hour varies for him, one, to follow the loved one. Until that time he has not lost this beloved being, for he always retains his poirtual boot. Thus he does not collapse but strays on his feet.

Others may go through this trial in the context of their work, no matter whether their job puts them in a leading position or no. It may be that they are attacked, that their honesty is doubted or that they must innocently suffer reproaches and accusations and cannot even defend themselves against time.

Some are made the butts of ridicule through their ill-bred children, others again through an unworthy father or mother,

and a slur is cast on their good name. The potential circumstances through which men can be shaken to the foundations of their existence are so many that they cannot all be enumerated. Fate exploits the personal situation and possibilities of each individual wherever and whenever he can be hit hardest and destroyed. But those who have already experienced mystical death, who, like the sphinx, are superior to their destiny and are able to regard it as if it were someone else's fate, who know that one can harm only the body but never the spirit, those people cannot be destroyed. Such a person knows that whatever men think about him or however they may treat him does not really affect either his stature, his honesty or his personal attractions. He is as he is and no opinion of his fellow-men will change him. He knows that God is in him and that this trial also has been sent by God - hence the lightning from the sun! - in order that he may learn something important from it. And when he has passed the test God will help him out of the destruction and enable him to build a new life and to free himself of all evils. We know of many great affairs, past and present, in which innocent men have been attacked, accused, condemned, imprisoned, deported and even executed. Yet the conscious, superior man could never be destroyed in his being, not even on the gallows,

When Alexander the Great was in India with his army, he met a fanous Yogi. He spoke to him and liked him very much. He warned the Yogi to accompany him to Macedonia. The Yogi, however, did not want to go. Whereupon Alexander sid to him: 'I you do not come with me, I will have you paut to death'. At this the Yogi laughed and answered: 'You want to lill met - Met - You cannot very see me. You can only have my body paut to death, but never my Eco which dwells in my body and which tax.' And Alexander was so impressed by this reply that he bestowed generous gifts on him and comtinued on his way in a very thoughful frame of mind. Thus the incident has been handed down to us. The man at this level of consciousness must behave in exactly the same way: he must have the same attitude as the great Yogi had towards Alexander. With inner security he must endure fate and always know that ignorant men can only torture and harm his apparent ego, his person, but unever his spiritual, rute zoo, never his higher SELF. And when all his troubles are over, his values will not have left him but will again come to light in the external world. He will be able to resume his proper role in life.

If a man is able to keep his crown on hits head, then he will always remain a king, ruler over his desiny, Yet he had to experience this test, he had to go through this destruction in order to learn not to put the trivial before the important, the inessential before the essential. 'For what shall is profit a man, if he shall gain the whole world, and lose his own soul?' (Mark 8: 36), Christ says to us. As long as we do not lose our soul, we can lose everything gles and still have remarkings.

This destruction in the external world is caused, even if quite unconsciously, by unconscious men who do not wear the crown. In particular the people who are especially prone to this are those who prophesy and anticipate only evil for others and for themselves, or again those who are constantly afraid without admitting it. Such people tend to bring down this destruction on themselves by directing their own fates towards such a calamity with many minor or major actions. Unconsciously they feel that they can only be liberated from their constant fear and misconceptions by actual experience of the evil they are perpetually afraid of. Afterwards they see that they have had no reason at all to be afraid - usually they do not even know the object of their fear. The greatest evil of our time is fear. People are afraid of war; they are afraid of foreigners, therefore they wage wars. They are alraid of poverty, they are alraid of losing their marriage partner, a child or a loved one. They are afraid of illness, accidents and of universal devastation by the atomic bomb - and finally. there are a great number who are afraid of fear itself!

There are, however, a few who are not afraid, who are con-

vinced that there exists a higher power than the power of men and that this power always gives us what it here for us. Therefore if nain were to strike, both in man and in the external world it could destroy andy the illusory values, but never the true, real ones. For this reason these hapsy few do not require the experience of destruction which is needed by those who are full of fear.

They do not seek or cause destruction, consciously or unconsciously. And if they have on experience it exernally they do not fed destroyed. They already know that life itself can never be destroyed and annihilated. Life survives everything. Not even matter can be destroyed, for when a house has been fatterned by a bomb or a natural distater, the materials of which it was built still life scattered where the house used to stand and only the shape which was built from these materials world also derives its life from LIFE. Destruction only causes matter to become shapeless and the LIFE which field in LIFE, from this matter to return to the great universal, eternal LIFE, to GOD.

Those who have experienced the total destruction symbolised by tarot card 16 command unshakeable, absolute security, absolute trust in themselves, in eternal life, in GOD.

Tarot card 16 carries the numerical value 70 which consists of the sum of the digits of the number 16 and the o, symbol of boundless space. It also carries the letter AYIN.

The number 16 consists of four times four which expresses that matter rebels against matter. Four is the number of matter. If, however, we take four times four, we get ultra-matterialised matter which already means destruction. Ultra-matter is hate, ruin and destruction.

The sum of the digits of the number 16 is 7, thus again the key number of the material level, of the three-dimensional world. Together with the 0 we obtain seven times the number of perfect creation, thus  $7 \times 10 = 70$ . This implies the promise that from the ruins a new and higher life will arise. The letter AVIN corresponds to the name Hazad, which may be translated as the 'strong one' and the 'brave one'. The strong and brave and conscious cannot be destroyed by anything. This card means that the Holy Spirit acts like a good of matter: 'divine destruction' which invariable leads to like. In Hindu mythology this corresponds to the good Shiva, good destruction and renewal of lie through destruction.

### Tarot Card 17

## THE STARS

Numerical Value: 80

#### Letter : D PE

Again we see the queen of heaven, but now without any attributes: no crown on her head, no wings on her shoulders, no golden chain at her neck, no septre in her hand, no clothes on her body and no shoes on her lovely feet. Her hair falls loosely in natural curls which cover her shoulders and back. She is as naked as the days her was born.

She is in a fair meadow amidst a beautiful landscape. She kneels on her left knee, her right foot before her on the grass.

She has the same two urns which the held for the transformation of energies in her to ale a proximided nat.wat. Then she had poured the vaters of life from one urn into the other. Now she pours the positive energy, symbolised by water, from the golden urn in her right hand into a river. From the silver urn in her left hand, she pours the negative energy first onto firm ground – onto the earth – to soften i tup, from where it to of hows into the river which carries it to all living creatures that they may drink of it. This water is the water of universal lowe, the water of life.

To her right we again see the flower which has appeared in these pictures; first in that of the magician, where it was still a closed bud, then with the queen of heaven, where it was halfopen, and finally in the picture of 'Balance', where it waited for the water of life in order to open fully. Now it has opened and is in full bloom. It reveals its intermost being, all its treasures, it hieles nobling, A blue butterfly perchasin in the cup of the flower and drinks its neetar. In the sky which forms the background we see eight stars of various sizes. The smallest blue star is above the woman's head. Four medium-sized vallow stars form a square. Two bages the stars are placed opposite each other. All these stars have eight sharp points. The eighth stars, however, actually incorporates two eightpointed stars. The larger star on top is yellow, the smaller one behind it is green.

If we have attentively followed the explanations of the cards, we will have guessed that this beautiful naked woman svmbolises the soul of man. After the terrible collapse of his personality he has discarded the last superficial disguises and masks. Nothing has remained of him except what he is in absolute reality, HE HIMSELF, Naked, completely unveiled, just as God has created his soul, a living spirit in his true higher Self. He no longer possesses anything, for what he possesses as an earthly human being does not belong to him, he merely uses it. Even if he does not yet possess the two currents of life he can control and direct them. He pours the positive and the negative currents from the golden and silver urns into the great river of life, from which all men may then drink. He does not need to retain any for himself; no longer does he pour the two currents from one urn into the other for himself, as on tarot card 14 in his role as 'Balance', rather, he passes on to his fellow-men all the treasures and the truth about the waters of life which he has found in the course of his long journey along the path, so that with the help of these secrets they may progress more swiftly. Where it is necessary he gives positive-masculine energies; he encourages the faint-hearted and helps them to make headway in the struggle of life and to soldier on to victory. Where it is necessary he gives negativefeminine energies; he gives tendemess and comfort, under-

132

standing and love. His urns are inexhaustible. The more courage and power, the more understanding and love he gives, the more powerfully and abundantly these pour from the source of his 'urns' - from his heart.

The flower of his soul, his consciousness, has opened. He has made everything conscious within himself, he has nothing left in his unconscious, that is to say, he no longer has an unconscious. He has acquired self-knowledge and he manifests all the treasures which God has given him and which he has found himself. The higher beings of creation descend from the higher worlds and settle in his open soul, just as the butterflies flutter all the way down from the sky to the open flower and drink nectar from its cup. The butterfly therefore denotes a close inner link with the higher worlds. Just as the angels of God descended to Jacob at the well in the desert, so man when he has reached this high state communicates in his innermost Self with the beings of the higher worlds, with the spirits of God. Though he be ever so alone among ordinary men and feel like Jacob in the desert, he is nevertheless like Jacob at the fountain of the life-source. He drinks from it and never feels alone. GOD is always with him.

At this level of consciousness man has no other thought, no other deire than to participate in the great work, in the redemption of the world. For him this is no scarifice, no denial, for it gives him great pleasure to see that even those who were previously groping their way in the darkness are following him and making progress. It gives him pleasure and satifaction to learn that his followers already recognize what is csential in fise and do not subordinate it to the insestmial. It jeases him to see that people follow his guidance and, free of anxiety, with deep faith, merge into the great whole like inty molecules, become children of God and thus, as Christ said, the salt of the earh.

A human being at the level symbolised by tarot card 17 is like a shining star in the dark sky. Just as the planets shine in the night because they reflect the light of the sun, so man passes on the light he receives from God. He radiance love and light to all who come into contact with him and he shines like a star with his wisdom and deep faith in God. In the picture we see four yellow stars in the shape of a square. The square invariably symbolies matter. Man therefore radiances his wisdom into the world of matter. He teaches his fellow-men about the profound mysteries of Creation and of human nature. He explains rationally the laws of life and destiny; he wants to speak to men through the intellect.

Above the woman's head we see a small blue star. It shows her personal light, her devout faith. She can never have low, common thoughts nor concern herself with common or obscene things. Her person has been purified, it radiates purity. The two larger stars just above the small blue one symbolise by their beautiful colour the higher mental powers, which represent purity and devotion to God. The much larger double star consists of a yellow and a green star. The yellow star is larger than the green one behind it. This star symbolises the higher Self, man's spirit which manifests itself through wisdom and high intelligence as well as through devotion to God. The spirit shines like a bright star through his person, through his soul, and spreads light around him wherever he may be. Just as the Star of Bethlehem showed the three Magi the way to the birthplace of the Redeemer, so man shines and radiates at this level and shows each living creature the way to redemption.

Tarot card 17 carries the numerical value 80 which is composed of the sum of the digits of the number 17 and the 0, symbol of boundless space. It carries the letter PE.

The number 17 is divisible only by the number 1 and by itself. It is therefore a prime number, invariably denoing isolation. It is a reference to the fact that at this level man isolates himself increasingly from the world. Objective, spiritual, he is open to everyone, he freely reveals his perceptions. But he maintains siltence about his perconal affairs, he does not even find these of interest to himself, far less wanting to burden other people with them. The numerical value 80 shows that he is already connected to the 'infinite', the horizontal eight, and is linked with the o - 8 n is divisible by 8 numbers - andthat he has an issuer relationship with a great many people.Thus he is isolated only in the person - like the number <math>17 yet he has an inner, spiritual relationship to human beings, numerical value 80. The mouths of the row ums placed together result in the symbol of infinity, the horizontal 8, thus on. This we have already seen to the magician's head on maror card i and on the head of 'Love' on zerot card 11, and on zoro card 8 as the two scales.

In hieroglyphics the letter **PE** means 'language'. It is therefore the continuation of the letter warrs on a tot care **d**, which in hieroglyphics means the 'mouth'. Then the high pricestes still had her mouth closed; she did not want to divulge the secrets of the other world and his keept sitence. Now, on this card, language flows through the human mouth; the 'language' is that of the creative energies from the mouths of the two urns and it is handed on in this way. In this instance 'language' means the spreading of the ababisits' thid', of knowledge.

### Tarot Card 18

# THE MOON

Numerical Value : 90

Letter: S TZADDI

This tarot card is dominated by the large lunar disk containing the face of a beautiful woman in profile. Her face is kind, full; it puts one in mind of a good mother. The background of the disk is blue like the sky. The rear part of the head consists of a blue, a white and a vellow stripe. As we already know from the previous explanations, the blue background and blue stripe denote devotion and faith in God, the white stripe stands for purity, and the yellow one for shrewdness, intelligence, understanding. The lunar disk is set in eighteen long vellow points. which surround the moon like rays of light. The eighteen points refer to the number of this card. Between the long vellow points there are short red ones. The vellow points are the intellectual powers emanating from the intelligent head, and the red points in the background denote the spirituality manifested through the woman's intellectual powers. From the red points of light large coloured drops fall to the ground like leaves from a tree. There are yellow, green and red drops. This means that from this face, from this lunar being, good will and humanity as well as intelligence and spirituality radiate to all living creatures on earth.

Below, on the ground, we see a landscape divided into two

parts. We feel that there is a great difference, a sharp distinction between the foreground and the background. At the entrance to the background, to the right and left, we see two massive towers. They are reminiscent of the one struck by freak lightning on tarot card 16. Here the towers do not have four, but three square crenels. This already denotes a certain spiritualisation of matter. Both towers are built of heavy bricks and each has one window. On the left tower the window is open : on the right one it is closed." At the foot of the right tower we see an open door leading to the foreground. The occupant of this tower has left - this explains the closed window - but he has not gone towards the horizon but rather to the foreground of the picture. He first had to withdraw into the blue pool. In the other tower there is no door, only an open window. These towers correspond to the two pillars of Solomon, 'Jachin' and 'Boaz', and to the two legs of Logos, one of which stands on the ocean, the other on the ground,

Between the towers a path from the right-hand side of the foreground leads into the distance. It is red and therefore a purely spiritual path!

In front of the towers are two animals. A white dog and a black wolf. We already know that the white dog symbolises something pure, the black wolf, on the other hand, something diabolic and material. The two animals look up at the moon and how full-throatedly. They are the gaurdians of the threshold.

In the foreground there is a large, round, blue pool. In it we see many mult furth of water grass and a huge red crayfuh. The pool symbolises the human memory in which rest all the things that have happened in our lives, and the crayfuh is our spirit, our higher Self, which which haves to the pool of memories to make the final setting of accounts. The path leading into the distance between the two towers passes this pool. We see how the path breaks up into fragments between the towers, becoming continuous again in the distance.

\* Due to an error on the part of the artist, this is not properly illustrated in the picture.

We have a sense of a solemn, dramatic stillness in this picture. At this moment something decisive must happen to affect the entire future life of the man who experiences this level. After all the experiences of his previous states, he arrives at the great threshold where he actually, and not merely inwardly, leaves all earthly things behind and crosses over to the purely spiritual world as at the moment of death. He crosses the threshold between resurrection and life - and death. First, like the cravfish in the depths of the pool, he withdraws to the depths of his being where all memories rest, to digest and ponder over what has happened to him in this life. He digests all that he has experienced and learned with his fellow-men, with his family and in his work, he takes stock of and clarifies everything. He digests his entire earthly life and comes to terms with it. When he has struggled through this stage of development, he will inwardly be as he was at the moment of birth and as he will be at the moment of death. He brought nothing with him. nor can he take anything away. When he entered this world he was simply here, in his consciousness he had neither parents nor friends, neither marriage partner nor children nor grandchildren, he possessed nothing, he did not know what it means to possess. For him the universe was a connected whole, that simply existed and with which he had had no dealings as yet, and which had not yet fettered him. Now he has reached this state once more. Nothing belongs to him personally, but he himself does not belong to anybody either. He is free of all that has stood in the way of his freedom, just as we shall be free in death. He leaves everything behind and follows in the footsteps of the spiritual titans who have preceded him on this path to resurrection, to eternity. First, however, he must enter upon the path which leads out of earthly, illusory reality, from the pool of 'withdrawal into the Self' and of 'reflection on all that has happened', he must pass between the towers, if the guardians of the threshold let him cross at all, and continue on his way. As he proceeds he must be very careful to trace only the steps of his great predecessors who also once crossed

138

this threshold. He must follow these titans faithfully. He must not miss his footing: a single false step and he falls back to where he started. He cannot afford to stumble at this stage, since it is already a matter of life and death.

The passage is narrow. The towers stand close together, hus forcing line to go through this narrow gay. And there are also the two animals, guardians of the threshold, who do not want to let him through. These animals, who sometimes resemble dragoust and sometimes Cerberus of Greek mythology, can be seen at church entrances both in Europe and in sha. Who are three guardians of the threshold' And why is one white and the other black? Why does the white dog at east not let him through, since his very colour shows that he symbolises something pure, spirinual and beautiful? Indeed! That is precisive the reason!

We recognise in these two animals the two strange creatures on tarot card 10, on the wheel of fortune. There the wolf was still a devil; but the dog was already a dog. They denote the instinct of preservation of the species and the instinct of selfpreservation. There they still rotated in the destiny of man, even though he was already superior and impartial like the sphinx. Now, however, he will finally leave these two behind him, just as in death we leave our desires and instincts here on earth. Now the two animals have been divested of their attributes. The wolf, previously a devil, no longer has his Neptune's trident, nor the dog his Mercury's staff. They have therefore much less power over man. The wolf, who as the instinct of preservation of the species once exercised a 'diabolic' power over him, is now no more than an animal. The same is true of the dog, who once acted as mortal fear in the human consciousness. Neither of them can any longer subject man to their power; for he is already above them, just as the moon looks down on the landscape. They can only 'bark' and 'bay' at him. That they can do to frighten him. Many fall into this trap, for the moment they reach this threshold and want to cross over into the purely spiritual life while still in the living mortal body, they are seized by the fear that they could now actually physically experience death and die. . . . They withdraw in fright and fall back into this side of life, into the material-worldly state of consciousness. That is why in the ancient initiation rites the candidate was tested for his courage in the face of mortal danger. But our 'magician', who has already passed through all the previous states of consciousness, no longer needs this test. He does not let the keepers of the threshold deter him. He knows that there is no death, only eternal life, and he wishes to enter it at all costs. The wolf still barks at the man of courage but does not bite him. He lets him pass through. Only the white dog, symbol of his animalpsychic bonds, remains to be conquered. When the 'magician' has reached the stage where he consciously wishes to cross the threshold and immerse in the ocean of the divine - at this overwhelming moment the image of a loved one, perhaps of his child, springs up from deep within himself and this thought alone is sufficient for the white dog to restrain him with this apparition. He wants to seize him by exploiting love - personal love! But no! Even if he tears himself away from all those for whom he still has a deep personal affection, he knows that he can never lose these people, but will only come closer to them in the spiritual world. Completely merged with God, in a divine UNITY, he will become one not only with those he loves, but with the whole universe which also includes the latter. And with his consciousness he bravely continues on his way in the footsteps of the GREAT ONES - into the boundless distance, to immortality, to eternity. He crosses the threshold, nothing remains to daze him, no apparition can hold him back. In his consciousness he goes through the gates of death to find on the other side the long-yearned-for deliverance.

In blessed meditation man may experience all this. In such a state of consciousness man is above everything, just as the moon looks down on the earth. Just as in this picture the crayfish withdraws into the pool, so man, in meditation, withdraws into his divine Self. And as the moon in the dark sky reflects like a mirror the light of the sun to the earth, so man now radians the light of God to the whole work), to every living creature, to every plant, to every animal and to every human bing. He no longer feels any difference between the people to whom he is tied by an earthly blood relationship and those with whom he has a purely spiritual bond. He can see that consanguinity is a purely animal, purely physical bond. If there is no underlying spiritual is then he has no more kinship with his relatives than with all the other creatures of the world. In death all blood-ties fall away with the body and there remains only the spiritual union in coo. We then feli h Him our inner union with all that lives, we feel that we stand in our xwantests or stars in relation with the entire living universetuta we can and do taste the first of the tract or ture.

An old Jewish fable has it that a man asked his neighbour: 'Whom do you low more, your brother or your friend?' And the other answered: 'I low my brother if he has become my friend.' Not the blood relationship, but the spiritual oneness is essential

At this level of consciousness man crosses the threshold between like and death, from the earthly point of view. From the spirinal point of view, however, this threshold is the border between deast and *ife*. Physical birth into matter signifies death for the spirit, but birth into the spiritual world, into the narive realm of the spirit, denotes resurrection and established the spirit. For the earthly consciousness, on the other hand, death. From the earthly side, the foreground on the baided landscape of arost card if denotes life, and the background death. From the spiritual side, however, the foreground means death and the background resurrection and the backthe everything *if whe oner way round* since trato card 12!

The person crossing this threshold vanishes as far as his spiritual being is concerned from the ken of earthly men. They still see his body, but his inner being gradually recedes until it is no longer comprehensible to them. It disappears on the path to infinity, to eternity. Now he not only sees everything in reverse, he also sees the transitient in all that is earthly, yet he appreciates only the lasting, the intransient, the eternal. And behind all carthly forms, whether plant, animal or man, he sees only the lasting, the absolute, the eternal. In each earthly form he already preserves in future already present - the transience, the constant change and the ultimate dissolution of everything that is form, its return to whether it came from the constant of the estimate the solution of the physical state of the estimate of the estimate the solution of the explosition of the estimate the solution and disingustance of the estimate of the estimate the estimate of the physical state. The estimate of the estimate of the estimate of the induced state of the estimate of the estimate of the estimate of the induced state of the estimate of the estimate of the estimate of the estimate isolation. The estimate is the estimate of the estimate of the estimate isolation. The estimate is the estimate of the estimate of the estimate isolation of the estimate of the estim

Tarot card 18 carries the numerical value 90 which consists of the sum of the digits of the number 18 and the 0, symbol of boundles space. It carries the letter TZADD. The number 18 consists of the divine number 1 and the number 8. Eight is the falling of the spiritual into matter, thus the mirrorreflection and the eternal cycle of the infinite from the spiritual into the material and back again. Moved by the sight of the Staubach waterfall in the Lauterbrunnen valley, Goethe divines:

> The soul of man Resembleth water: From heaven it cometh, To heaven it soareth, And then again To earth descendeth, Changing ever.

The free spirit is caught in this endless rotation which signifies its death. If, however, we add the number 8 to the divine number 1, we obtain 9, the number of absolute adjustment and adaptability. At this level each tarot card, therefore each number, contains the symbol of infinity, 0, and thus the two numbers result in the number 90. The number 9 was discussed

142

at the ninth arco card. It was shown that it stands for 'selfdenial' and 'self-effacement'. This number always remains itself, it does not change, no matter how it may be manipulated, it always remains 9 and its adaptability is equally unalterable. Together with the 0; the number 9 no longer stands for adaptability to *aeridhy* powers; rather, as the number 90; it becomes a self-sacrificing and malleable *aurument of God*.

The letter TXADD deignates a border, an end, a goal. TXADD is a terminal sign referring to all leads of limitation and release from division and aim. In this instance it symboliase the border between life and death – and death hand life. As a hieroglyph TXADD stands for a pool inhabited by the elemental creatures – nymphs and Tritons. Symbolically speaking it is the pool full of living creatures', the water swarming with *living experience* of the unconscious manifesting itself, i.e. of *heuroscious becoming conscients*. As a letter TXADD torresponds to the letter TXTN, number 9, of the hermit. In hieroglyphis TXADD and TTTT express the same idea, something that offers man shelter and protection, like a roof in the rain; thus bis guardina angels.

## Tarot Card 19

## THE SUN

Numerical Value: 100

Letter: 7 Koph

Here we see the two opposite poles which are also manifested through the two sees. We have already encountered them on several previous cards; once on rarot card 5 where the two sees were depiced kaneling together before the high priers; then on tarot card 15 where they were chained to Satari's pederal as two small devils – one male, the other female. On the fifth card they were both clothed, and even though they touched each other, they were wholly independent, free beings. On mort card 15, however, they were already naked, they revealed their true being and were tidd by heavy rope to an iron ring at the base of Satari's pedesal. Then they were still naked alswers of the Devil.

Now they appear again as two handsome and redeemed young people. They ware only a lonic-loth, just as on the frieenth tarot card they revealed their true nature in a naked state – at that time they were still diabelic because of their reallavement by Satan – so now they show their true nature which is pure, healthy and beautiful. The male figure wars a red loin-cloth, thus a positive-maxclune, spiritual one; that worn by the female figure is greenish-blue in colour, thus negative-femine, spychic. This means that in this instance the sexes should be regarded not as a physical-material principle, but as a purely spiritual one. Both figures have golden curk, their colour further enhanced by the rays of the sun. They have joined hands. The male figure holds out his right hand, the female figure her left one. They embrace each other behind their backs with their other arms. They stand in perfectly symmetrical positions which shows that they are equal beings.

The iron ring, to which the figures were chained as doving, has now become a lovely green wreath lying on the ground. The two figures stand side by side within this wreath. Thus again they are joined together but no longer physically, exernally, as by Stan, now they are united in the sprint, just as they had complemented each other and formed a unity before Stant apparted them. They are more and the sprint point have reither wouldly cloching nor mortal bodies. Hence this union within the wreath denotes an inner, purely spiritual unity. The man who has reached this level of consciouaness carries this purely spiritual unity of the two sexes, in which the two polse rest within each other, *within famely*.

The two figures stand in front of a well-built wall which is both a grave and an alchemit's formace. It is here that alchemistic processes take place. This grave, this furnace, is the promise that one day something golden, perfect and living will encoge from it. For the time being we meetly use that the wall is built of variously coloured bricks, that various energies are therefore at work: inside. We already know that these colours symbolise spirituality (red), faith in God (blue) and intellectual powers (yellow).

A big golden sun cass its maturing, warming and penetrating rays on this young couple. It has twelve yellow and revelve red rays. This is an allusion to the twelve-fold partition of heaven, to the twelve signs of the zodiac. The sun radiates vision and spirituility. The sun-woman has blue eyes and lovely red lips. Just as on tarot card 18 the moon dominated the whole picture, so in this case does the sun. Without saying a word this sun-woman radiates her friendly warm being to the world around her, thus giving rise to the most violent chemical changes in her vicinity. She also shines upon the grave-like furnace; we may therefore assume that a violent chemical reaction takes place here too. The man who at the level of consciousness of tarot card 18 crossed the border between death and life - and life and death - has become his own higher Self, which has always been present as his inner voice, as his 'holy spirit'. Now the THOU has become his own EGO. He himself is it! TAT THAN AST in the words of the Indian Vedanta philosophy, THOU ART THAT. At the level of consciousness of tarot card 10 man changes from a reflector of light to a source of light. He is no longer a mirror like the moon merely reflecting the light of the sun, as yet unable to radiate its own light and warmth; he has become the sun, the source of light itself! The agent of revelation has become a revealer. He himself has become the source of the manifestations. He radiates his own divine wisdom and love, his own divine spirituality to the whole world and gilds it with his own golden being. Through his golden Self an entirely new living creature, a new man matures within himself so that his body too is transformed by a chemical process - already in the final stages - and all the metals it contains are turned to gold. Indeed! He himself lies in this coffin, in this athanor, and is transformed inside it. The old person will die here in order to give life to a new person. As described in the old alchemist books the Phoenix is consumed by fire, but then a magnificent new bird rises from its ashes and soars up into the skies.

Now this no longer happens symbolically, but in mestrail realip. Now the person is no longer destroyed symbolically, the human body is transformed, bones and all. This transformation can be proved and attested chemically. Like Jesus, Buddha and other god-men, this sam carries the two poles, the two seess spiritually united within himself. The two poles omplement each other in this main's spirit. The two sexes are equally strong in his spirit and they are also manifested in his spiritual being. He is both positive and negative and therefore his body too no longer reacts one-sidelly. In his body as in his spirit he is neutral. The other set has no further influence on his body because he conscioudly carries both seexes, which complement each other, within himself, just as con carries the two poles within himself in a well-balanced state of rest. The ancient Chinese symbol of God – Yang and Yin – shows us the two poles resting within each other in perfect equilibrium.



Since the beginnings of mankind there have been initiates who have known this secret of the chemical transformation of the body and kept it from immature men. They have passed it on only to their disciples. It originates in the Orient and was brought back to Europe in the Middle Ages by the Cruaders. Those who learned it in Europe and handed it on to some of their disciples called themselves Rosierusians or alchemiats. These the initiates *knew* that with the development of his conclustores man also changer the chemical composition of his helds. The conscious man may accelerate this chemical protess by variated the statistical manarity. Invester, juto the immature. With this in middle Rosierusiane conceded their knowledge in mysterious writings and pictures in order nevertheless to rouse the interest.

The symbolic pictorial representations of the Rosierucians are identical with those of the arcs cards. For instance we frequently find Satan depicted by the Rosierucianis. But we also find other motifs from the zarot cards; the picture of death or of the alcelomitic furnase and that of the sets pioning hands in the figure of a man and a woman, often waring a corow. In particular, the last four cards of the arcs are recognisable in the representations of the Rosiencians, the alchemists and the Masons. Hence we see that on the innerenth card the gold, the divine-spiritual solar energy, is developed in the furnace, in this human grave, and that like the Phoenix man will rise out of this abance, from this own ashes as a resurrected being. We feel here this something of grave importance and solemnity happens in this grave-athanor. The ordinary man becomes a mas of magic.

The spiritual sun lets its own energy, its own gold fall onto the grave-athnost. Thus allusion is made to the severe exercises which can be performed by the spiritually mature man who has already crossed the chreshold, in order to accelerate this development and make his body ready to receive and absorb the highest divine frequencies. Just as ordinary iton can be made magnetic, so the ordinary man is made magnet through this process. The ordinary man who has no light of this own becomes a divine source of light who no longer needs help from anybody but arther gives help overy man and living creature.

The first nine cards carried unit numbers, the following nine increased by tens, and the last four increase by hundreds. Tarot card 19 therefore carries the numerical value 100 which consists of the sum of the digits of 19 and of two ciphers, symbols of boundless space. It also carries the letter KOPH.

The number 19 consists of the divine original number 1 and of the 'self-sacrificing' number 9, symbol of the creative negative, which remains itself in every situation, because it always adapts itself perfectly and is therefore the absolute feminine.

The number 9 was discussed horoughly at the ninh taroot card. Since 4 does not change the base number 1 to which it is added, both numbers together result in the divine original number 1 with the 0, therefore the number 10. to is the fulfilment and perfection of creasion. It is the return to the source 1, with perfected creation in space in the 0, because it contains the two sexes, the two poles, the number 1, the divine-positive pole, and the number 3, the divine-negative pole. Here, too,

148

man completes his development in creation. He has reached the highest limit, fulfilment and perfection. By the same token he has now also become the number to. This card carries ten squared, thus too. Each side of the symbol of matter, therefore each side of the square has become to. And ten squared is too.

In hieroglyphics the letter коэн means a hatchet, a weapon which defends and proteets man. It means light, the illumined and animated earch and corresponds to the name Kodesh which in turn means the 'saint'. The latter rules over the stars and the inanimate to which he gives life.

## Tarot Card 20

# JUDGEMENT

Numerical Value: 200

Letter: 🗅 Resh

In this picture we see an angel in heaven blowing a trumpet. Like the queen of heaven he wears a red and blue dress with yellow edging. He wears a red cap which shows his high spirituality. He has two large wings which enable him to fly through boundless space. He radiates twelve long red and vellow rays to the earth. The number 12 again alludes to the twelvefold division of heaven by the twelve signs of the zodiac. The angel blows a large golden trumpet to show that the time has come when the 'old mortal person' will become the 'new immortal man'. He blows the trumpet to waken the man in the grave to resurrection. This resurrection of the transformed, immortal human being is also indicated by the small red banner hanging from the angel's trumpet. A golden cross in the middle of the flag refers to the transformation of matter - of the material body of the resurrected man. Every metal has been turned to gold in the furnace. As we already know, this furnace is man himself and his spiritual progress effects not merely a symbolical but an actual transformation of his body. Man has risen like Christ from the grave.

On the earth below is the grave where the 'old person' lay and from where the 'new man' now rises. The grave is
open. The 'new man' is represented in the picture as a grownup 'child'. This shows that like the child he carries sex within himself in a dormant state, yet does not identify with it in his consciounness. Christ asys to us: 'Eucept ye . . . become as like children, ye shall not enter into the kingdom of heaven.' These words may be interpreted in several important ways, one of which is that, like children, we should be in a preserual state if we wish to attain the divine state of consciounness and inner paece. We should not be seafers and bhormal, just as the child is not abnormal, but perfectly healthy and normal, wen though it does not actively manifest sexuality. We can use these powers for ourselve and should not expend them for the purpose of endowing a new Wing creature with life.

In the picture we therefore see a healthy but childlike man, who, at the moment of rising from the grave-furnace as a newborn and resurrected person, stands there disconcerted and shaken. He is quite simply NERE and NOW. He experiences total presence of the spirit.

To his right and left two figures stand admiring him. A naked man and a naked woman. They symbolise the two sexes. The lower part of their bodies with the sexual organs has been buried in the ground. This means that they still expend their sexual urge as prisoners of the earth. Both are normal, healthy people, and yet they are not happy, otherwise they would not watch the man rising out of the grave with such admiration. They know only too well the problems and suffering caused by sex life, how men are enslaved by it and forfeit their freedom, and that sexual pleasure is short-lived. When the glands grow tired what remains of the erotic magic? - Only enslavement, only lost freedom. These captive people look at the new, resurrected, childlike man with admiration and longing. They are already 'seekers' yearning for redemption and they envy and admire the man who has found and experienced it. Both of them have their hands folded in prayer showing their reverence and admiration for this divine act, for this transformed

\* cf. E. Heich, Securi Energy and Yoga (Allen & Unwin, 1972).

man, re-born and resurrected in the spirit and in the body, who lives in a perpetual, undisturbed state of happiness. They already know the uncertain and inconstant quality of the happiness afforded by sexuality. And our spirit, which is eternal, *longe for eternal*, every *eternal*, *longe for eternal*, *longe*, *the longe in the lo* 

At this level of consciousness we have the strange experience which every human being must go through at the moment of death. Those who have already been 'on the other side' but were resuscitated, report that they experienced the 'Last Judgement'. The moment the spirit - the EGO - 'shuffles off this mortal coil', the many impressions accumulated in the unconscious in the course of a long or short life are released, and suddenly, simultaneously, penetrate the consciousness. We see our whole life telescoped before us, just as a piece of music is present in its entirety on a gramophone record. Yet both the record and life can only be experienced in time. In the same way as the gramophone needle passes over the surface of the record from start to finish, so we have had to pass through our life in time from beginning to end. In death, however, we experience a state in which our life is no longer perceived in time and space, but beyond time and space, and in which experiences and impressions simultaneously penetrate our consciousness. The 'resurrected man' experiences this condition while still in the physical life, in the physical state. He must settle accounts with his life like the man who has just died, as if he were to experience the whole thing once more, not in time but all at once. Just as we can survey a landscape from above, in its entirety, without having to wander through it all on foot! In this state we see everything at once in exactly the way it has happened to us. In so doing it is no longer possible, as it was in real life, to see a thing through rose-coloured spectacles, to disguise it or invent excuses for oneself or others. Nol We must let everything pass before our mind's eye exactly as it has happened, and experience it anew without embellishment, disguise or masking. We must look the facts in the eve whether we like them or not, we must re-witness and reexperience all our deeds stripped bare, exactly as they were. We must also acknowledge what led us to these actions. We will be confronted with all the motives for our words and deeds, and, as it says in the Bible, the sheep will be separated from the goats, the sheep placed on the right and the goats on the left. We must judge everything that we have thought, said and done, and suffer the judgement to be enacted on ourselves. We are not judged by a GOD outside us, but it is we ourselves who speak our own verdict. But the person at this level is relieved at having paid off his debts to all men. The effort to make progress has not been in vain. It has been worth his pains for all accounts are settled. The levels of consciousness of the previous cards have already shown him what attitude he must adopt towards himself and other people, whom, as Christ taught, he should regard and love as 'himself', if he does not wish to cause a new karma to arise. He has already crossed the great threshold and no guardian could restrain him from it. Now he only casts a last look at his life and, free, without debt, he raises himself above everything, raises himself above the earth with all its joys and sorrows. Even if he cannot yet shed his mortal body, he already sees everything from above, as if hovering above this world, just as the angel hovers over his head, above the world. He sees clearly why he is in this world, what God still wishes of him, and does everything that he himself considers proper, in order one day to bring this life to a creditable conclusion. He no longer needs to hear from the inner voice what he still has to do in life, because HE HIMSELF HAS BECOME THIS INNER VOICE! He no longer has any conscience, he can no longer have any pangs of conscience, because HE HAS BECOME HIS OWN CONSCIENCE!

At the level of tarot card 13, man was destroyed as a person and awake in the spirit. He realised that his ego is not a material, isolated being, but that with the word '1' he designates the spirit above his person. As a result of this awakening, he had to come to grips with many things, in particular with sexuality. This he did at the level of arot card 15, He had to learn to convert sexual energy into creative power. Then he learned to control and to pass on his creative powers. He had to learn how to radiate love to all living creatures, just as the san radiate light and warmth to every living creature. In addition, these new powers changed and transformed his body; he was re-born in the body too, and now, at the present level, he experiences perfect resurrection.

Thus man has freed himself from his grave, from the misconception that he must live imprisoned in the mortal body. and he has experienced resurrection while still in this earthly life. It is true that his body still dwells in the world of matter, but his consciousness stands above it : he is no longer a physical being, he no longer has a personal 'I' - an apparent ego - rather, he has become one with the SPIRIT OF THE UNIVERSE, with the absolute higher SELF OF THE UNIVERSE, which has released him from this misconception. He has experienced the 'mystical marriage', the 'unio mystica'. HIS CONSCIOUSNESS HAS BECOME ONE AND IDENTICAL WITH THE DIVINE, WITH THE TRUE SELF. He also sees everything from the 'other', from the 'reverse' side, he looks BACK from there, because he has already crossed the threshold. He feels that his feet have been hitherto chained to the ground and that for a long time he was unable to free himself. Now the fetters are loosed and cast off. For even if they existed only in his imagination, that is the very reason why they were a reality for him. Now nothing restrains him any longer. He can spread his wings - which had always been there but could not be used because he was not aware of them - and fly into spaceless freedom, into timeless eternity.

Tarot card 20 carries the numerical value 200 which consists of the number 20 and the 0, symbol of boundless space. It carries the letter RESH.

At this level man is aware that he has found the row worlds which he had sought already at the second level but had been unable to attain. He feels at home in both worlds, in both of them he experiences his own world. He sees that there is no such thing as 'the world beyond' versus 'this world'.

Both form a unity, for this world has no existence without the next world. This world is sometimes a very imperfect maniferation of the next world. Man's Self har adways hean in the world beyond and adways remains there whether it is andotted or not. Without the spirit there is no LIFE in matter. Now the understands everything that the high potenses kept from him by not raising the curtain before the shrine. There is no plurality, there is only one single, sacred ourry: con.

Thus man achieved the development so wonderfully described by Gustav Meyrink in his work, Das gräne Gezicie: "Like Janus he was able to look into the other world and at the same time into this, our world, and clearly distinguish their respective constituent objects:

> he was here and yonder a living man.'

In hieroglyphics the letter RESH means the human head and according to applied symbolism it means the 'return' to the divine world, just as on this card, at this level, man has risen again in the divine world, has therefore returned there.

## Unnumbered Tarot Card (21)

# THE FOOL

Numerical Value: 300

Letter: 🖉 Shin

On this card we see a strange man, apparently without a care in the world, wandering around in even stranger clothing. On his head we see a large turban composed of fairly broad coloured stripes. It looks as if these stripes were radiating from his head. We see here the most important colours, yellow, green, red and a narrow white stripe. We know that red denotes spirituality, green goodwill and love of humanity, vellow intellectual powers, through which spirituality is manifested, and white, purity. The jacket is made up of the same colours with the addition of blue, i.e. devotion and faith in God. The back of his head and his neck are covered with a green cloth so that neither his hair nor his ears are visible. His face is bare : the FOOL does not wear a moustache, but where the cloth ends he has a narrow brown beard framing his face. Therefore we really see nothing of his head because it is entirely covered. Nor do we really see his face. This face is much too big in relation to the size of his body. It cannot be his own face, it is a mask. Yet even the mask is scarcely visible because the FOOL holds up his face - his mask; he looks up to higher worlds, to heaven, where he is at home, and not to the ground. His face is therefore visible only to the person who lifts his own face up.

The magician's wand has become a simple walking-strick which he holds in his right hand. The stick is red, thus symbolising spiritual help on the path. In his left hand he holds a narrow green club, similar to a stick. Although he carries it in his left hand, he lays it across his right shoulder. He has brought everything over from the negative to the positive side. He has nothing else on his left side, he even holds his left hand to the right. He carries a small bag hanging from the gene, club-like tick. In this he carries all his possessions. The colour of the bag indicates that its contents too are only spiritual.

The fool wears yellow hose and brown shoes. But the hose have been corn down by a strange annial so that his posterior is naked. The animal still hitse his leg but the fool pays no stareniso whavever, as if he did not feel anything at all. He continues on his way unconcerned and calm, looks up to the sky, carries his little bag and does not pay hered to animals which hits him from behind. He is equally unconcerned about the animals which his in wait for him. Behind a beam a crocodile waits for him. But he is apparently afraid of the fool and does not drate stack him.

Between his legs we again see the red flower. It is open, but inclines its head so that no one can see into the heart of its cup. The fool no longer shows his treasures to anyone.

Who is this fool?

This spot, is man who has passed through the most advanced stages of human development on earch and has reached the highest level. His consciousness has united with the divine. Yet its odoing he has removed himself so far in spirit from his fellow-men that nobody understands him any longer. Already as the HANGED MAX he saw everything the other way round; but even if he saw everything in this way, he did so from a *human point of vise*. Now that he has crossed the threshold between the two worlds and fnaildy died in the gravefurnace as a mortal human being to rise to a new life as a newerly being, he can no longer sea worlding from the human standpoint. Not even earthly life. He has brought everything over to the right, spiritual side; he sees everything from a divine eternal point of view. He no longer sees any difference between the finite and the infinite, between the mortal and the immortal. He sees clearly - even if it is applied to himself that only the forms change, but that nothing has a beginning and an end. There is nothing that could die. No! Even if we wanted to or had to, we cannot die. There is no death! There is only eternal life, eternal transformation and rotation, LIFE, LIFE everywhere we look! A dying plant, a dying animal or a dving man have only reached a bourn where they will change their earthly garment and don a new one. What lives - the Self - cannot die because it has never been born. And what has been born, matter, the body, cannot die either, because the earthly garment, the body, has never had independent life, it has never lived. The body of a plant, an animal or a man lives merely because the spirit - the Self - is embodied in it and manifests its own life through the body. Matter, the body, as such, does not live, and when the Self leaves the body. there remains only a decaying, dead form. Many people have a panic fear of death, but the fool is no more afraid of it than a person who undresses at night to go to bed is afraid of sleep. Is he dead because he is not wearing clothes any longer? Or are the clothes now dead and less alive than during the time when he was inside them? Even when they were worn they were not alive. They merely complied with and imitated the movements which their wearer made in them. Now that he has taken them off, they have grown neither more nor less alive than they have always been. The FOOL regards life only from the standpoint of the divine. How could people understand him who pursue merely the gratification of the body, who consider it more important than anything else and regard it as the single goal in life? For the fool none of this is important at all. In the activities of his fellow-men he participates only as far as is absolutely necessary, for he does not wish to stir up trouble and he knows that it is all completely unimpor-

tant anyway. He sees men clearly, he also understands them for he knows that, at the level of development where ordinary people stand, they cannot help king like that. But people do not understand his point of view. And the fool does not enter into discussion. He does not want to be right for he knows that anyone at his level of development it right! It is only a matter of time when those people who do not understand him at present and regard him as a fool will themselves reach this level, be as litte understood and the regarded as fools.

Those who cannot yet understand him are displeased that he does not offer any explanations about himself or discuss with them. They want to see his 'face' and get to know his character. And what happens? These people cannot see his true being, there is no way of allowing them insight into his true being. They could never follow him into his world, because they would not yet be able to sustain these vibrations. These people have no idea that 'his world' even exists and that it is the absolute reality. They do not know that theirs is only a world of visions, a dream. Thus primitive worldly people cannot see him in his spiritual reality, they only see that part which is visible in the material world; they only see how he lives in the realm of matter and what he does there visibly and tangibly. Thus they see him only from his purely material side. Since time immemorial the material side of man has been symbolised by the organ which serves to eject the waste matter, the impurities, from the body, thus by the anus. Thus the inquisitive bite of the 'animal' primitive men who want to 'bite into' the living flesh of the fool, merely renders his posterior, his purely material side, naked and visible. The curious see only this side of him. They can watch when he rises or goes to bed, what he eats and drinks or how he behaves outwardly at his place of work.

All this can be observed by the maliciously curious. But this breed of mortals has no inkling of his spiritual being. And just as animals tear apart other animals if they are not like themselves, so these primitive people want to tear apart the FOOL. Yet they will never be able to see HIM. Just as they could not see Christ, only kill his body.

Thus, where has reached the goal must continue whether his primitive follow-men blief him or not. He knows that he always remains the same and no matter what others may think or say of him, he canses and su'll not change. He is how and what he if And he has long forgotten variy! Varity, enzy, has and other human qualities belong to the human standpoints. For a long time, however, he has seen everything only from a divine point of view. He continues unconcerned and unimpeded on his way. And if he hears people calling lima one hand he taken is a nature of course, on the other hand he cannot harbour any resonment and lives at peace with his follow-men. He knows that they ould near ripon.

This card does not have a number, but it carries the letter SHIN to which the number 21 belongs in cabbalism. The numerical value 300 must have arisen from the number 21 with two ciphers. The number 3 with two ciphers, thus 300, is obtained by multiplying the divine number 3 with the square of 10. which is the fulfilment of creation in the universe. This card cannot be considered in isolation and therefore does not carry a number. It is only the external image of man whose inner side is symbolised by the next tarot card, 22. This last card, the WORLD, shows the inner nature of the FOOL, his inner state of consciousness. He does not value wealth and secular power which primitive men prize above all else, but spiritual riches, the very existence of which is not even known to primitive men. He is therefore a FOOLI Yet this FOOL bears within himself what is shown by the last card, divine ALL-CONSCIOUSNESS!

Even though this card is unnumbered, we feel that it is the twenty-first tarot card and that it is connected with the number 21 because it carries the numerical value 300 and the letter SHIN. This letter is a corner-stone of the alphabet. According to the Cabbala. God set the letter SHIN as king over the element fire. It is therefore fire, the fire of the spirit, of the creative principle, of Logos. Moses beheld God in a burning bush, thus in fire. Suddenly he saw that life - GOD - is manifested in the material world as fire. But the spirit of fire which the earthly, visible fire merely manifests, yet is not itself this visible fire, is LIFE ITSELF, is GOD HIMSELF! - And Christ says in the Bible: 'I baptise you with fire . . .' HE. Christ, is the fire and the LIFE. He himself says : 'I am the LIFE.' If the name of the omnipotent, impersonal God consists of all the vowels and the letter H. through which God breathes life, the Self, into man, then we obtain the following name for GOD : TEHOUA (Yod He Vau He). If we now insert the letter SHIN, which means the fire of life. in the middle of the name of the impersonal God, we obtain the word TEHOSHUA. This is the name of the personal God, of God incarnate. For in the original Hebrew language the name Jesus is Jehoshua. Only in the West is he known as Jesus.

We understand the importance of the letter SHIN because it is the fire with which Christ, the higher Self, baptises us, initiates us into LIFE. This card represents the Christ-man!

The care depicted on this card is faul for the immanue man. The manne may with suivaiversal, all-embraing selfavareness, become idencial with God at this level and lives secolar to the inner drivine laws while sull recognising the secular taxes. The immature man, however, lacking all-consciouness, doe not yet recognise the drivine laws or even the secular cones. He losses his inner balance, plunges into the abys, into the void, and in the language of ordinary people, he becomes menally ill. To the immature man this card means hill, to the mature person, the God-man, it means haven.

 $\hat{T}arcot card 1.2$ , the RANGED MAN, is linked with the number 30 (the sum of the digits of 1.2 is 3, plus the 0, symbol of space). It was for thirty pieces of silver that Judas betrayed Christ. This card, the FOOL, carries the same number, but takes on cosmic significance with the second 0, thus with 300.

#### 162 THE WISDOM OF THE TAROT

The HANGED MAN is still a man, the FOOL is the GOD-MAN who has attained universal consciousness. We see the link between the number 300 and the letter SHIN. Both denote GOD-MEN.

The FOOL is a man who HAS BECOME ONE in his consciousness with LOGOS, with CHRIST, with LIFE!

### Tarot Card 22\*

## THE WORLD

Numerical Value : 400

Letter: D TAV

Looking at this card we sense that something universal, something cosmic, is represented here. In the centre there is a beautiful woman in whom we recognise the queen of heaven after her various transformations into 'Justice', 'Love', 'Balance' and the lovely naked woman on the picture of the 'Stars'. She is again naked in this picture ; she does not need to yell her body from mortal eves, because she is now in her native country. in the universe where she is at home. She wears a parrow red cloth with which she symbolises her high spirituality. She has golden, curly hair symbolising her intellectual powers and in her left hand she holds two magic wands. One of them has a red sphere at the top, the other a green one. We already know that these two spheres denote the positive and the negative charge of the two wands. Like the king of heaven on tarot card 4 and the hanged man on tarot card 12, the queen of heaven has her legs crossed, the cross being the symbol of the material world. As already stated, she is the maternal aspect of God which rules over the material side of the universe : she is the great MOTHER, she is NATURE. The magic wands are her laws, which prevail and operate inflexibly throughout the entire universe.

\* Due to an error on the part of the artist this card carries the number at.

164

She stands within a large green wreath. It is the same wreath that lies on the ground on taxot card 19 encircling the two young people. In the present instance the wreath denotes cosmic, infinite space, it is the great citrate. This wreath is represented on some taxot cards designed and illustrated by other artists as the serpent biting its own tail, which symbolises infinity and roution.

Ourside the wreath we see four signs of the zodiac: the lion, bull, cherub and eagle. We also know these four corner-points of heaven from the Bible, the three animals and the angel in the vision of Ezekiel. The same four creatures were depicted on the Ark of the Covenant.

The four evangelists, too, are linked with these signs of the zodiac: the lion with Mark, the bull with Luke, the cherub with Matthew and the eagle with John, the redeemed scorpion, Judas.

This picture symbolises the universe, the immesurable comos. The man who has statismed this level has become one with cool in his consciousness. He may say what Christ says in the Bible: 'I and my Father are one. 'He is a God-man. His position towards cool is no longer a dualistic cone he is now in a monistic state with Him. He can no longer pray to an *external* God, for he railses that God is to be found only on the *inward* path, on the path to the ego, in the depths of his personal, little 'ego' and his growing awareness in this 'apparent-ego'.

Then he begins the gradual process of acquiring self-knowlodge and discoven that everything he has hithere to regarded as his own Self was only a conglomeration of various driver, instincts and detries *plur* areaso. He discovers that his little, personal 'ego' is merely an 'apparen-ego' and that his true being is involved with i only insamuch as it gue the little 'apparen-ego' individual life. When man reaches the stage where he has realised and become conscisuos of this, he has

. cl. E. Haich, Initiation, op. cit.

already partly renounced identification with the little physicalmaterial 'apparent-ego'. He has grown in his consciousness and come closer to his true being, his true EGO.

He continues his inner struggle and climbs ever higher in his consciousness on the great Jacob's ladder. Fate helps him by giving him experiences and trials which bring him increasingly closer to himself, no matter how much these trials may cause him suffering and pain. He must learn to see his personal 'ego' more and more from above, like an indifferent onlooker. He passes through all the levels symbolised here by the tarot cards until he becomes his own higher SELF, his true BEING. It is not enough merely to understand these inner truths rationally. At that stage he is still far from realisation. He must reach the level where he is nothing else but a naked, divine being completely free of physical-material qualities. In every respect and position he can only be himself, must be himself, because he cannot be different! He has been healed of the disorders of the soul which are called covetousness, envy, vanity and thirst for power. They were never the qualities of his true Self. Now he must and can only manifest divine qualities, because he has become divine. If he were to behave as an ordinary, personal man in order not to infuriate other people, he would afterwards despise himself to such an extent that he would prefer to withdraw completely from society so that he would not always be misunderstood and continually obliged to explain his reasons for saving this or doing that. Yet that is not the only reason why such a person withdraws. On the long path to the SELF, his sense-organs have reached such a degree of sensitivity that he sees right through other people. And even though he understands them and bears no resentment, he suffers greatly by having to watch his fellow-men destroy themselves with a wrong way of life.

He also knows that if he tells them the truth a hundred times, they will heed him as little as they heeded Christ, preferring to hasten to their own destruction. He prefers not to have to watch this and he goes away. But his super-sensitive organs of perception also cause him great distress, because the eating and drinking, smells and sounds of other people are a heavy strain on his delicate nerves. These people withdraw completely from the worldly life, from their fellow-men, unless God has imposed on them the test of having to live with other men in order to fulfil their task. Since this is very hard to achieve in Europe, they go to another part of the world and live there like the others who can no longer endure it in the world. We could give many instances, but that is unnecessary. Apart from those known to every seeker from books or hearsay. such as Rama Krishna, Shivapuribaba or Ramana Maharshi, there are others known only to few. The present author knows several instances of Western men and women (for example a so-called society lady) who travelled to India, had their hair cut and continued their lives as insignificant and modest pilgrims. Once you have met such people and talked to them, and thus experienced their harmony and peace with which civilised man is totally unacquainted, it is obvious why they have withdrawn from the 'world'.

No one is entitled to criticise such people. The standards by which they live are different from those of worldly men. They already have inherent in them the state of the 'hanged man' and of the 'fool'. They have no further need for all the things the worldly man still believes to be indispensable. They do not need to travel here or there because they already know that the world is equally beautiful anywhere if we behold the revealer gop - behind every form, in every manifestation. Such a person does not need to go to museums and art galleries to see wonderful representations of the beauties of the world. Not that he would not appreciate the talents and revelations of the artists, no, he even values them much more than ordinary men. But he knows that every piece of music, every painting, every statue is merely a partial manifestation a part of the whole. The smallest piece of work, still more the different arts, are the way to the goal, to the whole, to the development to perfection. to one's SELF, to GOD! Yet these people do not need that any more; they have arrived at the goal; they have become perfection, the whole, GOD, Why should they therefore manifest only a part, if they have become the whole? Moses, Jesus, Buddha and the other titanic spirits who reached the goal did not compose music, paint pictures, carve figures or, like David, dance before the altar in order to manifest God. These people know that all art is a divine manifestation when it emerges from the human heart, according to the stage man has reached. But these titans no longer require partial manifestations, they have reached the goal, they have become the source of all art, as well as the source of all love. And for that very reason they themselves do not feel love any more. Love is the urge for unity. If, however, a man has become ONE with the universe, if he has attained UNITY. how should he then still feel the urge for unity? They have come home, they dwell in GOD. Their consciousness has become one with BEING.

Tarot card 22 carries the numerical value 400 which has arisen from the sum of the digits of the number 22, thus 4, multiplied by the square of 10, thus 100. It also carries the letter TAV.

The number 4 carries hidden in itself the divine perfection of creation, the number 10. For if we add the numbers to 4, we obtain the number 10 (1+1+3+4=10). Then numerical value 400, the number 4 with the two ciphers, symbolies in number mysticism the whole metrial Creation, the entire universe with the Creator, with GOD. The number 10 is correctly represented as follows:



The woman, the maternal aspect of God, thus God as' mother', Isis or Kali, is the number 1 on this picture and the wreath is the infinite circle, the universe. Behind the woman who is the visible aspect of God, Nature, we also feel the masculinefeminine aspect of God, the invisible, namelegs and unrevealed deity. The Cabbalists call this aspect of God EN-SOPH and the Hindus, PARABRAHMA.

Tw has the same hieroglyphic meaning as 0.413711 - cstd4 - and means the 'womb'. We understand why this letter means the man who has attained the goal. He has reached the very depths, the wome of Ceaution. He has reached the heart of God. This letter is at the same time the symbol of man himself, because man is the purpose and perfection of the entire visible Creation.

#### Conclusion

We have tried to describe the Greater Arcana of the tarot pack, the twenty-two levels of consciousness, as handed down to us in symbolic representations by the initiates of ancient times. We are convinced that through this book many of our readers will recognise in the cards their own states of consciousness, either the state in which they find themselves at present or one they have experienced in the past. It is a common occurrence that someone with whom we have once discussed these cards comes again years later and tells us with great amazement that, long after he had forgotten all about them, he suddenly experienced an inner state in which he recognised a certain card and only then fully understood its meaning. There have even been people who, never having heard of these cards, yet told me about a spiritual state unmistakably represented by a tarot card. For instance, they experienced the 'Hanged Man', the 'Lightning-Struck Tower' or 'Death'. Some people also felt that they were standing at a cross-road or that they were lying in a grave and rose from it again. Indeed: the 'initiates' did not represent these pictures accidentally and from their imagination, rather, they knew very well that a certain spiritual state is revealed in every man in a quite definite and identical inner image. These pictures sometimes have such a powerful effect that they are projected outwardly, that is to say, they are seen and heard like an outward experience. The tarot cards are also identical with certain dream-images which manifest themselves to many people in one and the same way. There have been attempts to interpret these identical dream-images recurring with different people. In interpreting dream-images, however, we encounter certain fundamental difficulties. The dreams do not usually show nictures of individual tarot cards, but mixtures of them. Therefore one cannot establish a general schematic interpretation for the many variations of these mixed dream-images. When interpreting dreams it is necessary to question the dreamer and to analyse him in order to gain insight into his whole situation. Only then is it possible ounderstand why this person's surconscious manifested this particular dream, why precisely this mixture of images was dream. The tarot cards are the basic elements of the dream-images and not mixtures of them. And to explain and interpret basic elements individually is easily possible.

The purpose of these cards is therefore not merely to improve and help ourselves, but rather to arouse the attention and interest of the serious expert, of the unprejudiced psychologist, and to open his eyes to this magnificent heritage from ancient times. Moses, one of the greatest prophets of all time, received the pictures from the great Egyptian initiates and handed them on as religious treasure to his people, the lews. If Moses esteemed these cards so highly as to regard them as religious treasure, then the serious psychologist should certainly also be able to discover their profound inner value. Until very recently the method of treatment of the great Chinese doctors, acupuncture, was regarded with contempt in the West. Today, many Western doctors who had the courage to experiment with something unknown are applying this method with great success. Thus psychologists and psychiatrists might also become interested in the tarot cards and find in them a wonderful means for analysing healthy and sick people and if necessary for re-establishing their psychic equipoise. Mental disorders may be diagnosed by the Szondi. Wartegg, Koch and Rorschach tests. In the same way a great deal of time and analytical work can be saved with the help of the tarot cards, since they very quickly provide one with the image of a human soul.

The levels of consciousness depicted by the tarot cards are experienced sooner or later by all men and the experiences invariably correspond to the pictures on the cards. The levels, however, are seldom experienced in the sequence in which the

cards occur. Usually they are experienced in random order, that is to say, in the order of the person's development. Life has many aspects and each man's fate is different; we do not develop identically according to a definite pattern. One man reaches maturity in some respect sooner than another. For that reason, too, the sequence of the experiences differs so greatly. One cannot lay down general rules nor expect the levels of development to be experienced in the sequence of the tarot cards. Some remain for a longer period at the same level, afterwards passing through several levels in succession, Another man begins development very quickly and experiences the states of several cards one after the other, then suddenly remains for a long time in the same state. Each of us brings a great number of experiences from our previous life. One person has passed through many levels, another has experienced less in his past life and will have to catch up on what he has missed in this life. This is what explains the great differences which occur between one individual and another. It is, however, evident that the first card, the first dawning of consciousness, must necessarily be the beginning of the series of the states of consciousness. Without this initial coming to consciousness man is merely an animal plus reason and cannot experience further states of consciousness. It is therefore clear that at the very outset he must become aware of his Self and observe that he is here and now. He must therefore experience the absolute presence and absolute present. Only after this can he have further states of consciousness. States of consciousness can be experienced then only by a person who has already become conscious.

Other urot cards again are so closely connected that they have to follow each other directly. Thus it happens that some sates are experienced in the order in which the cards occur. For instance, after a person has been transformed in the coffin i must follow as a matter of course that he rise out of the grave and is resurrected. Thus as an inner state, sarot card ao must inevitable [100] wat card card (). Or there is the case of a person who has experienced true selfless 'love', thus the greatest and most irresistible power in the world, because God is love. Thereupon he must necessarily become the 'hanged man' because other people still see everything from a selfish standpoint, the point of view of those who have fallen from Paradise, thus the other way round from the person who sees the world in the light of selfless love. Yet before and after these states others can suddenly and unexpectedly arise which should have occurred only much later or much earlier. And if man is not mature enough for them, he may react abnormally. Then he experiences these 'cards' as an 'abnormal' state. For instance, it can happen that the level of the 'Lightning-Struck Tower' is experienced. Something happens to him which affects him at his most sensitive point - destiny strikes at this point precisely because it is the most sensitive one and this event ruins him morally or financially in society, disrupting his whole life. If he has not already experienced the level of the 'Wheel of Fortune' at which he learned to see everything, including his own fate, from a higher objective point of view, then it may occur that he reacts guite wrongly to this stroke of fate. He then loses his self-confidence and no longer believes in himself or even in other people. If, in addition to this, he has not yet reached the level of tarot card 11, then he also does not yet know universal love as the highest power. He still lacks the strength to understand and pardon those who may pursue him and wish to hurt him. He will probably hate them and want to take revenge, and may start a long feud. In so doing he only manages to make himself ridiculous and hurts himself still further

It is an old Egyptian truth that the immature man must nonraise the well of the mysterious list – the figure on tarot card a – otherwise he would lose his sanity. That which helps a mature man to even greater maturity and 'knowledge' only makes immature men confused and ill. If we observe and concern ourselves with people, we shall see that this is true. We card all different from one: another precisely because, in symbolical terms, we are different mixtures of the tarot cards. Yet it also happens that an emotionally disturbed or neurotic person suddenly is restored to health by experiences which move him deeply. Indeed, he has suddenly experienced the missing states of consciousness - the missing cards. The gaps in him have been closed and thus he is able to adopt the correct point of view. It is in exactly this field that an experienced psychiatrist could make use of the tarot cards to effect cures. Only a few experiments would be necessary in order to recognise the profound content and inner significance of these cards. In the course of these he will see clearly which level a person has attained and which level he may have experienced too early or too late. The psychiatrist will also see to which further state he must help someone if he wishes to preserve or restore his spiritual well-being. Of course, a skilled psychiatrist perceives not merely the inner state and the whole character of those who seek help from him, but to a certain extent also their future destiny. For every mental state provokes destiny into reacting with a stroke of fate designed to help man proceed to the next level of development. The psychiatrist will therefore also be able to give some good advice concerning future destiny.

Everyone may of course use these cards, examine them, recognise his own inner states and thus himself, and if necessary set his soul in order. All this can be done withour any hamful consequences and even very profubly. Code manifests himself through everything, through crystals, plants, animals and through man, according to the level of consciourness he has reached. God manifests himself not meetly through living lings, but through simply everything. Through helous sounds, through ideas and thoughts, through letters and number, through physical and mathematical laws, through heavenly bodies and through the atom. Anyone who sees the divine essence, divine manifestation and divine laws in all things, is also able to examine and engage in the 'sceret'

and come to know the divine thread running through the whole universe. In himself, too, he will behold a revelation of God and will see himself as a divine agent of manifestation. In EVENTINICS, in sciences both known and as yet unknown, he will always find only coo.

It is the purpose of this book to arouse interest in our own inner development and in our own level of conscionness on the great Jacob's ladder. With the help of these wonderful cards, which have perfound inner meaning, every man can look into his soul and learn more about himself, threeby coming closer to himself - to God. We detrefore place in each person's hand a wonderful aid to the acquisition of selfknowledge!

For knowledge of the Self means KNOWLEDGE OF GOD!